MAKING MEANINGFUL CONNECTIONS WITH AUTOMATICALLY

GENERATED, DYNAMIC, AND INTERACTIVE CONCEPT MAPS

A Dissertation

by

MICHAEL SZE-HON RUGH

Submitted to the Graduate and Professional School of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Robert M. Capraro
Committee Members,	Mary Margaret Capraro
	Luciana R. Barroso
	Oi-Man Kwok
Head of Department,	Joanne K. Olson

December 2021

Major Subject: Curriculum and Instruction

Copyright 2021 Michael S. Rugh

ABSTRACT

In this four-article dissertation, I propose and examine the use of an educational technology, Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) maps, to improve learning of physics. Receiving feedback from courses, conference and journal proposals, peers, and faculty helped me decide on methodological approaches for the articles in this dissertation. The coalescence of my professional and academic experiences guided my literature reviews and framed my interpretation of the various methodological analyses displayed in this dissertation. Each of the four articles have been published or submitted for publication in a journal prior to the defense of this dissertation.

Chapter one of this dissertation serves as an introduction, chapters two through five consist of the four journal articles, and in chapter six I reflect on the intellectual merit and broader impacts of this body of research. My intent with the first research article is to present a practitioner example of using DIME maps to teach physics. I also presented how DIME maps can fit together with the engineering design process and project-based learning to promote guided exploration of physics concepts. The second article focused on a randomized experimental study I conducted in 2018. In the second article, I used a multivariate analysis of variance and found that using DIME maps had a multivariate effect on the dependent variables: conceptual understanding and selfefficacy in physics. In the third article, which reported on a study conducted in 2019, I examined the correlations and determined that students who made greater use of the DIME maps generally had higher growth in self-efficacy in physics. In the fourth study, I meta-analytically examined the data from 2018–2020 and concluded that using DIME maps has a positive effect on students' cognitive growth but not on affective growth, in terms of self-efficacy in physics. Further investigation is needed to examine whether differential effects would be experienced by specific populations or under differing conditions of implementation.

DEDICATION

To my eighth-grade science teacher, Mr. (John) Baron, for teaching me to believe in myself and to cherish science and mathematics.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful for my committee chair, Dr. Robert M. Capraro, and my committee members, Dr. Mary Margaret Capraro, Dr. Luciana R. Barroso, and Dr. Oi-Man Kwok, for their guidance and support throughout the process of putting together this dissertation. I appreciate the way they pushed me forward but also were compassionate and understanding when work and life became complicated by so many unexpected difficulties. I look to them as models of how I will soon support, advise, encourage, and mentor students. I hope to take all their best attributes with me and develop plenty of my own as I enter the next stage of my career.

My friend and colleague, DJ Beyette, has been indescribably supportive and helpful over the past four years. Without him, I literally could not have developed and continued this line of research. I am also grateful for the rest of the computer science and engineering team for their various contributions to this project. I hope we always find time to meet up for tacos as life becomes busy and our focus and energy are required elsewhere.

I want to thank Texas A&M University for being a phenomenal place to live and study; the College of Education and Human Development for broadening my network and involvement as I pursued my degree; and the people in the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture for getting to know me personally and take an interest in my life. I run into administrators, advisors, faculty, and students who I have had limited

v

interactions with, and they are consistently friendly, caring, and display genuine interest in my well-being.

Aggie STEM, the office, which gave me a place to work, play, and live throughout my PhD life. And Aggie STEM, the people. In particular, I would like to mention Aamir, Ali, André, Ashley, Caitlin, Cassidy, Chad, Choco, Danielle, Jessica, Jillian, Jonas, Jose, Julia, Katherine, Macie, Miriam, Mykala, McKennah, Noeline, Rachel, and Dr. Young for being my valued coworkers, competitors, mentors, mentees, and cherished friends since before I took my first class for this PhD. I extend a specific thank you to Jonas Chang and Mykala Madson, editors of Aggie STEM, who exhausted much of their time and effort in helping me improve my writing.

My friends. I have been fortunate to have made many friends through school, church, work, and life who have cared about me and been there for me at various times when I have needed it. You bring diversity, clarity, and purpose to my life. Thank you for being my friend.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, as they are the ones who have been with me the longest and will forever be my family, I would like to thank my parents for loving and supporting me and letting me love and support them in return as time has marched on. My brother for understanding me in ways only a brother can and being there for me whenever I need him. My wife who stood by me through the hardest parts of this degree, and who, I know, will stand by me through the hardest parts of life.

vi

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

This work was supervised by a dissertation committee consisting of Dr. Robert M. Capraro [chair] and Dr. Mary Margaret Capraro of the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture, Dr. Luciana R. Barroso of the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, and Dr. Oi-Man Kwok of the Department of Educational Psychology.

The data for Chapters 2, 3, 4, and 5 were provided by Dr. Luciana Barroso of the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering; Dr. Mary Margaret Capraro and Dr. Robert M. Capraro of the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture; and Aggie STEM at Texas A&M University. Chapter 2 was published in 2021.

Donald J. Beyette, graduate student in the department of computer science and engineering, developed the educational technology, DIME maps, discussed in this dissertation. He also helped to write and edit Chapters 2 and 4.

All other work conducted for this dissertation was completed by the student, in collaboration with Dr. Robert M. Capraro and Dr. Mary Margaret Capraro of the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture.

Funding Sources

Graduate study related to this dissertation was financially supported by the Graduate Merit Fellowship from Texas A&M University, by graduate assistantships from the Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture in the College of Education and Human Development at Texas A&M University, and by Aggie STEM at Texas A&M University.

NOMENCLATURE

AI	Artificial intelligence
Aggie (noun)	A person who attends or once attended TAMU
Aggie (adjective)	Describing something as related to TAMU
APA	American Psychological Association
CATLM	The cognitive-affective theory of learning with media
CEHD	The College of Education and Human Development
DIME	Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions maps
MANOVA	Multivariate analysis of variance
NLP	Natural language processing
PBL	Project-based learning
PDF	Portable document format
STEM	Science, technology, engineering, and mathematics
TAMU	Texas A&M University
TLAC	The Department of Teaching, Learning and Culture
We	Hereafter refers to the authors of the individual journal articles

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACT	II
DEDICATION	IV
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	VII
NOMENCLATURE	IX
TABLE OF CONTENTS	X
LIST OF FIGURES	XIV
LIST OF TABLES	XVI
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Purpose of the Dissertation	3
1.2. Research Questions	4
1.3. Literature Review	4
1.4. Methodologies	7
1.5. Results	7
1.6. Journal Selection	9
1.7. References	11
2 USING DIME MAPS AND STEM PROJECT-BASED I FARNING	
TO TEACH PHYSICS	17
2.1. Historical Background	
2.2. Underlying Theories of Learning.	
2.3. Introducing Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical	
Expressions (DIME) Maps	
2.4. Model for the Engineering Design Process	
2.5. The STEM PBL and Engineering Design Activity	
2.6. Methods	
2.7. Setting/Context	
2.8. Observations of the Daily Use of DIME Maps and STEM PBL	

2.8.1. Day One	
2.8.2. Day Two	
2.8.3. Day Three	
2.8.4. Day Four	
2.8.5. Day Five	
2.9. Evaluation	
2.10. Conclusion	50
2.11. Limitations and Practical Implications	
2.12. References	53
3. A FIRST LOOK AT EFFECTIVENESS: DIME MAPS—	
THE EVOLUTION OF CONCEPT MAPS	
3.1. Background and Framework	60
3.1.1. Theoretical Framework	60
3.1.2. DIME Maps	61
3.1.3. Research questions	67
3.2. Materials and methods	
3.2.1. Participants and setting	69
3.2.2. Data sources	70
3.2.3. Data analysis	71
3.3. Results	73
3.3.1. Quantitative results	73
3.3.2. Qualitative results	76
3.4. Discussion	
3.5. References	
4. IMPROVING SELF-EFFICACY WITH COMPUTER-GENERATED	
CONCEPT MAPS: ANALYSIS OF USER INTERACTIONS	
4.1. Theoretical Framework	
4.1.1. Self-Efficacy	
4.1.2. Assimilation Theory	101
4.1.3. Concept Maps	101
4.1.4. The Interactive Learning Materials	103
4.2. DIME Maps	105
4.2.1. Creation of DIME Maps	106
4.2.2. DIME Map User Interactions	112
4.2.3. Foundational Reflections on Students' Perceptions of DIME Maps	115
4.3. Method	119
4.3.1. Study Setting	120
4.3.2. Participants	121
4.3.3. Intervention	122
4.3.4. Instrument	123

4.4. Results	124
4.4.1. User Interaction Data	124
4.4.2. Self-efficacy Mean Growth and Pairwise Correlations	126
4.5. Summary	128
4.5.1. Limitations	128
4.5.2. Future Works	130
4.5.3. Student Accessibility to Computers	131
4.5.4. Conclusion	132
4.6. References	133
5. BREAKING BARRIERS FOR STEM LEARNING: A META-ANALYSIS	
OF THREE YEARS OF FINDINGS ON DIME MAPS	146
5.1. Introduction	146
5.2. Literature Review	150
5.2.1. Concept Mapping and Cognitive and Affective Outcomes	150
5.2.2. Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) maps	152
5.2.3. User Interactions in DIME Maps and Interactivity Types	157
5.2.4. Improving Cognitive and Affective Outcomes Using DIME Maps	161
5.3. Method	162
5.3.1. Outcomes of Interest	163
5.3.2. Measurement Devices	164
5.3.3. Participants	165
5.3.4. Missing Data	167
5.3.5. Effect Size	168
5.3.6. Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman Random Effects Model	168
5.3.7. Study Characteristics	169
5.4. Results	170
5.4.1. Cognitive Outcomes	170
5.4.2. Affective Outcomes	171
5.5. Discussion	173
5.6. References	175
6. CONCLUSIONS	186
6.1. Intellectual Merit	186
6.2. Broader Impacts	190
6.3. References	192
APPENDIX A 2018 AFFECTIVE SURVEY	196
APPENDIX B 2018 COGNITIVE SURVEY	197
APPENDIX C 2018 INTERVIEW PROTOCOL	198

 APPENDIX D 2019 AFFECTIVE SURVEY
 APPENDIX E 2019 COGNITIVE SURVEY
 APPENDIX F 2020 AFFECTIVE SURVEY
 APPENDIX G 2020 COGNITIVE SURVEY

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Example of a DIME Map
Figure 2.2 The Seven-Step Engineering Design Model Chosen for this Study26
Figure 2.3 Students Using the DIME Map During a Research Phase
Figure 2.4 Students Researching, Ideating, and Analyzing Ideas
Figure 2.5 A Student in the Build Phase
Figure 2.6 A Student-Created Concept Map Using the DIME Map System 40
Figure 2.7 Multiple Creative Designs as a Result of STEM PBL
Figure 2.8 Final Write-Up Sheet for Students to Communicate and Reflect on Design Process
Figure 3.1 An Example DIME Map63
Figure 3.2 A DIME Map (Right) and PDF Textbook (Left)
Figure 3.3 A DIME Map and PDF Textbook Focused on One Concept
Figure 4.1 Theoretical Framework for DIME Maps
Figure 4.2 Image of a DIME Map Without the Textbook
Figure 4.3 Creation of a DIME Map
Figure 4.4 Mathematical Concept Map Based on Three Concepts 109
Figure 4.5 Example Image of a DIME Map Output (bottom) with the PDF Textbook (top)
Figure 4.6 Features Panel, Accessible Directly Above the DIME Map 112
Figure 4.7 Image of a DIME Map After a Student Typed "Torque" in the Search Bar
Figure 4.8 Customized DIME Map after a Student Deleted, Hid, and Rearranged Nodes

Figure 4.9 Study Day-by-Day Overview
Figure 4.10 Total User Interactions per Student125
Figure 5.1 Section of a DIME Map Produced from a Physics PDF textbook154
Figure 5.2 Section of PDF Textbook Used by the DIME Map System to Produce the DIME Map Presented in Figure 5.1154
Figure 5.3 An Example of a Level 1 DIME Map Produced from a Textbook Chapter
Figure 5.4 An Example of a Level 2 DIME Map Produced from a Textbook Chapter
Figure 5.5 Forest Plot of the Cognitive Effect Sizes
Figure 5.6 Forest Plot of the Affective Effect Sizes

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Articles and Proposed Journals	
Table 3.1 Descriptive Statistics for Subgroups' Growth	
Table 3.2 Results of the MANOVA on Self-efficacy Growth and Connections Growth	
Table 3.3 Hedges' Bias Corrected Effect Sizes (g) for Growth in Self-efficacy and Connections	
Table 4.1 Grade Levels for the Students in this Study	122
Table 4.2 Student Race/Ethnicity	122
Table 4.3 Breakdown of User Interactions with DIME Map per Student	125
Table 4.4 Mean and Standard Deviation for the Students' Pretest-Posttest Results	127
Table 4.5 Correlations with Total User Interactions	127
Table 5.1 Reliabilities of Posttest Surveys: One Cognitive and One Affective Set from Each Year	164
Table 5.2 Final Sample Sizes and Participant Demographics	166
Table 5.3 Grade Levels of Students in Each Study	167

1. INTRODUCTION

Textbooks are used ubiquitously throughout education and have evolved with advances in technology to meet the ever-growing needs of a digital-native generation of students. Textbooks are widely used in sciences, with many teachers even implementing reading quizzes to encourage students to diligently read their textbooks (French et al., 2015). While some students rarely touch their textbooks, most claim that they read their science textbooks sometimes or often (French et al., 2015; Podolefsky & Finkelstein, 2006). Students often turn to their textbooks as a trustworthy source of definitions, formulas, examples, and practice problems in mathematics (Weinberg et al., 2012) and engineering classes (Lee et al., 2013; Liberatore, 2017). Unfortunately, students often use their textbooks only for quick references, doing homework, or studying for exams and do not engage with the content for deeper understanding (Lee et al., 2013; Podolefsky & Finkelstein, 2006). Additionally, students often believe that the price of textbooks is unreasonably high (French et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2017; Skinner & Howes, 2013). Finally, from a research perspective, textbook copyright laws have impeded further reuse, revision, remixing, and redistributing of content by researchers, teachers, and students (Wiley et al., 2014). Thus, traditional textbooks have issues with cost, engagement, and copyright limitations.

The development of electronic textbooks has offered some solutions for these problems (Davidson & Carliner, 2014; Fowler et al., 2020; Rockinson-Szapkiw et al., 2013). Electronic textbooks are generally cheaper and offer additional opportunities for

engagement with the content than their traditional, paper format counterparts. Students who use expensive textbooks read their textbooks about the same amount of time as students who use less expensive textbooks (French et al., 2015). Additionally, students who use electronic textbooks are more likely to use cognitive and self-regulation strategies (Rockinson-Szapkiw et al., 2013). Open textbooks are a subset of open educational resources and provide lower cost and more flexible copyright constraints (Clinton & Khan, 2019; Okamoto, 2013; Wiley et al., 2014). Through a meta-analysis of 22 studies consisting of 100,012 students, Clinton and Khan (2019) found "no differences in learning efficacy between open textbooks and commercial textbooks" (p. 1). In more recent studies, Fowler et al. (2020) and Clinton and Khan (2019) agreed that students who used open textbooks performed at least as well as students who used closed-source textbooks. Finally, open educational resources like open textbooks allow more freedom when it comes to creative use, as they are free from copyright restrictions (Wiley et al., 2014). Therefore, electronic textbooks, and open textbooks in particular, provide potential solutions to some of the issues associated with traditional textbooks.

Since the inception of electronic and open textbooks, calls for further improvements that complement and enhance students' textbook-based learning have been made. For example, technology should be implemented to assist in the navigation of these textbooks as a way to improve students' desire to engage with electronic resources (Woody et al., 2010). Visualization techniques could also be used to support finding relevant learning material and developing a deeper understanding of the content (Klerkx et al., 2014). In response to these calls, several authors have begun producing interactive textbooks (see Fowler et al., 2020; Liberatore, 2017; O'Bannon et al., 2017), allowing for further engagement with the textbook knowledge. Interactive concept maps have also been explored with some success. However, these technologies take significant time and effort from the curriculum designers. Therefore, the educational technology known as the Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) Map system was developed to automatically generate dynamic and interactive concept maps from electronic textbooks.

1.1. Purpose of the Dissertation

The purpose of this four-article dissertation was to examine the effects of using DIME maps on students' learning and self-efficacy. First, I illustrate how DIME maps and the engineering design process work together in an example five-day activity. Then, I explore how using DIME maps compared to traditional group learning using data collected in the summer of 2018. For the third article, I used data from a follow-up study conducted in the summer of 2019. In 2020, I replicated the study in a unique setting, a virtual summer camp during the COVID-19 pandemic. Finally, I compiled the results from three years of the implementation of DIME maps in the fourth article. I believe that the results from these four articles provide insight into the effectiveness of DIME maps as well as considerations for implementation in various settings. The knowledge gained from these articles can guide the development of DIME maps and provide benchmarks for future studies on similar educational technology. Therefore, the findings from this dissertation provide valuable insights on an educational technology that can address the

issues associated with widespread use of textbooks and the rising generation's reliance on technology.

1.2. Research Questions

The following research questions guided the development of my four-article dissertation:

- 1. How can DIME maps be integrated into a STEM PBL activity in a way that assists students engaging in the engineering design process?
- 2. What features of DIME maps help students understand core concepts in physics?
- 3. Is there a multivariate relationship or pattern between using DIME maps and two learning outcomes for students: self-efficacy towards learning physics and understanding connections between content knowledge?
- 4. How do students feel about using DIME maps—what aspects of DIME maps do students consider helpful or harmful to their learning process?
- 5. What is the relationship between students' interactions with DIME maps and students' self-efficacy towards physics?
- 6. What effect has using DIME maps had on cognitive and affective learning outcomes for students?

1.3. Literature Review

Traditionally, textbooks contain knowledge linearly, with one large section of expository text after another. When new information is presented linearly, cognitive dissonance (Brehm & Cohen, 1962; Festinger, 1962) and cognitive load (Sweller, 1988) can combine to create an insurmountable barrier to assimilation. According to educators and cognitive psychologists, a linear representation of knowledge is contradictory to the internal representation of knowledge in our minds (Kalyuga, 2006), which is better represented as a web of interconnected ideas with organization and structure (Hiebert & Carpenter, 1992; Saxe et al., 2013; Stelzer et al., 2009; Sweller, 1988). In schools, students have often turned to rote learning in an attempt to quickly remember facts and information from these large sections of text for summative tests without seeking further understanding.

Rote learning is a short-term solution, because students attempt to memorize mathematical formulas and ideas as independent and distinct pieces of information. Unfortunately, rote learning alone has been considered to be ineffective for long-term retention (Byers & Erlwanger, 1985; Cai & Wang, 2010). Instead, the assimilation theory of meaningful learning states that meaningful learning is best achieved by anchoring new knowledge in prior knowledge (Ausubel, 1968). This is the theory that led Ausubel to famously state, "If I had to reduce all of educational psychology to just one principle, I would say this: The most important single factor influencing learning is what the learner already knows. Ascertain this and teach him accordingly" (Ausubel, 1968, epigraph). If students are enabled to integrate new concepts and prepositions with their existing knowledge, meaningful learning can occur (Novak, 1998). However, many students struggle with achieving meaningful learning when reading traditional textbooks, as the connections between concepts, equations, expressions, and formulas are hidden due to the author-centric linear representation of knowledge. Although linear representations of knowledge in textbooks are not inherently bad for student learning,

dynamic and adaptive non-linear transformations of knowledge facilitate learning for broader populations, as the human mind requires new and prior knowledge to be linked together in a complex neural network. When students rely only on memorization, information is typically stored as disparate pieces of knowledge in long-term memory. Memorization makes it difficult to draw connections between information and develop conceptual understanding (Bransford et al., 1999). Thus memorization is not an effective strategy for meaningful learning.

Concept maps and other graphic organizers have been suggested to improve meaningful learning for students. Graphic organizers enable students to visualize connections between prior knowledge and new learning (Hill, 2005; Lopez et al., 2013; Novak, 1998). By demonstrating the connections between concepts, concept maps reduce the cognitive load required to process new knowledge (Hill, 2005; Novak, 1998; Stull & Mayer, 2007). This process allows concept maps to be invaluable tools in all levels of learning. Through multiple systematic reviews, it has been found that concept mapping, whether studying or constructing concept maps, has potential for learning gains (Adesope & Nesbit, 2010; Hartmeyer et al., 2018; Horton et al., 1993; Mihai et al., 2017; Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Novak, 1990; Schroeder et al., 2018; Yue et al., 2017). Developed from research on concept maps, DIME maps have the potential to improve learning with the added benefits of being automatically generated and highly interactive. The purpose of my research resulting in the proposed articles is to evaluate the effectiveness of using DIME maps to improve learning outcomes.

6

1.4. Methodologies

The different quantitative methods utilized in the four articles were chosen based on the research questions for each study and the expertise of the supporting committee. In the first article, we reflected on an example of using DIME maps in classroom action research. A focus group was interviewed to examine the multiple features of DIME maps that helped them to better understand core concepts. For the second article, we used MANOVA to determine the effect of using DIME maps on students' learning with respect to two aspects or dependent variables, self-efficacy in learning physics and understanding of concepts. The third article concerned user interactions, and so we primarily focused on the correlations between the number of interactions students had with the DIME map and their resulting growth in self-efficacy in physics. In the fourth article, meta-analytic methods specifically designed for a small number of studies was used to examine the overall effect that DIME maps had on self-efficacy and cognitive growth in physics. In general, Hedges' bias-corrected effect sizes (g) were computed and reported to compare with prior literature and allow for future work to engage in ongoing meta-analytical thinking and combination.

1.5. Results

We used the results throughout this dissertation to answer the many research questions we posed before each study was conducted. In the first article, we presented how DIME maps can be integrated into a STEM PBL activity through an illustrative example. In that example, students used DIME maps in the ideate and analyze ideas phases of the engineering design process. Students appreciated how they could use their DIME map as an interactive map that allowed them to navigate the PDF textbook chapter. Students also enjoyed being able to manipulate and rearrange the DIME map and focus on key concepts. Finally, students in the focus group remarked how the visual representation of concepts and relationships between concepts was valuable.

We found a multivariate relationship in the second study, indicating that using DIME maps had a positive effect on self-efficacy toward learning physics and understanding of connections between content knowledge. While no statistically significant interaction effect was found for gender, it is worth noting that female students using DIME maps outperformed male students, while the opposite was true for the control group. In the qualitative portion of this study, we found that students appreciated the high level of interactivity (specifically mentioning clicking, navigating, and searching) and that the DIME maps visually represented concepts and relationships between concepts. These findings were similar to those in the first study. Additionally, the students in the second study commented on how DIME maps served as a tool for empowering their learning and making learning more accessible. One negative trait of DIME maps was revealed in this study; students encountering DIME maps for the first time thought they looked complex with too many concepts and connections presented at once without a prespecified structure. We considered whether students who were less confused or who persisted through the initial complexity would gain more from using DIME maps. For this reason, in the third article, we explored the interactive nature of DIME maps and found that students who interacted more with their DIME maps gained more in terms of self-efficacy in physics. Looking at specific interactions, we found that

the most used functions were clicking/dragging, followed by searching. Thus, we found evidence that students did utilize the features mentioned in the previous study.

Finally, we performed a meta-analytical combination of three years of data in the fourth article. Across three studies including over seventy students, we found DIME maps to have a statistically significant positive effect on cognitive outcomes and a positive, but not statistically significant, effect on affective outcomes. Implications and discussions of all findings are presented within each respective chapter.

1.6. Journal Selection

I have created a collection of potential journals to submit the four articles of my dissertation. Each potential journal outlet has been vetted for appropriateness for each proposed dissertation article along with supporting documentation. First, a list of education journals was obtained from Scopus. The list was filtered for journals focused on educational technology or general STEM education. The journals were then ranked by Scimago Journal Rank (SJR) and Source Normalized Impact per Paper (SNIP). Only journals with high SJR and SNIP were considered. I further filtered the list down to only journals that focused on educational technology, online/remote learning, and/or STEM education. Alignment with each journal's scope and aim was also considered. The editors of the journals are top scholars in their related fields. The journal quality metrics and other relevant information for determining appropriateness were gathered using the journals' websites, Scopus, Scimago Journal and Country Rank, and Cabell's Directory of Publishing Opportunities. For a list of potential journals for each proposed article as well as related notes on each journal, see Table 1.1. These journals were carefully

selected as top-quality outlets for the proposed articles. Article 1 has already been

published at the time of this dissertation, and so only the appropriate citation is

displayed.

Table 1.1

Articles	and	Pro	posed	Jo	urnals
----------	-----	-----	-------	----	--------

	Proposed Journal #1	Proposed Journal #2		
Article 1: Using DIME maps and STEM project based learning to	Published. The full citation for this article is:			
teach physics	Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). Using DIME maps and STEM project-based learning to teach physics. <i>Interactive Technology and Smart Education</i> . Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-07-2020-0109</u>			
Article 2: A first look at effectiveness: DIME maps—The evolution of concept maps	Journal of Research on Technology in Education	Australasian Journal of Educational Technology		
SNIP / SJR	1.241 / 0.74	1.95 / 1.397		
Editor-in-Chief	Albert Ritzhaupt	Linda Corrin et al.		
Publisher	Taylor and Francis	Australasian Society for Computers in Learning in Tertiary Education		
Article 3: Improving self-efficacy with computer-generated concept maps: Analysis of user interactions	Journal of Computer Assisted Learning	Online Learning Journal		
SNIP / SJR	2.212 / 1.583	1.981 / 1.182		
Editor-in-Chief	Paul A. Kirschner	Peter Shea		
Publisher	Wiley-Blackwell	The Online Learning Consortium		
Article 4: Breaking barriers for STEM learning: A meta-analysis of three years of findings on DIME maps	Educational Technology and Society	Journal of Engineering Education		
SNIP / SJR	2.036 / 1.448	6.264 / 3.896		
Editor-in-Chief	Maiga Chang et al.	Lisa C. Benson		
Publisher	Educational Technology and Society	Wiley Online Library		

Note. SJR: SCImago Journal Rank in 2020; SNIP: Source Normalized Impact per Paper

in 2020. All journals included followed a double-blind peer review process.

1.7. References

- Adesope, O. O., & Nesbit, J. C. (2010). A systematic review of research on collaborative learning with concept maps. In P. Lupion Torres, & R. de Cássia Veiga Marriott (Eds.), *Handbook of research on collaborative learning using concept mapping* (pp. 238–255). IGI Global. <u>http://doi:10.4018/978-1-59904-992-2.ch012</u>
- Bransford, J., Brown, A., & Cocking, R. (1999). *How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school.* National Academies Press.
- Brehm, J. W., & Cohen, A. R. (1962). *Explorations in cognitive dissonance*. John Wiley
 & Sons. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/11622-000</u>
- Byers, V., & Erlwanger, S. (1985). Memory in mathematical understanding. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 16(3), 259–281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00776733</u>
- Cai, J., & Wang, T. (2010). Conceptions of effective mathematics teaching within a cultural context: Perspectives of teachers from China and the United States. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 13(3), 265–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-009-9132-1
- Clinton, V., & Khan, S. (2019). Efficacy of open textbook adoption on learning performance and course withdrawal rates: A meta-analysis. *AERA Open*, 5(3), 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858419872212</u>

Davidson, A. L., & Carliner, S. (2014). E-books for educational uses. In J. Spector, M. Merrill, J. Elen, & M. Bishop (Eds.), *Handbook of research on educational communications and technology* (pp. 713-722). Springer.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3185-5_57

Festinger, L. (1962). Cognitive dissonance. *Scientific American*, 207(4), 93–106.

Fowler, J., Snapp, B., Johns, C., Andrews, D., Boros, D., Clemens, H., Ferdinand, V.,
Findell, B., Husen, B., Johnson, J. H., Lakos, N., Miller, E., Ramsey, B.,
Sheldon, J., Talamo, J., & Carlson, T. (2020). An open-source calculus textbook
on the Ximera platform. *Problems, Resources, and Issues in Mathematics Undergraduate Studies*, *31*(9) 1–24.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10511970.2020.1781720

- French, M., Taverna, F., Neumann, M., Paulo Kushnir, L., Harlow, J., Harrison, D., & Serbanescu, R. (2015). Textbook use in the sciences and its relation to course performance. *College Teaching*, 63(4), 171–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2015.1057099
- Hartmeyer, R., Stevenson, M. P., & Bentsen, P. (2018). A systematic review of concept mapping-based formative assessment processes in primary and secondary science education. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, 25(6), 598–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2017.1377685
- Hiebert, J., & Carpenter, T. P. (1992). Learning and teaching with understanding. In D.
 A. Grouws (Ed.), *Handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning: A project of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics* (pp. 65–97). The
 National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Hill, L. H. (2005). Concept mapping to encourage meaningful student learning. Adult Learning, 16(3–4), 7–13.

Horton, P. B., McConney, A. A., Gallo, M., Woods, A. L., Senn, G. J., & Hamelin, D. (1993). An investigation of the effectiveness of concept mapping as an instructional tool. *Science Education*, 77(1), 95–111.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730770107

- Kalyuga, S. (2006). Instructing and testing advanced learners: A cognitive load approach. Nova Science Publishers.
- Klerkx, J., Verbert, K., & Duval, E. (2014). Enhancing learning with visualization techniques. In J. Spector, M. Merrill, J. Elen, & M. Bishop (Eds.), *Handbook of research on educational communications and technology* (pp. 791–807).
 Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3185-5_64</u>
- Lee, C. S., McNeill, N. J., Douglas, E. P., Koro-Ljungberg, M. E., & Therriault, D. J. (2013). Indispensable resource? A phenomenological study of textbook use in engineering problem solving. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 102(2), 269– 288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20011</u>
- Liberatore, M. (2017). High textbook reading rates when using an interactive textbook for a material and energy balances course. *Chemical Engineering Education*, 51(3), 109–118. <u>https://journals.flvc.org/cee/article/view/104416/100306</u>
- Lopez, E. J., Nandagopal, K., Shavelson, R. J., Szu, E., & Penn, J. (2013). Self-regulated learning study strategies and academic performance in undergraduate organic chemistry: An investigation examining ethnically diverse students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 50(6), 660–676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21095</u>

- Martin, M., Belikov, O., Hilton, J., Wiley, D., & Fischer, L. (2017). Analysis of student and faculty perceptions of textbook costs in higher education. *Open Praxis*, 9(1), 79–91. <u>https://learntechlib.org/p/180267</u>
- Mihai, N. S., Aurora, S. B., Maria, M. C., & Florin, B. A. (2017). Meta-analysis on the study with concept maps on the medical field. *Transylvanian Journal of Psychology*, 18(2), 133–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.24193/epsz.2017.2.4</u>
- Nesbit, J. C., & Adesope, O. O. (2006). Learning with concept and knowledge maps: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(3), 413–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076003413</u>
- Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and Vee diagrams: Two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. *Instructional Science*, 19(1), 29–52. <u>https://doi.10.1007/BF00377984</u>
- Novak, J. D. (1998). Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations. Erlbaum.

O'Bannon, B. W., Skolits, G. J., & Lubke, J. K. (2017). The influence of digital interactive textbook instruction on student learning preferences, outcomes, and motivation. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, *49*(3–4), 103–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2017.1303798</u>

Okamoto, K. (2013). Making higher education more affordable, one course reading at a time: Academic libraries as key advocates for open access textbooks and educational resources. *Public Services Quarterly*, 9(4), 267–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15228959.2013.842397</u> Podolefsky, N., & Finkelstein, N. (2006). The perceived value of college physics textbooks: Students and instructors may not see eye to eye. *The Physics Teacher*, 44(6), 338–342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1119/1.2336132</u>

Rockinson-Szapkiw, A. J., Wendt, J., & Lunde, R. (2013). Electronic versus print textbooks: The influence of textbook format on university students' selfregulated learning strategies, motivation, and text anxiety. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 27(3), 179–188.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2013.796230

- Saxe, A. M., McClellans, J. L., & Ganguli, S. (2013). Learning hierarchical categories in deep neural networks. *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society*, 35, 1271–1276.
- Schroeder, N. L., Nesbit, J. C., Anguiano, C. J., & Adesope, O. O. (2018). Studying and constructing concept maps: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30, 431–455. <u>https://doi/10.1007/s10648-017-9403-9</u>
- Skinner, D., & Howes, B. (2013). The required textbook friend or foe? Dealing with the dilemma. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, 10(2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v10i2.7753
- Stelzer, T., Gladding, G., Mestre, J. P., & Brookes, D. T. (2009). Comparing the efficacy of multimedia modules with traditional textbooks for learning introductory physics content. *American Journal of Physics*, 77(2), 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.3028204

- Stull, A. T., & Mayer, R. E. (2007). Learning by doing versus learning by viewing: Three experimental comparisons of learner-generated versus author-provided graphic organizers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(4), 808–820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.4.808</u>
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. *Cognitive Science*, *12*(2), 257–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog1202_4</u>
- Weinberg, A., Wiesner, E., Benesh, B., & Boester, T. (2012). Undergraduate students' self-reported use of mathematics textbooks. *Problems, Resources, and Issues in Mathematics Undergraduate Studies*, 22(2), 152–175.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10511970.2010.509336

- Wiley, D., Bliss, T. J., & McEwen, M. (2014). Open educational resources: A review of the literature. In J. Spector, M. Merrill, J. Elen, & M. Bishop (Eds.), *Handbook of research on educational communications and technology*, 781–789. Springer <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3185-5_63</u>
- Woody, W. D., Daniel, D. B., & Baker, C. A. (2010). E-books or textbooks: Students prefer textbooks. *Computers & Education*, 55(3), 945–948. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2010.04.005
- Yue, M., Zhang, M., Zhang, C., & Jin, C. (2017). The effectiveness of concept mapping on development of critical thinking in nursing education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, *52*, 87–94.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.02.018

2. USING DIME MAPS AND STEM PROJECT-BASED LEARNING TO TEACH PHYSICS*

The engineering process is critical for the innovation of solutions to everyday problems, which grow increasingly complex in the modern world. As such, few would argue against the fact that the need for engineers today is greater than any time in our nation's past. The training of engineers begins in primary education, and one method of instruction that aims to adequately prepare students for advanced engineering learning is engineering design. The National Research Council (2012) defined engineering design as "the iterative cycle of design that offers the greatest potential for applying science knowledge in the classroom and engaging in engineering practices" (pp. 201–2) Core principles of engineering design models include defining and determining constraints of engineering problems, designing solutions to those problems, and selecting an optimum solution (Next Generation Science Standards, 2013). Furthermore, by exposing precollege students to engineering activities, we can spark interest in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM), which can significantly influence future career plans (National Science Board, 2010). These core principles and the effects of early exposure to engineering position engineering design as an ideal process for students to learn and engage with in order to be better prepared to solve the problems of a

^{*} Reprinted with permission under the Creative Commons Attribution Non-commercial 4.0 (CC BY-NC) license. Chapter 2 in this dissertation is adapted from the Author Accepted Manuscript version of Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). Using DIME maps and STEM project-based learning to teach physics. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-07-2020-0109</u>

technologically advanced world. Teachers can engage students in the engineering design process through STEM project-based learning (PBL).

Although many versions of PBL have been explored, we follow the definition of STEM PBL given by Capraro and Slough (2013): "an ill-defined task within a welldefined outcome situated with a contextually rich task requiring students to solve several problems which when considered in their entirety showcase student mastery of several concepts of various STEM subjects" (p. 2). Importantly, STEM PBL can incorporate engineering design principles into K–12 learning (Morgan et al., 2013). Furthermore, PBL allows for students to make connections between the content they are learning and practical, real-world experiences and applications.

Developing an intervention—one that a) builds on prior research, b) addresses the needs of individual students, and c) bridges new learning with old—may make learning more accessible in physics courses. Recent studies attempting to address these criteria have discussed the use of interactive digital textbooks to improve learning (e.g., Bikowski & Casal, 2018; Choi & Lam, 2018; Liberatore et al., 2020). However, interactive digital textbooks generally have required a significant contribution of time and effort to create. Our proof-of-concept model builds on the idea of an interactive textbook intervention, but our study additionally incorporates the well-known and wellarticulated learning strategy of using concept mapping, a synthesis made possible through developments in artificial intelligence. Therefore, we created Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) maps, which are automatically computergenerated, interactive concept maps. Eventually, with DIME maps, textbooks based on content with mathematical formulas can be transformed automatically by artificial intelligence into interactive digital textbooks. The purpose for this article is to present an example of how DIME maps were used to promote active learning and engagement in the engineering design process within a STEM PBL activity for middle and high school students.

2.1. Historical Background

As the study of teaching and learning has developed, information has become more dense, subjects have developed along different lines, those disparate subjects have evolved their own language, and concepts and word definitions once shared by the larger field have become more specific to nuances in individual and specialized disciplines and are therefore far removed from everyday use and understanding (Kwok et al., 2020; Rugh et al., 2018). This evolution of various subjects within the same field dramatically increases the cognitive load for those who are new to the discipline. However, although the language used to teach specific content has become more complex, the language of mathematics has remained relatively stable, supporting and demonstrating the relationships between most scientific concepts that a student might encounter.

At one time, methods for teaching and learning science, engineering, and mathematics were simpler; in mathematics, for example, a student learned from a mentor at the university. In this apprenticeship model, the young mathematician was finished when the mentor deemed it so (Boyer & Merzbach, 2011; Cajori, 1999). Their successful completion of a degree was not based on a set of courses to be taken or some idea of a test. It was not until 1817 that engineering left the apprenticeship model and colleges of engineering and formal engineering courses began to replace the apprenticemaster model (Borrego, 2007; Seely, 2005). As the field evolved, the learning curve accelerated exponentially as it became informed by advances in closely related subjects, and it continues to do so today. The loss of the close, personal instruction of the apprenticeship model and the adoption of the mass, regimented instruction that replaced it hindered academic success and concept comprehension for many students, not only in engineering, but in education more generally throughout the 20th century. Teaching and learning researchers sought to address this with a resurgence of emphasis on studentcentered learning approaches and theories.

2.2. Underlying Theories of Learning

Two categories of theories of teaching and learning were essential for the development of our approach in this study: constructivism and cognitivism. The two main foci of this paper, STEM PBL and the educational technology, were developed, implemented, and interpreted with these two underlying theories of learning.

In particular, constructivist learning theories guided the development of the STEM PBL activity. Project-based learning has developed from the project method of teaching by Kilpatrick (1918) and Dewey (1938). From a constructivist perspective, students engaging in STEM PBL are active investigators of their learning. Primarily used in the K–12 setting, STEM PBL is founded on constructivist practices such as engaging students in collaborative problem solving and hands-on/real-world learning experiences with an added focus on interdisciplinary STEM learning (Capraro & Slough, 2013; Clark & Ernst, 2007). This focus on student-centered learning allows STEM PBL
to engage students in more meaningful learning where new knowledge is anchored in real-world experiences and applications of knowledge.

Within the lens of constructivism, the assimilation theory of meaningful learning (Ausubel, 1968) aided in the development and understanding of the benefits of using the educational technology in this study. The assimilation theory of learning, which claims that students relate new knowledge into the context of existing knowledge structures (Mayer, 1979), has been used to explain the learning gains that concept maps offer (Novak, 1990; Novak & Cañas, 2007; Novak & Musonda, 1991). As with advance organizers before them, concept maps allowed the knowledge giver (expert) to construct a visualization or organization of knowledge for the knowledge receiver (learner or novice) to understand how the expert organized and interpreted the material. The advantage was that this lowered the cognitive demand of learning, but, unfortunately, knowledge presented by the concept map was only accessible to those learners with the prior knowledge necessary to make use of it (Novak, 1990). As the field of teaching and learning works to democratize the classroom space, single views or entitled perspectives, as what is often presented by concept maps, no longer meet the needs of most learners (Moschkovich, 2013). In this increasingly digital era, there is a need to link learning theories (e.g., constructivism and cognitivism theories underlying concept maps) through artificial intelligence technology to provide students with automatically generated interactive concept maps to help navigate the textbook and to assist in learning in social settings. The next few sections contain further descriptions of the educational technology and engineering design nested in STEM PBL that were used in this study; connections to theories and prior research on students' learning are also presented.

2.3. Introducing Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) Maps

We created the DIME Map system as a meta-cognitive tool to organize and support personalized learning inside and outside the classroom setting. This learning technology can assist students in self-guided study and exploration of concepts in textbooks. The DIME Map system creates DIME maps, which are automatically generated from portable document format (PDF) documents containing mathematical objects (i.e., equations, expressions, and variables) by reconstructing the connections between each mathematical object into an interactive concept map. (Beyette et al., 2019; Rugh et al., 2019). The user, generally a teacher or researcher, begins by uploading a PDF file of a desired textbook chapter to the DIME Map system, a machine-learning program that employs artificial intelligence to identify and define mathematical objects. The identified mathematical objects are connected automatically based on a set of logic rules, and the resulting map is displayed to users as a dynamic and interactive concept map (see Figure 1) next to the original PDF document.

Automatically transforming mathematical knowledge from physics textbooks into dynamic concepts maps allows students to be exposed to multiple visual representations and organizations of knowledge. This knowledge is automatically transformed from the text into interactive concept maps by extracting and linking mathematical concepts with heuristic rules and artificial intelligence, allowing the user to personalize their own DIME map. Choi and Lam (2018) suggested that making technology personalizable for different learners is one of the main goals for the future of interactive textbooks, and DIME maps fill this role with ease. Figure 1 shows an example of a DIME map that represents the essential mathematical concepts and relationships contained in one chapter of a physics textbook. Figure 6 shows an example of a DIME map that was created in class and rearranged by a student to fit their personal conceptual understanding of the material.

DIME map links (or arrows) represent the relationships between mathematical objects and are understood by the rule "build(s) into." This rule is used to iterate through mathematical expression objects (e.g., stand-alone expressions or expressions on the right-hand side of an equation), linking any expressions that are used in the formulation of an equation (i.e., object \rightarrow equation). These links can be thought of as connections that help build the student's conceptual understanding, which is required for them to correctly apply and understand procedure skills (see Capraro & Joffrion, 2006). The "build(s) into" relationship can be thought of as a selected rule for how the mathematical objects should be connected together. This rule can be replaced with any arbitrary rule that establishes a well-defined relationship between two mathematical objects. Because the meaning is well defined, students can better understand the connections between concepts and mathematical semantics, syntax, and meaning, an understanding that is claimed to be critical for students (Capraro et al., 2010). The direct connections to the text as well as the well-defined relationships between mathematical objects in DIME maps enable students to build a more well-rounded mathematical vocabulary and understanding of these relationships.

23

Figure 2.1

Example of a DIME Map



Manually drawing maps such as the one shown in Figure 2.1 for every chapter and textbook a teacher uses would not be feasible for teachers or students, as manually creating concept maps is labor intensive and requires an expert-level understanding of the relationships between concepts. In addition, resulting concept maps would be static, not allowing the student to easily interact, personalize, or share the concept map. However, with DIME maps, the mathematical knowledge in PDF textbooks is extracted to create an interactive and malleable concept map. Students are able to navigate between the DIME map and traditional textbooks by clicking on a mathematical object, which takes them to the first derivation of the selected concept. Double clicking brings up a window that searches Google for additional definitions (for a similar application of this feature, see Leake et al., 2004). Students can also search for concepts in the map, allowing them to easily follow along with lectures or questions. Lastly, mathematical objects (nodes) in the map can be hidden or removed to reduce cognitive load as well as be rearranged into any orientation, allowing the student to create a configuration that is most effective for their own concept understanding and retention. With their potential to engage students in mapping and visualizing their own learning while also making textbook information digestible and personalizable, DIME maps are a powerful tool of instruction that assists teachers in democratizing learning in their classroom.

2.4. Model for the Engineering Design Process

Models for engineering design vary widely. Some models consist of as few as three steps whereas others may contain more than ten steps (Capraro & Slough, 2013; Cross, 2000; Dym & Little, 2009; Morgan et al., 2013). The choice of a model can depend on a variety of considerations, such as intended purpose, quality control, economic use of resources, elegance, or applicability (Capraro & Slough, 2013). It is a good idea to choose and follow a specific engineering design model in order to guide implementation during an engineering design activity.

For the STEM PBL activity described in this paper, we chose to follow the engineering design model used by Morgan et al. (2013). This model, depicted in Figure 2.2, consists of seven steps: identify problems and constraints, research, ideate, analyze ideas, build, test and refine, and communicate and reflect.

Figure 2.2

The Seven-Step Engineering Design Model Chosen for this Study



Note. Adapted with permission from Morgan et al. (2013)

In the identify problems and constraints phase, engineers fully establish the goal of the process. Engineers must fully consider the requirements of the consumer, the demands of society, or the statement of a problem. Additionally, engineers explore and identify potential constraints and criteria. Constraints include limitations such as time and resources. Criteria include desirable or required aspects of the final product.

In the research phase, engineers look into the background information that could help formulate and analyze potential solutions. It is here that environmental concerns, scientific properties of the materials involved, and additional laws or standards should be fully investigated. Any applicable mathematical formulas and scientific concepts must also be understood in order to create feasible design options.

In the ideate phase, engineers employ divergent thinking to brainstorm reasonable solutions to the established problem. Engaging in STEM PBL activities involving engineering design principles has been shown to improve students' attitudes about divergent thinking and the importance of new and alternative ideas (Bicer et al., 2019). The ideate phase is critical to the engineering design process because it can lead to multiple creative and innovative solutions.

In the analyze ideas phase, engineers explore the created design ideas and select the optimal solution. Optimization, or identifying the best design for a given task, is critical to this phase of this engineering design model. Optimization before building has replaced numerous rounds of trial-and-error, leading to more efficient use of resources, such as time and materials, necessary to upgrade and replace multiple prototypes (Kelley, 2010). During this phase, engineers consider relevant constraints, criteria, formulas, and concepts identified in the research phase. Only then can the best design be chosen to proceed with building.

27

In the build phase, engineers construct the chosen design. They contact suppliers, gather materials, and finalize assembly processes to create a working model that can be tested.

In the test and refine phase, the prototype is experimentally evaluated, tested under working conditions, and improved. Predictions, observations, and analyses should be recorded in order to inform refining the design into the final product. By this phase, catastrophic failure should only be the result of a major error in a previous phase. If the prototype is completely unacceptable, a critical analysis should be conducted as the engineer returns to the ideate or analyze phases to pose an alternative solution. The final model should fit all design considerations, constraints, and goals established in the identify problems and constraints phase.

In the communicate and reflect phase, engineers share the results with stakeholders in the problem. Effective communication skills are required to meet market demands and the demands of the consumer as well as acquire approval and funding for projects. Results should also be shared and stored in the form of written documentation. Engineers in this phase also reflect upon their designs and make notes for future iterations, related projects, and to inform the client of any last concerns.

2.5. The STEM PBL and Engineering Design Activity

The activity described in this paper involves integrating the use of DIME maps in STEM PBL. STEM PBL is built on a foundation of engineering design principles and integrates into K–16 formal and informal learning experiences through implementing well-defined outcomes and ill-defined tasks (Capraro & Slough, 2013; Cross, 2000; Han

et al., 2015). A well-defined outcome in STEM PBL involves explicitly telling students what the problem is, what criteria the final product should meet, and what constraints are placed on potential solutions or designs. Such a well-defined outcome is crucial to the engineering design process and STEM PBL (Capraro &Slough, 2013; Daugherty, 2012). An ill-defined task, in turn, requires that students not be told instructions or clear guidelines for how to achieve the desired outcome. By not restricting students to specific courses of action or designs, STEM PBL allows for creativity and divergent thinking to flourish (Bicer et al., 2019). Through STEM PBL, students engage in the engineering design process (Morgan et al., 2013), which provides multiple benefits:

- cultivates 21st century skills, such as problem-solving and creativity (Bicer et al., 2019; Morgan et al., 2013),
- leads to efficient solutions (Morgan et al., 2013),
- provides realistic contexts for the application of math and science (Daugherty, 2012; Morgan et al., 2013),
- develops stronger interest in STEM (Bicer & Lee, 2019; Morgan et al., 2013)
- increases social awareness (Akleman et al., 2019)

Although the theoretical framework for this study can be understood as the product of constructivist and cognitivist learning theories, a subtle interplay is located in the connections that students make. Students engaged in STEM PBL activities are making connections between new learning and real-world experiences. On the other hand, students using concept maps, and DIME maps in particular, are making connections between new learning and prior knowledge. Together, both STEM PBL and DIME maps

provide contexts for making connections between interdisciplinary knowledge and their constructed body of knowledge and experience. With high strengths of association, new learning is firmly anchored in prior knowledge, past experiences, and real-world application, making DIME maps a powerful tool to promote meaningful learning in the context of STEM PBL.

2.6. Methods

The first author was a physics teacher engaging in classroom action research, the primary research method guiding this study. In classroom action research, the teacher focuses attention on a problem or question about their own teaching practice (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Mettetal, 2002). The teacher/researcher team also conducted semi-structured interviews with students selected for their level of participation and engagement with DIME maps and the STEM PBL activity. Thus, the teacher utilized classroom action research and the semi-structured interviews to improve teaching practice and answer the following research questions:

- 1. How can DIME maps be integrated into a STEM PBL activity in a way that assists students engaging in the engineering design process?
- 2. What features of DIME maps help students understand core concepts in physics?

To answer these questions, the teacher and researchers worked together to make naturalistic observations in the setting described below (see Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Each took notes on the order of teaching and how students engaged in the activity. The team met together between classes to discuss ways to improve implementation in further iterations. This iterative process was carried out over three years (2018–2020) of STEM summer camps in which the teacher taught a course on rotational motion. In the following sections, we present a compilation of reflections and notes from multiple researchers as a day-by-day analysis of the STEM PBL activity and how we used DIME maps to teach physics. The teacher and researchers reviewed these sections to ensure fidelity to their individual perceptions of events and of students' engagement in learning. Following the day-by-day analysis, an evaluation of DIME maps and the STEM PBL activity is presented through quotes from the semi-structured interviews and reflections by the teacher/researcher team.

2.7. Setting/Context

The Aggie STEM summer camp is designed to provide a fully immersive STEM experience for students who are particularly interested (or sometimes whose parents are interested for them) in STEM careers. The camps serve 6th–12th grade students, but there are occasionally special camps for elementary students and professional development "boot camps" for in-service teachers, which are also STEM-oriented. Furthermore, different camps have different focuses (e.g., health sciences, engineering, or computer science), and each individual camp includes unique learning experiences (e.g., a mathematical sciences camp may include physics, laboratory sciences, and aerospace courses or activities). Students attending the camp engage in STEM PBL-based classes, interact with STEM professionals, tour science and engineering labs, and receive specialized SAT/ACT training. The STEM PBL activity described in this paper comprised the students' physics class for three years, from 2018–2020.

The camps are offered on a first-come, first-served basis and held at a large midsouth university campus. A typical day for students begins at 7am with breakfast and a bus ride to their first campus experience and ends at 10:30 pm with lights out. In between, students have scheduled courses and informal learning activities. Each informal activity typically lasts 1.5 hours per day for the five-day camp. The remainder of a student's day is spent in information sessions to learn about applying to college, study habits, dorm life, clubs and social aspects of the university, and listening to guest speakers. After their 6:30 dinner, students participate in educationally responsible social activities and STEM immersion experiences.

Demographic data for the most recent years of the Aggie STEM summer camps are given to provide an example of the students who participated in the physics class offered from 2018–2020 and therefore the STEM PBL that is the focus of the current study. In 2019, two classes of physics were offered. Seventeen students enrolled in each class, 34 in total. In those two groups, 17 (50%) students were White (non-Hispanic), 5 (14.71%) students were Hispanic, 3 (8.82%) were Asian, 3 (8.82%) were African American, and 6 (17.65%) students identified as "other." The race/ethnicity breakdown of the students was like that of other years. Of the 34 students in the physics classes, 31 were male and 3 were female. This gender distribution is different than other years. For example, in 2018, there were 21 male students and 10 female students enrolled in the camp's two physics classes. For all three years, the students ranged from 6th to 12th graders, with most of the students in 10th grade. All the students were from Texas. The STEM PBL described in this paper was developed and tested in the Aggie STEM summer camps of 2018, 2019, and 2020. This was done through collaboration between the teacher (first author) and researchers (other authors). As a major participant in classroom action research, the teacher actively taught and reflected upon teaching practices throughout implementation. The teacher has 4 years of experience teaching physics in a STEM summer camp setting as well as a master's degree in mathematics. He has also served as instructor and teaching assistant for courses for undergraduate preservice K–12 teachers for three years.

2.8. Observations of the Daily Use of DIME Maps and STEM PBL

The full STEM PBL activity took place during five 1.5-hour classes over the course of the five-day camp. During that time, students used DIME maps to research new vocabulary, formulas, and connections to inform their designs; designed and built prototypes; predicted, tested, and reflected upon results; upgraded their designs into final models; and competed for prizes.

In the following section, we provide a further breakdown of the lessons administered to the students in the physics course in a day-by-day basis and make connections to the engineering design model described previously. We also discuss how the DIME Map system was utilized to improve learning. This report represents a collection of naturalistic observations made by the teacher/researcher team to address the classroom action research question regarding how DIME maps can be integrated into a STEM PBL activity. Note that all timing comments are suggestions based on three years of experience teaching this activity eight different times. Timing can depend largely on the comfort level of the teacher, engagement of the students, and constraints of the classroom.

2.8.1. **Day One**

Day One began with an icebreaker (15 minutes). The teacher and students introduced themselves and learned interesting STEM-related facts about each other. The teacher asked probing questions to learn about students' backgrounds in physics. Students then took a prior knowledge quiz (15 minutes). This quiz helped the teacher identify what the students remembered from their science and physics classes. Once prior knowledge was assessed, the teacher was better able to scaffold what students knew to what they were learning throughout the week.

Next, an overview of the class was given (10 minutes). During this time, the teacher gave the project description: build a spinning object designed to compete in 5 categories: longest spin time, highest angular velocity, highest moment of inertia, most structurally sound, and most aesthetically pleasing. This part was analogous to a client specifying the criteria for the desired product to begin an engineering design process. The teacher then gave a brief overview of the concepts that would be explored. Concepts included angular displacement*, angular velocity*, angular acceleration, moment of inertia* (a.k.a. rotational inertia), centripetal forces, centrifugal force, angular momentum*, rotational kinetic energy*, and possibly torque and gyroscopic precession (asterisks indicate critical topics).

In order to aid in their exploration of physics concepts, the DIME map was introduced (15 minutes). During this time, students created an account on the DIME

Map server and followed instructions given by the teacher to open the map. Figure 2.3 shows students learning to use the DIME map. The teacher guided students through major features of the DIME map, including clicking (to navigate through the textbook), dragging, hiding, deleting, and adding elements of the map.

Figure 2.3





The students were then given time to research (15 minutes). It may be a good idea to encourage students to explore and write notes in their engineering journals about angular displacement, angular velocity, and angular acceleration (if time permits). During the research phase, students identified potential design constraints that could affect their final designs. Some students noted that other spinning objects have equally distributed weight around the axis of rotation. Others investigated how more weight further from the axis of rotation seems to make an object spin longer. These observations and remarks from students not only influenced their design, but also allowed students to make connections between the math and science concepts to real world applications, exercising and expanding their problem-solving skills and creativity (Bicer et al., 2019). Throughout the week-long activity, students were encouraged to note formulas, units, examples, and connections to things they have encountered before.

Students ended the first day in the ideate phase of the engineering design process (20 minutes). Students looked at the building materials available and sketched design ideas. During this time, the teacher walked around, asked why students chose certain elements of their design, and gave prompts to encourage discussion and engagement in this process. We have learned that this process is critical if you need to run a shorter version of this STEM PBL. There are things that would be very hard for the students to know before testing their designs. For example, attempting to glue objects directly to the outside of the bearing usually failed. This fact can be learned by trial and error, discussion of practical considerations about structural integrity, or the teacher explaining how such attempts have failed in the past.

2.8.2. Day Two

Day Two began with the students using the DIME map to research new topics (25 minutes). Students explored concepts such as moment of inertia, which is an object's tendency to resist changes in angular velocity. Demonstrations and hands-on stations

helped to reinforce conceptual understanding. This was especially true for such a foreign concept as moment of inertia. We highly recommend using the following demonstration, easily performed with household items. The teacher took two similar broomstick handles, taped a water bottle to each end of one of the broomsticks, and then taped two more water bottles near the center of the other broomstick. The teacher then directed students to grip the broomsticks in the center and rotate them back and forth and note which one was easier to rotate. Because both broomsticks had the same mass, the only difference was the distribution of mass about the axis of rotation. For further topics to explore with demonstrations, we suggest angular momentum, law of conservation of angular momentum, and rotational kinetic energy as natural extensions of the topics the students cover each day. The DIME map can help teachers and students alike visualize the connections between concepts like these.

Armed with research on these new topics, students then returned to the ideate and analyze ideas phases of the engineering design process (15 minutes). The ideate phase allowed students to practice creative and divergent thinking (Bicer et al., 2019) to explore alternative creative designs that could potentially satisfy the demands of the task. At that point, the students had enough understanding to engage in discussions about what design considerations might make a spinner spin longer or faster. Several steps of the engineering design process then blended together as students alternated between research, creating ideas, and selecting the best ideas (see Figure 2.4).

37

Figure 2.4

Students Researching, Ideating, and Analyzing Ideas





A Student in the Build Phase



Students spent the rest of the time beginning to build their spinners using the available materials (50 minutes). Special instruction may be necessary for use of certain materials, including super glue, popsicle stick saws, and epoxy, as well as the proper way to handle bearings. Figure 2.5 shows a student working during the build phase with the available materials.

2.8.3. **Day Three**

Day Three began with the class using the DIME map together (30 minutes). During this time, the teacher asked review questions and conceptual understanding questions, and the students searched for associated concepts to answer. Next, the class researched two new concepts, centrifugal and centripetal forces, and their implications for designs. At this point, the teacher shared a video of a fidget spinner exploding from being spun too fast by an air compressor. The students learned that their builds must be structurally sound to withstand the internal forces that threaten to rip spinning objects apart.

The class ended with plenty of time to continue building (60 minutes). During this time, some students were able to begin spinning their objects and note problems such as weak connection points, asymmetric distribution of mass, and crafting materials that accidently found their way into the center bearing, causing unwanted extreme friction or complete lockup of the spinner. Students used this time to reflect upon and address these concerns and any others that arose during this lengthy build session.

2.8.4. **Day Four**

Day Four began with the students making a custom DIME map using the drag, hide, delete, and add element features (30 minutes). This process helped to ensure that students had identified important information in the map and were able to filter out the parts that were not. By designing their own maps, students found their individual maps more meaningful, and therefore more useful. An example of a student-created map can be found in Figure 2.6.

Figure 2.6

A Student-Created Concept Map Using the DIME Map System



Next the class discussed how to measure angular velocity and how to estimate moment of inertia (30 minutes). To encourage students to think critically about how to measure angular velocity, the teacher asked how one might measure linear (or traditional) velocity of a running student. Connections to measuring distance over a given time interval or measuring the time it takes to run a given distance will lead students to come up with solutions. Some students tried to measure the number of rotations of their spinning objects in a given amount of time. Others tried to see how much time it took to make a certain number of rotations. In either case, it was nearly impossible to physically measure a fast spinning object by eye. Therefore, the class needed to come up with an alternative.

Students attempted to research solutions. Some resources suggested measuring the frequency of oscillating sound near the spinner or measuring the frequency of interruptions of a laser pointing through the spinner and into a detector. Luckily, there is a much cheaper and more accessible method. Most popular cell phones have cameras that allow for slow motion video capture at one-fourth or one-eighth speed. By marking one leg of the spinner with colored tape, students were able to physically count the number of rotations a spinner makes in slow motion. It is important to note that many slow-motion cameras capture video at full speed at the beginning and slow down after about half a second. Therefore, care must be taken to measure accurately.

With one student recording, one student holding the spinner, and a stopwatch in the background of the video, groups were able to measure the angle velocity of their spinners following given instructions: 1. Spin the spinner, 2. Start recording, 3. Start the stopwatch, 4. Stop recording after the stopwatch hits 5 seconds, 5. Count the number of rotations made between the stopwatch starting and 5 seconds, and 6. Divide that number by 5 to get the average rotations per second (convert to radians per second if desired).

The remainder of the time was used to continue testing and refining designs (30 minutes). At the end of this phase, most students had created a final product ready for testing and measurement. Because of the openness of the task, students were able to creatively explore multiple designs (See Figure 2.7).

41

Figure 2.7

Multiple Creative Designs as a Result of STEM PBL



2.8.5. Day Five

Day Five began with final adjustments to the built spinners and a final write-up about the design of their spinners (45 minutes; see Figure 2.8). In the process of completing the final write-up, students engaged in the communicate and reflect phase of

the engineering design process. Students discussed with each other what aspects of their design they focused on. Some mentioned the ways in which they designed their spinner to spin faster. Others mentioned the connections between angular momentum, moment of inertia, and spin time for their spinning objects. Students helped each other measure the angular velocity and estimate the moment of inertia of their spinners. The process of estimating moments of inertia was taught to students. The total moment of inertia about an axis is equal to the sum of the individual contributions of moment of inertia by each mass. As shown in a student's work in Figure 2.8, stacks of pennies were considered point masses with measurable mass and radius from the axis of rotation. These stacks of pennies contributed a significant portion of the total moment of inertia. Students also estimated the contribution from the remainder of the mass by subtracting the weight of point masses and the weight of the bearing from the total weight of the spinner. They used a formula for moment of inertia of the remaining mass by approximating the geometric shape of the mass assuming even distribution. Once a student had estimates of their spinner's angular velocity and moment of inertia, they calculated its angular momentum and rotational kinetic energy. Comparing these values to those of other spinning objects helped students make meaningful connections.

Figure 2.8



Final Write-Up Sheet for Students to Communicate and Reflect on Design Process

Next, students competed in contests and compared calculations (45 minutes). After competing for longest spin time, the class discussed what design considerations helped improve spin times. This also doubled as time for students to engage further in the communicate and reflect phase of the engineering design process. Students then compared their measurements of angular velocity and moment of inertia and again discussed what principles were at play. Awards were given to students whose spinners had the "highest angular velocity" and "highest moment of inertia." Finally, the class voted on "most structurally sound" and "coolest" awards. By engaging in the final contests and discussions, and writing up their design sheets, the students practiced the communication and reflection step in the engineering design process.

2.9. Evaluation

Through this classroom action research study, we worked as a teacher/researcher team to develop a strategy for implementing the STEM PBL activity and maximizing students' use of DIME maps to research and explore new concepts and engage with the engineering design process. Based on our observations and semi-structured interviews with focus group participants, we identified several key features of the DIME maps that, when used within a STEM PBL activity, allowed students to engage with the information in their textbook, retain key course concepts, and learn how these concepts were interrelated.

For students in the focus group, the DIME map functions as a literal map for learning that allows students to quickly navigate to and read about related topics in the textbook. One student recalled how the DIME map and textbook were displayed side-byside with the DIME-map on the right, "it shows you different topics. You can click on it and it'll tell you about it a bit and you can just click on each circle and it tells you, it gives you some information on the left, on, like, the textbook." Each DIME map is a complete summary of a chapter or the entire book, depending on the view, and is linked to the textbook. By clicking on a concept in the DIME map, students can go directly to the introduction of the concept in the book, which helps them to make connections and bridge understanding. The DIME map is presented alongside the PDF textbook, and clicking on the map navigates to the corresponding section of the textbook in the PDF display. One student said of using this feature, "When I couldn't find something because I didn't know the word or name, I would just click it [the symbol] and it would take me there [to a place in the book dealing with what I clicked on]... I could kind of figure it out on my own." Students felt that being able to find the information in the book and so sometimes being able to read ahead helped make concepts clearer. One student remarked, "The main thing was just being able to click on things and, like, open them up in the PDF so you can read about it... no matter where in the book it was." This primary feature of DIME maps satisfied the need for navigation functions in interactive electronic textbooks (see Choi & Lam, 2018). Students seemed to feel comfortable using the DIME map to both control their own learning and facilitate their understanding.

Second, students were able to manipulate the DIME maps, rearranging nodes and hiding concepts or links to focus on key concepts. Importantly, each of the individual user interactions, such as clicking, dragging, and searching, were recorded as click analytics, which can provide large data sets to analyze students' efforts, focus, and use of interventions in future studies (Liberatore et al., 2020). Students used these interactive features to rearrange the information in ways that were meaningful to them (see Figure 2.6). One student noted how "everyone sees it different ways" and "That's how I rearranged it," referring to their rearrangement of the map. By rearranging the DIME map, students were able to create a representation that more closely followed the way they understood the information and the way new information fit with their prior knowledge.

As a graphic organizer, DIME maps helped students to visualize connections between knowledge. Studying and creating concept maps has been shown to lead to deeper, more meaningful learning (Ausubel, 1968; Hill, 2005; Novak, 1998). One student described their experience researching topics using the DIME map the following way: "It has a graphic organizer type of panel on the side where you can see the different links that all the concepts have to different other concepts and definitions, ideas and stuff. And then you can, you can focus on the concepts on the right." Another student commented how the DIME map is "like a chart with math concepts and other concepts that are related to it." By presenting the core mathematical concepts contained in the chapter in a single map, the DIME maps allowed students to "see everything;" a feature that students described as "very simple, but in a good way. I just like how I can see all the connections." Another student, when asked how they felt about the DIME maps, expressed,

I liked DIME maps because it had, like, all the information there and easy to get to. With, like, everything showing how they're connected... What I liked about it mostly was because everything was, like, well organized. So I could, if I was wanting to learn more about the topic, I could like see how everything's connected.

47

As an alternative visual representation of the knowledge contained in textbooks, DIME maps allowed for better assimilation of new concepts into existing knowledge structures by more closely resembling the interconnected nature of knowledge.

Students were metacognitively aware of their learning using the DIME Map. Students expressed this idea in many different ways but characterized the process through various aspects of the tool. For example, in a discussion on angular momentum, a student explained how he would attempt to explore the concept: "I'll go to... I'll search for linear momentum." The learning step then would typically involve rather dense vocabulary and often a difficult to comprehend definition. The student explained the definition well though: "It's the product of a system's mass multiplied by velocity and directly proportional to the direction of the object's mass..." Despite the complexity of the subject matter under investigation, the student believed that the DIME Map lowered the threshold of acquiring new knowledge and that it could make the content more readily understandable.

The use of the DIME Map also allows students to link both text and equations, but, most importantly, salient diagrams or graphical information is also preserved, thereby maximizing students' ability to draw their own conclusions and express their understanding in their own terms. The ability to create their own definitions also empowered the students in their learning and allowed them to make the learning more direct and require less effort. One student mentioned how before DIME maps, they would often search Google when encountering a new concept. However, with DIME maps, "you could eliminate that second Googling step, if I don't know what linear momentum is by using, like, just simple terms, like break it down into the basic form of having the linear momentum definition within that sentence maybe or something to that equivalent [like in the DIME Map]". Using the DIME Map provided several affordances, first, it linked all the learning about a topic regardless of where it appeared in the book (graphical, text, and algorithms), it reduced dependency on outside and lessefficient sources, and, finally, it provided students with the ability to have more control over how they learn.

As a self-guided learning tool, DIME maps are particularly situated to assist in learning, especially when students are exploring knowledge at their own pace, such as in STEM PBL. Students expressed their appreciation for having the DIME map to help with the research phase. For example, one student said, "I just really liked you giving us the tools to find the information and having us get the information." The DIME map helped that student to visualize, search for, and apply knowledge to the design and build of their spinning object. Yet it was the design of the object that helped students make concrete connections between their learning and the real world. One student commented, "I feel like at the beginning I was kind of confused, but then, like, while making the fidget spinner made, ... it like brought everything together." For the students who participated in this activity, the DIME map and STEM PBL served complimentary roles. The DIME map helped students make connections between concepts, while the STEM PBL helped students make connections from concepts to experiences and observations. In this way, DIME maps and STEM PBL worked hand-in-hand to engage students in meaningful learning.

2.10. Conclusion

There are a few main takeaways for teachers and researchers interested in implementing DIME maps, STEM PBL activities, or both in their own classrooms. As an educational technology, DIME maps helped students make connections between and within their knowledge, assisted in navigating the textbook and self-guided research, and allowed students to personalize the map to fit their individual learning needs.

The key principles of engineering design can be found throughout the STEM PBL activity. By building on these engineering design principles, STEM PBL activities have the potential to improve students' learning, interest, and engagement in STEM and 21st century skills (Bicer et al., 2019; Morgan et al., 2013). An added bonus in this STEM PBL activity was how students enjoyed the collaborative nature mixed with individual research time. One student noted that "half of it felt like a 'class-class' as it should be. And then half of it was, you know, like fun time with your group." In the STEM PBL activity presented in this study, students engaged in all parts of the engineering process from the identify problems and constraints phase to the communicate results phase. By utilizing a design phase and reducing the numbers of trial and error opportunities, we noticed that students were more careful and less likely to make errors. When given less time and trial and error attempts, students worked harder to make sure each build phase was used as efficiently as possible. Through this process, we were able to observe the students plan carefully and efficiently, a staple benefit from learning using the engineering design process (Morgan et al., 2013). Throughout the

STEM PBL activity described in this paper, we observed students engaging in the engineering design process.

Finally, we would suggest that the use of DIME maps and STEM PBL together can be a powerful tool for any content in physics, science, or STEM in general. From our observations, we believe that DIME maps can be used to their greatest potential when exploring content with large amounts of mathematical variables, expressions, formulas, and equations intertwined with the physical concepts. DIME maps can assist in the research, ideate, and analyze ideas phases of the engineering design model. The characteristics of DIME maps make them perfect candidates for boosting self-guided learning. Second, the use of DIME maps enabled students who were unfamiliar with the concepts to visualize the interconnected nature of and relationships between physics concepts. Students commenting on how using DIME maps helped them to see how "everything is connected to everything," illustrated the way that the DIME map assisted students in making connections within their knowledge. This finding was consistent with prior research that has shown that students are better able to make meaningful connections when using concept maps as opposed to rote memorization (Cliburn, 1990; Novak, 1998; Novak & Musonda, 1991). Thus, we were able to observe how DIME maps and STEM PBL could be implemented together to improve students' engagement in the engineering design process and understanding of concepts.

2.11. Limitations and Practical Implications

There are four interrelated implications for this study. First, this activity is an example of the potential for artificial intelligence to scaffold learning in ways we have

not yet imagined. Second, once children are freed from linear presentations of knowledge, they show a great deal of autonomy over and identity with the content they are learning. Third, the instrument pushes the limits on how to achieve a truly customized learning plan for every student in class. This instrument bridges language, learning styles, and memory issues without stigmatizing students who learn differently or at different rates. Finally, the instrument's ability to develop maps and allow flexibility in learning by encouraging students to customize it creates a learning efficiency that cannot be duplicated by book indices or using only tabs to create physical links to facilitate learning. These four key practical outcomes lay a foundation for continued work and the unpacking of these ideas through small, targeted studies where specific aspects are controlled and outcomes are measured.

These outcomes are limited to the sample and setting from which the data were gathered. This work should not be generalized to the population as a whole or to groups of students who are not inquisitive about learning, reluctant to use technology, or who have physical conditions not conducive to using electronically generated and presented DIME maps. Further work needs to be conducted to determine if there are any benefits for second language students or students with minor to moderate reading difficulties or comorbid reading and mathematics difficulties. We propose that further studies investigate the use of DIME maps in STEM PBL. As technology, and artificial intelligence in particular, becomes more advanced, we expect DIME maps to become a powerful tool in the processing and teaching of mathematical material from textbooks.

2.12. References

- Akleman, E., Barroso, L., Capraro, M. M., Creasy, T., Fleming, K., He, W., Hong, L., & Williams, A. M. (2019). Recycling plastics: middle school students create solutions during a summer camp, *European Journal of STEM Education*, 4(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.20897/ejsteme/6341</u>
- Ausubel, D. P. (1968), *Educational Psychology: A Cognitive View*. Rinehart and Winston.
- Beyette, D. J., Rugh, M. S., Lin, J., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Liu, J.-C., & Capraro, R. M.
 (2019). DIME: a dynamic interactive mathematical expression tool for STEM education. *126th Annual Conference and Exposition for the American Society of Engineering Education (ASEE)*.

https://asee.org/public/conferences/140/papers/25558/view

- Bicer, A., & Lee, Y. (2019). Effect of STEM PBL embedded informal learning on student interest in STEM majors and careers. *Journal of Mathematics Education*, 12(1), 57–73.
- Bicer, A., Lee, Y., Capraro, R. M., Capraro, M. M., Barroso, L. R., & Rugh, M. S.
 (2019). Examining the effects of STEM PBL on students' divergent thinking attitudes related to creative problem solving. *The 49th Annual IEEE Frontiers in Education (FIE) Conference*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE43999.2019.9028431</u>
- Bikowski, D., & Casal, E. (2018). Interactive digital textbooks and engagement: A learning strategies framework. *Language Learning & Technology*, 22(1), 19– 136. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10125/44584</u>

- Borrego, M. (2007). Development of engineering education as a rigorous discipline: A study of the publication patterns of four coalitions. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *96*(1), 5–18.
- Boyer, C. B., & Merzbach, U. C. (2011). A history of mathematics. Wiley.
- Cajori, F. (1999). A history of mathematics. American Mathematical Society.
- Capraro, M. M., & Joffrion, H. (2006). Algebraic equations: Can middle-school students meaningfully translate from words to mathematical symbols? *Reading Psychology*, 27(2), 147–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02702710600642467</u>
- Capraro, R. M., Capraro, M. M., & Rupley, W.H. (2010). Semantics and syntax: A theoretical model for how students may build mathematical mis-understandings, *Journal of Mathematics Education*, *3*(2), 58–66.
- Capraro, R. M., & Slough, S. W. (2013). Why PBL? Why STEM? Why now? An introduction to STEM project-based learning: An integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) approach. In R.M Capraro, M.M.,
 Capraro, & J. Morgan, (Eds.), STEM project-based learning: An integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) approach. Sense.
- Choi, P. M. S., & Lam, S. S. (2018). A hierarchical model for developing e-textbook to transform teaching and learning, *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*, 15 (2), 92–103.
- Clark, A. C., & Ernst, J. V. (2007). A model for the integration of science, technology, engineering and mathematics. *The Technology Teacher*, *66*, 24–26.

- Cliburn Jr., J. W. (1990). Concept maps to promote meaningful learning. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, *19*(4), 212–217. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id = EJ409289</u>
- Cross, N. (2000). *Engineering design methods: strategies for product design* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Daugherty, J. L. (2012). Infusing engineering concepts: Teaching engineering design. National Center for Engineering and Technology Education (NCETE).
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds). (2000). The sage handbook of qualitative research (2nd ed.). Sage.

Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and education. Macmillan.

Dym, C. L., & Little, P. (2009). Engineering design (3rd ed.), John Wiley and Sons,

- Han, S., Yalvac, B., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2015). In-service teachers' implementation and understanding of STEM project based learning. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 11, 63–76.
- Hill, L. H. (2005). Concept mapping to encourage meaningful student learning. Adult Learning, 16, 7–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/104515950501600302</u>
- Kelley, T. R. (2010). Optimization, an important stage of engineering design. *The Technology Teacher*, 69, 18–23.

Kilpatrick, W. H. (1918). The project method. Teachers College Record, 19, 319-335,

Kwok, M., Vela, K. N., Rugh, M. S., Lincoln, Y. S., Capraro, R. M., & Capraro, M. M.(2020). STEM words and their multiple meanings: The intricacies of asking a clarifying question. *Communication Education*, 69, 176–198.

Liberatore, M. W., Chapman, K. E., & Roach, K. M. (2020). Significant reading participation across multiple cohorts before and after the due date when using an interactive textbook. *Computer Applications in Engineering Education*, 28, 444– 453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cae.22210</u>

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.

Leake, D. B., Maguitman, A., Reichherzer, T., Cañas, A. J., Carvalho, M., Arguedas, M., & Eskridge, T. (2004). Googling from a concept map: Towards automatic concept-map-based query formation. In A. J Cañas, J. D. Novak, & F. M. González, (Eds.), *Concept maps: Theory, methodology, technology*. Proceedings of the First International Conference on Concept Mapping: Vol. 1, Universidad Pública de Navarra, Navarra, Spain.

http://cmc.ihmc.us/cmc2004Proceedings/cmc2004%20-%20Vol%201.pdf

Mayer, R. E. (1979). Can advance organizers influence meaningful learning? *Review of Educational Research*, 49, 371–383.

https://doi.org/10.3102%2F00346543049002371

Mettetal, G. (2002). The what, why and how of classroom action research, *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 22, 6–13.

https://search.proquest.com/docview/2387867098?accountid = 6724

Morgan, J. R., Moon, A. M., & Barroso, L. R. (2013). Engineering better projects. In R.
M Capraro, M. M Capraro, J. Morgan, (Eds.), STEM project-based learning: an integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) Approach. Sense.
- Moschkovich, J. (2013). Principles and guidelines for equitable mathematics teaching practices and materials for English language learners. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, 6, 45–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.21423/jume-v6i1a204</u>
- National Research Council. (2012). *A framework for k-12 science education: practices, crosscutting concepts, and core ideas*. The National Academies Press,
- National Science Board. (2010). Preparing the next generation of STEM innovators: identifying and developing our nation's human capital.

https://nsf.gov/nsb/publications/2010/nsb1033.pdf

- Next Generation Science Standards. (2013). *Appendix I: Engineering design in the NGSS*. <u>https://nextgenscience.org/resources/ngss-appendices</u>
- Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and see diagrams: Two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. *Instructional Science*, *19*, 29–52, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00377984
- Novak, J. D. (1998). Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations. Erlbaum.
- Novak, J. D., & Cañas, A. J. (2007). Theoretical origins of concept maps, how to construct them, and uses in education. *Reflecting Education*, *3*, 29–42.
- Novak, J. D., & Musonda, D. (1991). A twelve-year longitudinal study of science concept learning. *American Educational Research Journal*, 28, 117–153. https://doi.org/10.3102%2F00028312028001117
- Rugh, M. S., Wang, X., Lin, J., Barroso, L., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2019, April). Computer generated dynamic graphic organizer's effect on learning

outcomes. *The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) Research Conference*, San Diego, CA.

- Rugh, M. S., Calabrese, J. E., Madson, M. A., Capraro, R. M., Barroso, L. R., Capraro, M. M., & Bicer, A. (2018). STEM language can be the stem of the problem.
 Proceedings of the 49th annual Frontiers in Education Conference, 2018, 1–7.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE.2018.8659231</u>
- Seely, B. E. (2005). Patterns in the history of engineering education reform: A brief essay, National Academy of Engineering (Ed.), *Educating the engineer of 2020: Adapting engineering education to the new century*, The National Academies Press.

3. A FIRST LOOK AT EFFECTIVENESS: DIME MAPS—THE EVOLUTION OF CONCEPT MAPS

Graphic displays of information have long been critically examined for their ability to improve students' learning and retention of new information. Traditionally, graphic displays of information include concept maps, flow charts, semantic maps, tree diagrams, and other organizers dealing with the display of information graphically in a meaningful way (Guo et al., 2020; Horton et al., 1990). In education settings, graphic displays of information can be provided as advance organizers prior to students' learning to provide a road map for potentially challenging material (Ausubel, 1968; Chuang & Liu, 2014; Githua & Nyabwa, 2008). Indeed, there is evidence that when introduced to the material beforehand, students learn more from lectures covering difficult concepts (Schwartz & Bransford, 1998; Stelzer et al., 2009). Concept maps have also been shown to reduce cognitive load by providing students an alternative visual representation of connections between ideas or concepts (Hill, 2005; Novak, 1998; Özmen et al., 2009; Stull & Mayer, 2007). The cognitive theory that underpins most research on the use of graphic organizers is that advance organizers allow students to link previous knowledge to new knowledge, creating knowledge schemas (Ausubel, 1968). The intervention used in this study can be considered an automatically computer-generated concept map or graphic organizer of mathematical knowledge. Underlying this study is the idea that students are better able to meaningfully learn when they can interactively engage with material and connect new learning to prior knowledge and future goals.

3.1. Background and Framework

Having the ability to access, apply, and connect various mathematical equations is useful in helping individuals understand the topics that these equations describe. This is because equations are a way of writing and making sense of formal mathematical concepts (Wang & Liu, 2017). Graphic organizers have been used to assist students in making sense of new, formal concepts across many subjects, mathematics included. Graphic organizers have the potential to improve learning and retention by making new, abstract material more concrete and by making connections between prior knowledge and new information (Ausubel, 1968; Dexter et al., 2011; Mayer, 1979). By building on a strong foundation of educational theories and practices, we explore the use of Dynamic and Interactive Mathematics Expressions (DIME) maps to enable students to meaningfully learn and engage with their educational materials.

3.1.1. Theoretical Framework

The theoretical underpinnings of this study can be traced to two origins: the assimilation theory of learning and research on concept maps. The assimilation theory of learning is based on the idea that meaningful learning occurs when students assimilate, or anchor, new concepts into their existing prior knowledge structure (Ausubel, 1968; Ausubel & Robinson, 1969; Ausubel et al., 1978; Gardee & Brodie, 2021). This theory frames the world around us as a web of interconnected thoughts and ideas. Through this lens, rote memorization is found to be a poor substitute for meaningful learning, as it requires the learner to memorize a fact or formula without connecting it in any meaningful way to their past experiences or knowledge. Knowledge acquired during rote

learning has a weak association with one's pre-existing knowledge structure and is, therefore, not stable enough to remain in long-term memory.

Developed in accordance with the assimilation theory of learning, concept maps provide opportunities for students to visualize the interconnections between the concepts they are presented (Novak, 1990, 2004). With concept maps, concepts are represented as nodes and relationships between ideas are represented as links. The resulting map shows the interconnections between these ideas (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Developments in technology have allowed concept maps to become interactive, further increasing the potential for student engagement in learning; and both traditional concept maps and interactive concept maps have been associated with positive gains in cognitive and affective measures (Schroeder et al., 2018). By building on the research of these components, we propose that DIME maps have the potential to improve student learning.

3.1.2. **DIME Maps**

With the intent to help students learn mathematical ideas, a team of computer science engineering researchers developed the DIME Map system (Beyette et al., 2019; Rugh et al., 2021; Rugh et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018). The DIME Map system provides a road map of interconnected topics and equations. Theoretically, DIME maps, like concept maps before them, should reduce the cognitive load inherent in learning new material, enabling students to acquire new knowledge at faster rates and establish enduring understandings of the interrelationships between their knowledge.

This "road map" of interconnected topics manifests itself through the DIME map, which uses links, arrows, and spatial arrangement to highlight both key concepts and structural relationships (see Figure 3.1). The DIME Map system removes redundant elaborations found in texts and covers only the key fundamental concepts expressed in equations bounded with words. In other words, the DIME Map system finds mathematical objects (e.g., variables, expressions, and equations) and identifies them using the surrounding text, even when there are many other unrelated words in the surrounding sentences. It then automatically creates a map that displays the interconnection of mathematical equations and expressions from this information, specifically identifying the in/out relationship of concepts through the use of arrows. It also uses the semantics established throughout the document to accurately identify and connect elements of the expressions and equations, creating a smooth continuity of meaning across presentations. Previous researchers examined the automatic generation of concept maps using natural language processing (Atapattu et al., 2017; Shao et al., 2020), but the DIME Map system is focused on mathematically based concepts. Additionally, the relationships in a DIME map are well defined in that one concept builds into or is a component of the concept it is connected to.

Figure 3.1

An Example DIME Map



Note. A typical DIME map shows concepts as circular nodes and relationships between concepts with linking arrows.

In addition to being automatically generated, DIME maps differ from manually constructed and visually static concept maps in the way that users engage with them. Users can customize their maps interactively to meet their own conceptual needs. This is possible because the DIME map is housed inside an elastic container that allows users to see the DIME map displayed side-by-side with the original portable document format (PDF) text document (see Figure 3.2). The elasticity of the map further allows it to hold large amounts of content while also providing a convenient way for users to move the map's display through panning and zooming in towards or out from operations. Furthermore, the placement of the mathematical objects within the map follows the principle of spatial affinity for connected concepts, which is in accordance with humans' spatial perceptions. The density of the nodes can be adjusted to make best usage of the space and avoid overlapping. A user can also customize the spatial arrangement of partial nodes to meet their own conceptual understanding. The nodes are linked back to the text as well, and clicking on a given node will navigate the PDF display to the first occurrence of the associated mathematical concept. Students and teachers can additionally "hide" a node from the map that they regard as less important for the current educational encounter.

Figure 3.2

DIME CONTACT DIME MAP LOGOUT 1 / 1 | - 96% + | 🗄 🔊 $\Delta s/r = \theta$ Angle Of Rotation 10 ROTATIONAL MOTION AND ANGULAR r Radius m Point mass Torque, Rotational Analog of Newton's Second $\tau = mr^2$ net T Angular Acceleration $l = \sum mr^2$ Moment Of Inertia net $\tau =$ $\frac{\Delta L}{\Delta t}$ Rotational Kinematic Equation θ Angle L = Iw. Angular Momentum $\alpha = \frac{\Delta \omega}{\Delta t}$ Angular Acceleration Δt Change in Time $E_{rot} = \frac{1}{2}I\omega^2$ Rotational Kinetic Energy Angular Velocity $w = \frac{\Delta \theta}{\Delta t}$, otential Energy

A DIME Map (Right) and PDF Textbook (Left)

Note. This figure provides a visual example of how a DIME map is displayed next to original text. Not intended to be readable.

Those using the DIME Map system can interact with their maps through multiple features. Users can search for words and mathematical expressions directly to locate certain pieces of information, and matched information found through the search function will be highlighted in both the DIME map and PDF text document. This is because each DIME map is synchronized with the original material through side-by-side displays and color coding. Because of this, users can also navigate to the original materials in the PDF text document by clicking on the mathematical object in the DIME map. Additionally, when studying the building components and usage of certain concepts, students can simply click on a node to focus the map and text on that concept. After the click, the textbook page where that concept is introduced is displayed, mathematical objects directly related to that concept will be highlighted in the DIME map, and unrelated concepts will fade out by using transparency (see Figure 3.3). Finally, a snapshot of the user-made arrangement can be taken for personal records or for sharing with others. If space is limited, as with a tablet or phone, the PDF text document or the DIME map can be hidden. Redundancy input options, such as buttons, are provided for users using touch screens or touch pads. DIME maps are dynamic and interactive and, therefore, potentially more engaging and useful than traditional concept maps. The purpose of this small-scale pilot study was to demonstrate DIME maps are an appropriate alternative to traditional instruction that does not utilize the DIME Map system.

Figure 3.3



A DIME Map and PDF Textbook Focused on One Concept

Note. This figure provides a visual example of the navigation feature of DIME maps clicking on a concept in the map highlights related concepts and navigates the user to the introduction of that concept in the text. Not intended to be readable.

3.1.3. Research questions

As computer-generated concept maps, DIME maps already possess the potential to reduce a teacher's workload. The additional dynamic and interactive features, however, suggest potential to improve student learning as well (Rugh et al., 2021). Therefore, we focused on the following research questions:

 Is there a multivariate relationship or pattern between using DIME maps and two learning outcomes for students: self-efficacy towards learning physics and understanding connections between content knowledge? 2. How do students feel about using DIME maps—what aspects of DIME maps do students consider helpful or harmful to their learning process?

3.2. Materials and methods

We employed a mixed methods design that included a small-scale pretest/posttest control group design for the quantitative phase as well as observational and interview data for the sequential qualitative phase. The subsequent qualitative phase was used to support the quantitative exploration in order to learn more about this novel educational technology and examine the quantitative results; such a design can be expressed symbolically by QUAN \rightarrow qual to describe the precedence of the quantitative phase, both temporally and in terms of contribution to the outcome (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2009; Morse, 1991). The sample (n = 31) included high school students who were randomly assigned into one of two groups: an experimental group that had access to DIME maps and a control group that did not. Both groups engaged in project-based learning (PBL) in order to encounter and explore the mathematical and physical concepts involved in fixed axis rotation. A control group design was implemented to account for other potentially impactful moderators, such as PBL, which has been shown to have a significant positive effect on student learning (Bicer et al., 2015; Chen & Yang, 2019). Posttest scores minus pretest scores constituted participants' growth scores. We then analyzed these growth scores using a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) in SPSS 24, which is appropriate for the analysis of two closely related dependent variables (Warne, 2014). In this case, a MANOVA is justified because selfefficacy in physics has been found to be positively related to knowledge outcomes in

physics (Sawtelle et al., 2012). In-class observations and sequential qualitative interviews allowed us to examine the results of the quantitative portion of the study.

3.2.1. Participants and setting

There were 31 high school participants who signed up to take a physics class during a summer camp designed for science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM)-oriented students in 2018. Students chose four of eight possible classes to engage in while attending the summer camp. They were then immersed in 1.5-hour daily sessions for each selected classes (four or five days total). Students who selected the physics class were randomly assigned to one of two groups: 15 were assigned to the control group (five female students and ten male students), and 16 were assigned to the treatment group (five female students and eleven male students). Both the treatment and the control group made use of PDF textbooks during the class, but the treatment group were also able to use the DIME Map system alongside the textbook. The physics behind fixed-axis rotation comprised the content covered in the class. None of the students had taken a physics class in school. Detailed demographics for the participants in this study were as follows: 10 (32%) female and 21 (68%) male; nine (29%) Hispanic or Latino and 22 (71%) White (non-Hispanic); 10 (32%) in 9th grade, seven (23%) in 10th grade, 11 (35%) in 11th grade, and three (10%) in 12th grade. An overall sample size of 31 was sufficient for use with a simple MANOVA (Jafar et al., 2016). Still the sample size was small, so there was concern whether we could examine interaction effects without significant likelihood of a Type II error. The a priori power analysis—with an estimated

effect size of $f^2(\lambda) = 0.25$, $\alpha = .05$, and power of 80%—indicated a sample size of five participants per group was sufficient.

The physics class was taught by a single instructor who was observed by at least two, but on some days three, researchers whose primary focus was to ensure that lessons were presented to the two groups in exactly the same fashion, with the same pacing, and using the same pedagogical strategies, ensuring continuity of the lessons. The purpose of using the same instructor was to avoid scripting, to reduce the cognitive load on the instructor, and to afford a more uniform implementation. The instructor was trained to use DIME maps by the development team, and the instruction for teaching students about the DIME maps was co-developed by the instructor and the research team.

3.2.2. Data sources

One pre/posttest for both *Self-efficacy* and Connections in Knowledge (*Connections*) was administered. The instrument was first vetted by research faculty in the Colleges of Science and Education who evaluated validity and alignment to the lesson content and objectives. There were four questions related to Self-efficacy, posed as 5-point Likert-type questions (see Appendix A). There were also five questions testing for Connections in Knowledge (see Appendix B). The Cronbach's alpha was sufficient across Self-efficacy ($\alpha = .8348$), and across Connections ($\alpha = .4286$). Self-efficacy was robust, yielding a strong positive internal consistency estimate.

Finally, at the end of the week-long intervention, we conducted semi-structured interviews with students who had used the DIME maps. By following an interview protocol (Knox & Burkard, 2009), we were able to pre-emptively consider what

questions we wanted to ask and uniformly ask the same questions to multiple participants. Some of the interview questions were included to inform the research team as to ways DIME maps could be improved in the future. See Appendix C for the full interview protocol. We conducted the interviews face to face. Three students were selected based on their high levels of interactions with the DIME maps throughout the week. For the purpose of confidentiality, they will be referred to under the pseudonyms Alice, Bailey, and Chris. We recorded audio from the interviews to later transcribe and analyze.

3.2.3. Data analysis

The quantitative data were analyzed using MANOVA, and the qualitative data helped to explain the results. The use of MANOVA to analyze the relationship between the treatment and both Self-efficacy and Connections are justified because these two dependent variables are closely correlated (Freedman, 1997; Warne, 2014). We also reported effect sizes because they are often referred to as the single best reporting strategy for quantitative methods and need not be reserved for when reporting a statistically significant result (Capraro, 2004; Fritz et al. 2012). To account for relatively small sample size and encourage future meta-analyses of these results, we calculated Hedges' (1981) bias corrected effect size (g) using the following equations:

$$s_p = \sqrt{\frac{(n_1 - 1)s_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_2^2}{(n_1 - 1) + (n_2 - 1)}}$$
$$g = \frac{M_1 - M_2}{s_p} \times \left(\frac{N - 3}{N - 2.25}\right) \times \sqrt{\frac{N - 2}{N}}$$

For these equations, we used the sample size (n_1) , mean (M_1) , and standard deviation (s_1) of the first group; sample size (n_2) , mean (M_2) , and standard deviation (s_2) of the second group; and total sample size $(N = n_1 + n_2)$ to calculate pooled standard deviation (s_p) and Hedges' bias corrected effect size (g). A standard statistical significance level, p = 0.05, was set for all analyses in accordance with traditional practice in education research.

For the qualitative phase, we used deductive thematic analysis to analyze the interview data to further investigate the findings from the quantitative analysis. Thematic analysis can be used "both to reflect reality and to unpick or unravel the surface of 'reality'" (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 81). We considered our initial interpretations of the quantitative analysis results to inform our assumptions about the nature of the qualitative data. We used a theoretical thematic analysis approach in that our coding of the qualitative data analysis was guided by our second research question. Themes were identified using a semantic approach by looking at specifically what the participants said (Braun & Clarke, 2006). To begin, three researchers transcribed the interviews and carefully read each response to identify meaningful units of text—words, phrases, or sentences that stood out to the coders as related to our second research question in some way. Next, we grouped the units together into tentative categories, discussed the categories, and decided on a final set consisting of five major themes. We then interpreted the themes to theorize their importance in relation to the quantitative findings and prior literature.

3.3. Results

The primary interest of this exploratory study was to determine if using DIME maps in some way mediated learning for the treatment group as compared to the control group. After the data were collected and analyzed preliminarily, it also became interesting to examine the effects of the DIME maps by gender. After the quantitative analysis, the interviews were examined using thematic analysis. The three coders identified five major themes that were related to the second research question.

3.3.1. Quantitative results

By using two-sample *t* tests, we determined that there were no statistically significant differences in pretest scores across *Self-efficacy* and *Connections* in Knowledge between the treatment and control groups nor between the female students of each group. Therefore, the pretest and posttest data were combined to form new variables, Self-efficacy growth and Connections growth (see Table 3.1), by subtracting the total for the pretest from the total for the posttest for each category. Additionally, boxplots indicated no univariate outliers, and tests for Mahalanobis distance indicated no multivariate outliers. Therefore, the MANOVA was a suitable choice for the data analysis. The adjusted R^2 effect sizes were small and relatively unimportant. Therefore, the random assignment and the pretest allowed us to conclude with reasonable certainty that any obtained effects were due to the intervention and use of the DIME map.

Table 3.1

	Self-efficacy Growth					Connections Growth				
	Control		Treatment			Control		Treatment		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
F	5	200	2.049	5	2.800	1.789	.200	.447	1.600	1.140
Μ	10	2.100	3.143	11	1.273	1.849	0.700	0.823	1.455	0.934
All	15	1.333	2.968	16	1.750	1.915	0.533	0.743	1.500	0.966
<i>Note.</i> $F = Female, M = Male, All = Males and Females Combined$										

Descriptive Statistics for Subgroups' Growth

Results from the MANOVA showed that statistically significant differences existed between groups (See Table 3.2). The overall model was statistically significant (p < .05), indicating a statistically significant difference in Self-efficacy growth and Connections growth based on the predictor variables: group (control vs treatment) and gender (female vs male) (F(6,52) = 2.38, p < .05; Wilk's $\Lambda = 0.616$). There was not a statistically significant interaction effect between group and gender on Self-efficacy and Connections (F(2,26) = 2.60, p = .094; Wilk's $\Lambda = 0.834$). The lack of a statistically significant interaction effect that the treatment may not have had different effects based on gender.

Table 3.2

Source	Wilk's A	df	F	p
Model	0.616	3	2.38	0.042
Residual		27		
Group	0.696	1	5.67	0.009
Gender	0.983	1	0.22	0.801
Group by Gender	0.834	1	2.60	0.094
Residual		27		

Results of the MANOVA on Self-efficacy Growth and Connections Growth

The standardized effects were computed using Hedges' g for all variables, including those that were not of primary interest to provide study information for future meta-analyses (see Table 3.3). Because no statistically significant differences were found between groups and subgroups on the pretest, effect sizes for multiple comparisons were calculated. DIME maps had positive effects on Self-efficacy growth (g = 0.158) and Connections growth (g = 1.052). In particular, female students who used DIME maps showed greater growth in Self-efficacy (g = 1.260) and in Connections (g =0.466) than female students in the control group. Finally, it is important to note that while a significant interaction effect between group and gender was not detected in the MANOVA, different outcomes were observed in the two groups when comparing female students and male students. In the control group, male students outperformed female students in Self-efficacy growth (g = 0.707) and Connections growth (g = 1.082). However, the opposite was observed in the treatment group, wherein female students outperformed male students in Self-efficacy growth (g = 0.737) and Connections growth (g = 0.129). These results suggest that using DIME maps may actually have had a larger

effect on female students than on male students, and this finding warrants further

investigation in future studies.

Table 3.3

Hedges' Bias Corrected Effect Sizes (g) for Growth in Self-efficacy and Connections

		Hedges' Bias Corrected Effect Sizes (g)		
	n	Self-efficacy growth	Connections growth	
Control vs Treatment (Overall)	31	0.158	1.052	
Control vs Treatment (Female students only)	10	1.260	0.466	
Control vs Treatment (Male students only)	21	-0.297	0.930	
Female vs Male (Control group)	15	0.707	1.082	
Female vs Male (Treatment group)	16	-0.737	-0.129	

Note. Positive effect sizes indicate the second named group scored higher than the first.

3.3.2. Qualitative results

The three authors, including two professors and a graduate student, performed the initial coding of the interview transcripts. Once all three had initially examined the transcripts, we met together to discuss the list of codes until 100% agreement was achieved. We came up with 52 unique codes that described the interviewees' words, phrases, and sentences. From those 52 codes, we identified patterns and sorted them into five themes consisting of how DIME maps were considered a pre-assimilator of knowledge, led to improved accessibility, involved high interactivity, were a tool for empowering learners, and displayed initial complexity. We identified these themes as being particularly connected to answering our second research question. We then examined, in order of prevalence in the original interviews, the themes and their underlying codes and units, or codable portions of the transcribed interviews.

3.3.2.1. Pre-assimilator of knowledge

The first major theme we noticed was that DIME maps served the students as a pre-assimilator of knowledge-a tool that helped digest or breakdown complicated concepts, making them easier to learn. During the automatic creation of DIME maps, the DIME Map system breaks down the information contained in a PDF textbook chapter or document section and presents concepts along with the relationships between those concepts. In the DIME map, students can see how introductory concepts, usually in the form of individual variables, build into more complex concepts or equations. Those complex concepts are themselves connected to each other and to further complicated concepts. While describing how the map showed the connections between individual equations, Alice explained that using the DIME map "makes it easier to understand how everything has an effect on everything." Implied connections between concepts became explicitly represented in DIME maps. In this way, DIME maps served as an advance organizer of knowledge. Advance organizers have been found to be particularly useful for novice learners (Gurlitt et al., 2012), which can help explain why our novice students valued how DIME maps organized information for them. During the interview, Chris explained the following:

It allowed me to see the formulas which was always nice. Usually, when I read books like that, I have to find the formulas to write them out. This kind of just did that for me... It would definitely make learning through textbooks a lot easier.

Chris' description of how the DIME maps reduced effort connects directly to prior literature on advance organizers and reduction of cognitive load. Cognitive load theory assumes that learners have limited working memory (Baddeley, 1986, 1992; Kirschner, 2002). By presenting the interconnected nature of concepts, DIME maps reduce the extraneous cognitive load of finding and organizing formulas. Thus, students have access to more available working memory to focus on understanding the application of the concepts presented and any connections that they do not yet fully understand.

3.3.2.2. Improved accessibility

The second theme we identified was that DIME maps offered improved accessibility. There are many abilities that some students may lack and which we normally discuss when it comes to accessibility (visually impaired, language impaired, etc.). However, there is another, cognitive ability, which may be lower or higher for individual students due to varying opportunity and propensity. It is here that we see the DIME map making a larger difference. When asked whether DIME maps helped to learn differently, Alice responded:

I feel that it did [help me to learn differently] because once you see something visually, um, it kind of helps you get a better understanding. Because I'm a visual

learner, or visual and kinesthetic, so it helps me when I move the mouse around, and I see like how all the terms are connected to one another.

Alice appreciated having a visual organizer of knowledge with which she could interact. This result corresponds with decades of research that have shown graphic organizers of knowledge to be valuable for improving students' learning (Dexter et al., 2011; Horton et al., 1990). DIME maps helped students to see knowledge in different ways that they had never thought of before. For Bailey, this benefit was especially noticeable when extra information was hidden. She commented, "It made it so much simpler when you pressed on it and it only showed a few terms and you could actually look at it. It was better when it showed it like that." Complex concepts and relationships between concepts were made approachable and, therefore, more accessible. Chris confirmed this notion when describing how he thought that using DIME maps "definitely made it faster. I'm not sure it improved the learning, but it definitely made it faster which would allow you to learn more in less time." While he was not sure whether the depth of learning was improved, Chris noticed that he could learn faster using DIME maps. Graphic organizers in general have been shown to facilitate faster comprehension of study materials than text alone (Robinson, 1997; Ward & Marcketti, 2019). Students who used DIME maps noticed that DIME maps assisted in visualizing connections between knowledge and decreased time required to learn new material.

3.3.2.3. High interactivity

All of the interviewed students described the high level of interactivity available with DIME maps and how this improved their learning experiences. Alice was particularly impressed with the features of DIME maps, describing the benefits of an interactive system over a static textbook:

Yeah, I feel the textbook, it doesn't have as much... you can't really touch it or interact with it as much. It was really helpful to have [the DIME map] in front of you and see it and see if you move this strand here and if you move that strand there or whatever, you got to see, like, where it had impacts. Whereas in the textbook it would be really straightforward and you really wouldn't understand it as much. This kind of just sped up and made the learning process easier for me. Visual connections alone were not enough for Alice. She enjoyed being able to actively manipulate the map and watch how the strands would move. This feature helped Alice understand concepts were robustly interconnected.

Students expressed appreciation for other features of DIME maps as well. Bailey and Chris both expressed appreciation for the navigation and control features of the DIME maps. Bailey mentioned that she enjoyed "Clicking and being able to see connections. Clicking and then the textbook would make it go to that spot. That was good." Chris mentioned "Being able to highlight things and see where they are on the page." Both of these students could decide what they were interested in learning about and then use the DIME map to navigate the textbook and focus their learning. Another example of interactivity of the DIME maps was visible in its search feature. "I thought it was really good for finding one section," Bailey commented. Searching found instances of term occurrences in both the textbook and the map. These features correspond to the several types of interactivity described by Moreno and Mayer (2007) for multimodal learning environments: controlling, manipulating, searching, and navigating. However, it is important to note that interactivity alone is not sufficient to promote deep learning. The behavioral activity promoted by interactive elements does not necessarily accompany cognitive activity required for deeper learning (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). While we have seen that DIME maps offer high levels of interactivity, future research is needed to investigate what multimodal design principles are present in DIME maps and support deep cognitive processing.

3.3.2.4. Tool for empowering learners

Students expressed that using DIME maps generally empowered them as learners. A powerful example of this was seen with Alice, who decided to use the DIME maps to help her roommates:

I have my roommates, and they are in the same course as me, so all three of them, they were in a separate class that didn't have the map. So I found myself a lot at home, we would like look over our notes or whatever, and I found myself kinda helping them a little bit just because I understood it and they were still a little stuck on it... I showed them it for a little bit. They thought it was very difficult. They thought the map was difficult just because it had like so many things. Like strands. But once they kind of got the gist of it, it was good and it helped them as well... Also, they didn't know that some of them were connected. So like once they saw the chains light up, they were like oh!

Alice was empowered by the DIME maps to feel comfortable with her own understanding and use the tool to then teach her roommates. Peer teaching has been shown to be linked to higher self-efficacy for learning (Brannagan et al., 2013; Irvine et al., 2018) and deeper learning of concepts (Evans & Cuffe, 2009; Irvine et al., 2018). Personal performance accomplishments or mastery experiences have been shown to also improve self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977, 1997). That is exactly how Baily recalled her experiences using the DIME maps.

Throughout the class, students were asked to research specific concepts and share what they learned. When Bailey wanted to understand the concepts, she set out to know what the formula was and how it could be used. Bailey mentioned how "It was good to find the formulas and then you could see what connected to what and then branch out from there." For Bailey, DIME maps made the first step of the learning process easier. Through using DIME maps, Bailey was able to successfully explore relationships between concepts and learn more deeply. Even though she expressed having some difficulties early on, Bailey described how "At first, I was a little confused. But then after some time, I definitely liked it... I figured it out, and I understood." Her confusion was replaced with successful navigation of the complex material. This mastery experience helped Bailey feel more confident in her abilities to learn. Students who used DIME maps became more empowered learners.

3.3.2.5. Initial complexity

Students revealed that they initially found the visual presentation of DIME maps complex and confusing. When first opened, the DIME map originally showed all of the mathematical variables, expressions, and formulas contained in the physics textbook chapter (see Figure 3.2). One of the biggest lessons we learned was that this presentation of all of the mathematical objects and relationships was overwhelming for students. Bailey's comment that "At first, I was a little confused" was later followed by "It was just a little confusing to me because of all the... just seeing all the equations at once and then being surprised." She noted that one possible source of her confusion was because she "had never done any physics before." Without prior encounters with these concepts, she found the display of all of the concepts somewhat overwhelming. Chris also drew our attention to this issue in his interview when he described his first impressions of the DIME map:

It was kind of messy. It looked like a really useful tool, but it looked kind of messy and all jumbled up. There was this one point when I first opened it, that there were so many lines you couldn't see which line went to where. When there are so many objects and links between objects, students could not understand which concepts were connected. Thus, the benefits of DIME maps were overridden by confusion.

Alice also found the DIME maps to be complicated at first, stating, "Well, I thought it was really complicated, um, because of all the equations and symbols I didn't know. But once I started learning about it, I realized how it was kind of... all just connecting your learning." Too much information was clearly presented on the screen without a gentle introduction. Students initially experienced a heavy cognitive load. Excess visual load can lead to cognitive overload, where students' construction of internal connections between visual and verbal information is disrupted and some information is lost (Mayer, 1997). Interactive materials are especially prone to the issue

83

of presenting students with too much cognitive load (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). For the students who engaged with DIME maps, the initial confusion was eventually replaced with understanding. Alice told us the story of this progression: "Well, I thought it was really complicated, um, because of all the equations and symbols I didn't know. But once I started learning about it, I realized how it was kind of... all just connecting your learning." This seems to bring about a sense of expertise and educational independence—Alice was able to learn independently and then turn that knowledge into something she could translate as she taught her roommates. Both concepts, expertise and independence, seemed to be fueled by the self-efficacy that grew as an amalgamation of small events situated in the nexus of real-life instruction and affordances from artificial intelligence.

3.4. Discussion

Through this study we extend the research in three broader areas. First, it addresses important issues with the development of mathematical or symbolic language (see Esteve, 2008; Goldin & Kaput, 1996; Hiebert, 1988; Silver, 2017). By preassimilating the knowledge contained in textbooks and presenting it as an alternative visual representation, DIME maps make mathematical and symbolic language more accessible to students. As students interact with DIME maps, they observe the nuanced interplay of mathematical and symbolic language, once in the textbook and again in the DIME map. In this way, DIME maps have the potential to facilitate the development of a stronger understanding of the semantics and syntax of mathematics (see Capraro et al., 2010). Although people commonly claim that mathematics language is foreign to them, only recently has the importance of the disciplinary language been viewed as a potential gatekeeper to student mathematical success.

Second, this work addresses the broad research agenda of reading in the mathematics content area (see Moschkovich, 2007). By providing an alternative, visual representation of written text, DIME maps have the potential to improve learning for students who are not well served by traditional textual reading. The removal of barriers between lengthy expository text and student comprehension and translation into mathematical symbols means that DIME maps can be considered to be an equitable and accessible tool for underserved populations (see Moschkovich, 2013) or people with comorbid reading difficulties or dyslexia. In the control group for this study, male students outperformed female students on both growth in self-efficacy and growth in ability to make connections between tangentially and hierarchically related concepts. However, the use of DIME maps led to the exact opposite results in the treatment group, in which female students outperformed male students on both constructs. This interaction effect was not statistically significant, but due to the large differences in effect sizes, we suggest that replication studies measure the varying effects by gender of using DIME maps. Additionally, our sample was not sufficient to support conjectures about underserved students or those with comorbid reading difficulties, so future research might be directed toward these populations to determine if this affordance could make a meaningful contribution. The overall potential for this tool to address both the rate of learning and the depth of learning provides broader impacts across many different

85

student populations, including potentially those with learning difficulties, language minorities, and underserved populations.

Finally, this work addresses how connections between the text intended to teach mathematics and symbolic representations emerge for students (see Godino et al., 2007; Hiebert, 1988). DIME maps visually display the interrelationships between concepts. Students using DIME maps can simultaneously read about a concept and its related formulas while visually seeing the connections displayed on the right side of their screen across chapters and how those concepts develop. The intellectual importance of the software lies in the ability to better understand how students learn and think while browsing and learning from an interactive model.

Historically, concept maps and graphic organizers have been limited in how students can make use of them to meet their own individual academic needs. It is common to find concept maps and graphic organizers that are predesigned for students as an advance organizer or that are co-developed with a group of students as a classroom instructional strategy. The limitation in these forms of concept maps and graphic organizers lies in the lack of self-agency and customizability: these organizers are singular constructions designed for the class and are therefore not customizable to any particular student's needs. Such types of organizers are static and fully dependent on who designed the instruction or led the development. Although there is nothing wrong with this method, it is a proxy measure aimed at understanding whether concept maps improve student learning. Only now has technology afforded students the ability to interactively work with a textbook chapter to build dynamic and customizable maps of the content they are learning.

Like concept maps before them, DIME maps can provide a means to reduce cognitive load. Mathematics is becoming more complex, and the syntax and semantics of algebra often integrate aspects of other formulae (Capraro et al., 2010; Rupley et al., 2011). To approach such complexities, students using DIME maps can easily track a complex formula back through its development. For example, angular momentum is equal to moment of inertia multiplied by angular velocity. This relationship may sound simple, but it consists of several mathematical relationships that students must already know and understand. By using DIME maps, students are able to visualize and interact with the connections between concepts and meet immediate personal learning needs. Through future research analyzing the effects of DIME maps on larger groups and across more variables, DIME maps may prove to effectively improve understanding, retention of knowledge, and self-efficacy for high school students in mathematics.

3.5. References

- Atapattu, T., Falkner, K., & Falkner, N. (2017). A comprehensive text analysis of lecture slides to generate concept maps. *Computers & Education*, 115, 96–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.08.001
- Ausubel, D. P. (1968). *Educational psychology: A cognitive view*. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.

- Ausubel, D. P., & Robinson, F. G. (1969). School learning. An introduction to educational psychology. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Ausubel, D., Novak, J., & Hanesian, H. (1978). Educational psychology: A cognitive view (2nd ed.). Holt, Rinehart & Winston.

Baddeley, A.D. (1986). Working memory. Clarendon Press.

- Baddeley, A. (1992). Working memory. *Science*, *255*(5044), 556–559. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1736359
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Freeman.
- Beyette, D., Rugh, M. S., Lin, J., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Liu, J.-C., & Capraro, R. M. (2019). DIME: A dynamic interactive mathematical expression tool for STEM education. *American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--32664
- Bicer, A., Boedeker, P., Capraro, R., & Capraro, M. (2015). The effects of STEM PBL on students' mathematical and scientific vocabulary knowledge. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(2), 69–75.

Brannagan, K. B., Dellinger, A., Thomas, J., Mitchell, D., Lewis-Trabeaux, S., & Dupre,
S. (2013). Impact of peer teaching on nursing students: Perceptions of learning environment, self-efficacy, and knowledge. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*(11), 1440–1447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.11.018</u>

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.

https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Capraro, R. M. (2004). Statistical significance, effect size reporting, and confidence intervals: Best reporting strategies. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 35(1), 57–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/30034803</u>
- Capraro, R. M., Capraro, M. M., & Rupley, W. H. (2010). Semantics and syntax: A theoretical model for how students may build mathematical mis-understandings. *Journal of Mathematics Education*, 3(2),58–66.

Chen, C. H., & Yang, Y. C. (2019). Revisiting the effects of project-based learning on students' academic achievement: A meta-analysis investigating moderators. *Educational Research Review*, 26, 71–81.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.11.001

- Chuang, H. H., & Liu, H. C. (2014). Investigating the effect of different verbal formats of advance organizers on third graders' understanding of heat transfer concept. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology*, 2(1), 78–84.
- Dexter, D. D., Park, Y. J., & Hughes, C. A. (2011). A meta-analytic review of graphic organizers and science instruction for adolescents with learning disabilities:
 Implications for the intermediate and secondary science classroom. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 26(4), 204–213.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5826.2011.00341.x

- Esteve, M. R. M. (2008). Symbolic language in early modern mathematics: The algebra of Pierre Hérigone (1580–1643). *Historia Mathematica*, *35*(4), 285–301.
- Evans, D. J., & Cuffe, T. (2009). Near-peer teaching in anatomy: An approach for deeper learning. *Anatomical Sciences Education*, 2(5), 227–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ase.110</u>
- Freedman, M. P. (1997). Relationship among laboratory instruction, attitude toward science, and achievement in science knowledge. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 34(4), 343–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-</u> <u>2736(199704)34:4%3C343::AID-TEA5%3E3.0.CO;2-R</u>
- Fritz, C. O., Morris, P. E., & Richler, J. J. (2012). Effect size estimates: Current use, calculations, and interpretation. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 141(1), 2–18.
- Gardee, A., & Brodie, K. (2021). Relationships between teachers' interactions with learner errors and learners' mathematical identities. International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education, 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-020-10142-1</u>
- Githua, B. N., & Nyabwa, R. A. (2008). Effects of advance organiser strategy during instruction on secondary school students' mathematics achievement in Kenya's Nakuru district. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 6(3), 439–457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-006-9037-8</u>

- Godino, J. D., Batanero, C., & Font, V. (2007). The onto-semiotic approach to research in mathematics education. *ZDM*, 39(1–2), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-006-0004-1
- Goldin, G. A., & Kaput, J. J. (1996). A joint perspective on the idea of representation in learning and doing mathematics. In G. A. Goldin & J. J. Kaput (Eds.), *Theories* of mathematical learning (pp. 397–430). Erlbaum.
- Guo, D., McTigue, E. M., Matthews, S. D., & Zimmer, W. (2020). The impact of visual displays on learning across the disciplines: A systematic review. *Educational Psychology Review*, 32, 627–656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09523-3</u>
- Gurlitt, J., Dummel, S., Schuster, S., & Nückles, M. (2012). Differently structured advance organizers lead to different initial schemata and learning outcomes.
 Instructional Science, 40(2), 351–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-011-9180-7</u>
- Hedges, L. V. (1981). Distribution theory for Glass's estimator of effect size and related estimators. *Journal of Educational Statistics*, 6(2), 107–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102%2F10769986006002107</u>
- Hiebert, J. (1988). A theory of developing competence with written mathematical symbols. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 19(3), 333–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00312451
- Hill, L. H. (2005). Concept mapping to encourage meaningful student learning. *Adult Learning*, *16*(3–4), 7–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F104515950501600302</u>

Horton, S. V., Lovitt, T. C., & Bergerud, D. (1990). The effectiveness of graphic organizers for three classifications of secondary students in content area classes. *Journal of Learning Disabilities, 23*(1), 12–22.

https://doi.org/10.1177%2F002221949002300107

- Irvine, S., Williams, B., & McKenna, L. (2018). Near-peer teaching in undergraduate nurse education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education Today*, 70, 60–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.08.009</u>
- Jafar, H. M., Salabifard, S., Mousavi, S. M., & Sobhani, Z. (2016). The effectiveness of group training of CBT-based stress management on anxiety, psychological hardiness and general self-efficacy among university students. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 8(6), 47. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539%2Fgjhs.v8n6p47</u>
- Kirschner, P. A. (2002). Cognitive load theory: Implications of cognitive load theory on the design of learning. *Learning and Instruction*, *12*(1), 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(01)00014-7

- Knox, S., & Burkard, A. W. (2009). Qualitative research interviews. *Psychotherapy Research*, *19*(4–5), 566–575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300802702105</u>
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2009). A typology of mixed methods research designs. *Quality & Quantity*, 43(2), 265–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-007-9105-3</u>
- Mayer, R. E. (1979). Can advance organizers influence meaningful learning? *Review of Educational Research*, 49(2), 371–383.

https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543049002371
Mayer, R. E. (1997). Multimedia learning: Are we asking the right questions? *Educational Psychologist*, 32(1), 1–19.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3201_1

- Moreno, R., & Mayer, R. (2007). Interactive multimodal learning environments. *Educational Psychology Review*, 19(3), 309–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-007-9047-2</u>
- Morse, J. M. (1991). Approaches to qualitative-quantitative methodological triangulation. *Nursing Research*, *40*(2), 120–123.
- Moschkovich, J. (2007). Using two languages when learning mathematics. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 64(2), 121–144. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-005-9005-1</u>
- Moschkovich, J. (2013). Principles and guidelines for equitable mathematics teaching practices and materials for English language learners. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, 6(1), 45–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.21423/jume-v6i1a204</u>
- Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and Vee diagrams: Two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. *Instructional Science*, *19*(1), 29–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00377984

Novak, J. D. (1998). *Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations*. Erlbaum.

Novak, J. D. (2004). Reflections on a half-century of thinking in science education and research: Implications from a twelve-year longitudinal study of children's

learning. Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 4(1), 23–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14926150409556595</u>

- Özmen, H., DemİrcİoĞlu, G., & Coll, R. K. (2009). A comparative study of the effects of a concept mapping enhanced laboratory experience on Turkish high school students' understanding of acid-base chemistry. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 7, 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-007-9087-6</u>
- Robinson, D. H. (1997). Graphic organizers as aids to text learning. *Literacy Research* and Instruction, 37(2), 85–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19388079809558257</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). Using DIME maps and STEM project-based learning to teach physics. *Interactive Technology* and Smart Education. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-07-2020-0109</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Wang, X., Lin, J., Beyette, D., Barroso, L. R., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro,
 R. M. (2019, April 3–6). *Computer generated dynamic graphic organizer's effect on learning outcomes* [Paper presentation]. 2019 Annual Research Conference of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, San Diego, CA, United States.
- Rupley, W. H., Capraro, R. M., & Capraro, M. M. (2011). Theorizing an integration of reading and mathematics: Solving mathematical word problems in the elementary grades: Mind, brain, and education. *Learning Landscapes*, *5*, 227–250. https://doi.org/10.36510/learnland.v5i1.543

- Sawtelle, V., Brewe, E., & Kramer, L. H. (2012). Exploring the relationship between self-efficacy and retention in introductory physics. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 49(9), 1096–1121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21050</u>
- Schroeder, N. L., Nesbit, J. C., Anguiano, C. J., & Adesope, O. O. (2018). Studying and constructing concept maps: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30, 431–455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9403-9
- Schwartz, D. L., & Bransford, J. D. (1998). A time for telling. *Cognition and Instruction*, 16(4), 475–522.
- Shahbari, J. A., & Abu-Alhija, F. N. (2018). Does training in alternative assessment matter? The case of prospective and practicing mathematics teachers' attitudes toward alternative assessment and their beliefs about the nature of mathematics. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, *16*(7), 1315–1335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-017-9830-6
- Shao, Z., Li, Y., Wang, X., Zhao, X., & Guo, Y. (2020). Research on a new automatic generation algorithm of concept map based on text analysis and association rules mining. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, *11*(2), 539– 551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-018-0934-9</u>
- Silver, D. S. (2017). The new language of mathematics: Is it possible to take all words out of mathematical expressions? *American Scientist*, *105*(6), 364–371.
- Stelzer, T., Gladding, G., Mestre, J. P., & Brookes, D. T. (2009). Comparing the efficacy of multimedia modules with traditional textbooks for learning introductory

physics content. American Journal of Physics, 77(2), 184–190.

https://doi.org/10.1119/1.3028204

- Stull, A. T., & Mayer, R. E. (2007). Learning by doing versus learning by viewing: Three experimental comparisons of learner-generated versus author-provided graphic organizers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(4), 808–820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.4.808</u>
- Wang, X., Lin, J., Vrecenar, R., & Liu, J.-C. (2018). QuQn map: Qualitative-quantitative mapping of scientific papers. ACM Symposium on Document Engineering, 2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3209280.3229116</u>

Wang, X., & Liu, J.-C. (2017). A font setting based Bayesian model to extract mathematical expression in PDF files. *Proceedings of the International Association of Pattern Recognition International Conference on Document Analysis and Recognition*, 14(1), 759–764.

http://doi.org/10.1109/ICDAR.2017.129

- Ward, J. L., & Marcketti, S. B. (2019). The effect of graphic organizers on learning outcomes, study efficiency, and student satisfaction in an elective veterinary cardiology course. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Education*, 46(3), 353–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jvme.0817-116r1</u>
- Warne, R. T. (2014). A primer on multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) for behavioral scientists. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, 19(17), 1– 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.7275/sm63-7h70</u>

4. IMPROVING SELF-EFFICACY WITH COMPUTER-GENERATED CONCEPT MAPS: ANALYSIS OF USER INTERACTIONS

Electronic and online learning have become mainstream and essential adaptions to the demands of the modern engineering classroom. Many students in primary to tertiary classrooms learn key course concepts via lessons mediated through technology and educational tools that provide e-learning content, interactive materials, and instantaneous feedback loops. However, the growth in popularity of technologyenhanced learning comes with a need for a better understanding of students' engagement with such learning tools. Through the research presented by Garrett et al. (2019), we have a better understanding about the institutional methods, activities, leadership, and individual roles necessary in effective online learning. Unfortunately, we still lack an understanding of the software tools being developed to bridge the gap between physical and virtual learning environments. As a result of this increasing demand and understanding of online learning, we have developed the Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) map software tool to assist teachers and students in or out of the classroom by automatically transforming mathematical textbooks into dynamic and interactive concept maps. Initial qualitative results on DIME maps (Beyette et al., 2019; Rugh et al., 2019) showed positive feedback about DIME maps and led to this study, an examination of students' interactions with DIME maps and their selfefficacy in physics.

Learning new concepts often relies on a student's attitudes, which can be broken down into three components: cognitive, affective, and behavioral (Ostrom, 1969; Rosenberg & Hovland, 1960). The cognitive component is related to the student's individual thoughts about the concepts being learned (Akinsola & Olowojaiye, 2008; Mensah et al., 2013), while the affective component is related to their feelings or emotions about learning new concepts (Ingram, 2015), which fuels their engagement in learning new concepts and is influenced directly by the cognitive component. Lastly, the behavioral component of attitude relates to how the student responds when assimilating and evaluating new concepts (Akinsola & Olowojaiye, 2008; Mensah et al., 2013). As a result, research indicates that a student's attitude towards learning is directly related to the student's ability to learn, that is, their ability to understand, remember, apply, analyze, and evaluate new knowledge (e.g., physics concepts and mathematical equations; Akinsola & Olowojaiye, 2008; Grootenboer, 2003; Ingram, 2015; Kerby, 2017; Lipnevich et al., 2011; Mensah et al., 2013; Mutohir et al., 2018; Rybczynski & Schussler, 2013; Sanchal & Sharma, 2017). However, understanding how to properly affect student attitude, and in particular self-efficacy, towards learning is an ongoing topic of investigation requiring innovative uses of technology and research findings on learning.

4.1. Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework that guided and continues to guide the development of DIME maps and their use in education is built on a foundation of research on assimilation theory of learning, concept maps, and interactive material (see Figure 4.1).

These components position DIME maps as educational tools to improve learning and

self-efficacy.

Figure 4.1





Note. DIME maps are built on a foundation of assimilation theory, concept maps, and interactive materials to promote improved learning and self-efficacy.

4.1.1. Self-Efficacy

For the purpose of this paper, we follow standard definitions of self-efficacy. We use self-efficacy to refer to a person's perceived belief about their ability to produce positive results in a given area (Bandura, 1994, 2006). Self-efficacy has been shown to be closely correlated with academic achievement or performance (Lane & Lane, 2001; Wood & Locke, 1987). In particular, self-efficacy in physics has been suggested as a statistically significant predictor for success in physics courses (Cavallo et al., 2004; Sawtelle, Brewe, & Kramer, 2012; Taasoobshirazi & Sinatra, 2011; c.f. Gungor et al., 2007). Unfortunately, self-efficacy often remains stable or even drops during physics courses rather than improve (Nissen & Shemwell, 2016). Thus, there is a need for learning interventions that teach physics while improving self-efficacy in physics learning.

There are two types of educational experiences that have been accredited for the development of self-efficacy beliefs in students-mastery experiences and vicarious learning experiences. Bandura and Schunk (1981) suggested that self-directed learning plays a role. When students are in control of their own learning, they set and attain personally meaningful goals. It may be that self-directed learning provides ample opportunities for mastery experiences, defined as opportunities for success or failure on given tasks. Mastery experiences in learning generally involve the students actively learning and engaging with their educational materials. As such, mastery experiences have been found to be a strong positive predictor of developing motivation and selfefficacy for learning (Bandura, 1994, 1997; Changeiywo et al., 2011). On the other hand, vicarious learning experiences occur when students are observers and not active participants in a given task (Sawtelle, Brewe, Goertzen, & Kramer, 2012). These vicarious learning experiences can involve other students, the teacher, interactive educational materials, or any other modeling of learning, knowledge, or understanding. All that is required is that students are not overtly performing the modeled activity directly (Bandura, 1965). Some researchers have suggested that vicarious learning experiences may contribute to self-efficacy to a greater degree than even mastery experiences (Sawtelle, Brewe, Goertzen, & Kramer, 2012; Sawtelle, Brewe, & Kramer,

2012). Together, mastery experiences and vicarious learning experiences can provide students with ample opportunities to improve in their self-efficacy as a learner.

4.1.2. Assimilation Theory

The primary foundation for DIME maps and how they interact with student learning is grounded in the assimilation theory of learning. Meaningful learning requires the development of long-term personal knowledge, and it has been theorized that assimilation is a key component of this process. Assimilation theory states that meaningful learning occurs when students anchor new learning by connecting it, or making links, to things they already knew or have experienced (Ausubel, 1963, 1968; Ausubel et al., 1978; Ausubel & Robinson, 1969). In this way, new knowledge is assimilated or integrated into a person's preexisting knowledge structure (Seel, 2012). As the number of links between preexisting and new knowledge increases, the learner is able to increase the strength of the associations in their knowledge structure. Through this process, new knowledge becomes a stable part of the learner's knowledge structure. The learner is then enabled to make connections between existing components of their knowledge structure and additional or more complex concepts, fostering the process of knowledge assimilation and in fact increasing the speed with which it can occur.

4.1.3. Concept Maps

The interconnection of knowledge by relationships can be imagined as a web or map where ideas are represented as nodes and relationships are represented as links. The process of creating such a visual representation is commonly referred to as concept mapping. Based on Ausubel's learning theory, concept mapping was developed to better represent the learning and knowledge structures of children (Novak, 2004; Novak & Cañas, 2008). In a traditional concept map, concepts are represented as nodes and relationships between concepts are represented as lines or links between the nodes. This visual representation of knowledge is a more accurate reflection of the internal knowledge structures imagined through the assimilation theory of learning than the linear representation provided by traditional textbooks. Concept maps are often given as an advance organizer prior to learning so that students can more easily visualize the connections between what they already know, what they are currently learning, and what they will be learning in the future (Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Schroeder et al., 2018). In this way, concept maps can act as a vicarious learning experience for students; students observe and reflect on the way that the concept map is organized. In addition, studying concept maps may reduce cognitive load for students as it makes the relationships between concepts and the hierarchical structure of knowledge explicit and visible (Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Novak & Cañas, 2008; Schroeder et al., 2018). In order to capitalize on these attributes, teachers have long used concept maps as a learning tool to improve instruction.

Concept mapping has been shown to be a powerful tool of instruction that can improve student learning over alternatives, such as traditional lectures, outlines and notes, and even comparison treatments (Horton et al., 1993; Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Novak, 1990). Students engaging in mapping their knowledge have reported strongly improved attitudes about learning (Hall & O'Donnell, 1996; Horton et al., 1993). Through both systematic review (Hartmeyer et al., 2018) and meta-analyses (Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Schroeder et al., 2018), concept mapping has been suggested as an advantageous strategy to improve learning. Because of this, additional studies have been conducted in the past decade involving interactive concept maps with a variety of settings, participants, and teaching strategies. Using interactive concept maps has been linked to affective gains (Chen et al., 2019; Hwang et al., 2011). The likely positive relationship between concept mapping and students' self-efficacy for learning justifies exploring advances in concept mapping technologies.

4.1.4. The Interactive Learning Materials

Another theoretical foundation for this work is research on interactive learning materials. In particular, the cognitive-affective theory of learning with media (CATLM) theorizes how learning takes place in a multimodal, and generally interactive, learning environment (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). Through CATLM, Moreno and Mayer (2007) described how "prompting students to actively engage in the selection, organization, and integration of new information, encourages essential and generative processing" (p. 316). Interactivity in educational technologies enable students to engage in meaningful learning experiences.

Traditional physics classrooms often consist of a professor leading a lecture and a laboratory session that is intended to enhance the assimilation of the lecture material. However, with the growth of online learning and technology, millennials (Gen Y 1977– 1995) and centennials (Gen Z 1996–TBD) often require different teaching methods than those used in previous generations, as they grew up in a predominantly digital environment. Thus, digitally interactive materials have become more relevant in education because of the increased availability of computers worldwide. In addition, studies have shown that online sources of information, such as e-books, increase the average student performance on quizzes by about 16%, exam grades by 16%, project grades by 16%, and can increase lesson effectiveness by 16% when compared to the performance of students receiving only traditional instruction methods (Edgcomb & Vahid, 2014; Edgcomb et al., 2015). As a result, researchers and teachers have developed many interactive techniques and methods to promote and improve learning in physics classrooms, such as tinkering (Conlin & Chin, 2016), MATLAB (Ross, 2018), project-based learning (Bicer & Lee, 2019; Capraro & Slough, 2013), sports (Sanchal & Sharma, 2017), conceptual physics courses (Rueckert, 2015; Smith et al., 2009), and advanced physics laboratory teaching (Kumarakuru et al., 2017). However, obtaining the physical tools and teaching experience required to implement methods such as tinkering (Conlin & Chin, 2016) and sports (Sanchal & Sharma, 2017) may not be readily available or accessible for most physics classrooms. In contrast, computer-based educational technology provides an affordable and accessible alternative for engaging students in interactive media-based learning. Interactive educational technologies allow for multiple opportunities for both mastery experiences through interactive elements and vicarious learning experiences by making explicit connections between new content and earlier text passages (Chi et al., 1994; Gholson & Craig, 2006). In this way, interactive materials have the potential to allow for meaningful learning gains. We hope to explore the relationship between students' interactions with DIME maps and their growth in selfefficacy in physics learning.

4.2. DIME Maps

As computer-generated dynamic digital concept maps, DIME maps provide an interactive and malleable visual learning tool for students and teachers (Beyette et al., 2019; Rugh et al., 2019). As with concept maps, DIME maps have the potential to reduce cognitive load, provide multiple representations of knowledge, and assist students in understanding connections between prior and newly assimilated knowledge, providing a vicarious learning experience where students can observe the connections made between concepts. These connections are derived from three core features that are extracted from the portable document format (PDF) textbook: mathematical objects (e.g., equations or expressions), declarations (e.g., word labels; Lin et al., 2019), and semantics (LaTeX). Together, these core features create the initial DIME map that adapts to teacher and student interactions and feedback. In an example DIME map without the textbook (Figure 4.2), the nodes represent mathematical objects and the edges (e.g., links or arrows) define the relationship between mathematical objects (concepts). Each DIME map is represented as a dynamic digital map that reflects the interconnected relationships between the mathematically based content of a given PDF document. Through DIME maps, students are enabled to freely explore and interact with mathematical concepts they are studying.

Figure 4.2





Note. Nodes represents mathematical objects and edges represent the relationships that connect mathematical objects

4.2.1. Creation of DIME Maps

The creation of DIME maps begins with identifying the existence of possible mathematical objects in PDF documents, which are generally much different than the natural language used to describe or define each mathematical object. Once identified, the mathematical object can be extracted, as well as its declaration and semantics (Wang et al., 2019). We define mathematical objects as a collection of characters that may represent a mathematical variable, expression, equation, or formula whose semantics (e.g., object meanings, order of operations, and logical syntax) are used to generate the corresponding LaTeX form. Declarations represent word meanings and word relations

for each mathematical object, such as a name, identifier, or definition, and are also automatically extracted and assigned to each mathematical object in the DIME map. The mathematical objects and their associated declarations are arranged in an organized manner with links connecting related mathematical objects. Figure 4.3 provides a brief systematic overview of the process used to create the DIME map.

Figure 4.3





Note. Rules define the relationship between mathematical objects (concepts)

As mentioned in Figure 4.2, edges (e.g., links or arrows) represent the relation or connection that binds two mathematical objects together, creating the final DIME map output. In traditional concept maps as originally defined by Joseph Novak, relationships between concepts are indicated by a word or phrase along the link between them (Novak, 1990; Novak & Cañas, 2008). Similarly, in DIME maps, links (edges) between mathematical objects are understood by the phrase "*build(s) into*," which indicates that a one object is used in the formulation of the equation for the next object. These relations can be thought of as a rule that is defined by humans on how the mathematical objects

should be connected together. The rule used during this study is defined as the following: Mathematical expressions or variables that exist on the *right-hand side* of an equation are said to *build into* the mathematical expression on the left-hand side of the equation.

In other words, any expression that is completely contained on the right-hand side of an equation will be connected to that equation by drawing an arrow (e.g., link or edge) from the expression to the equation containing that expression. Many other rules could be imposed to generate a different concept map as long as they can be well defined. It is important to note that an equation is composed of two or more expressions, so if the left-hand side of the equal sign is contained on the right-hand side of a different equation, it will build into that equation.

For example, a textbook might have the following text with an accompanying formula: "Force is the product of mass (m) and acceleration (a) as shown in the equation: F = ma." Note that the formula will often appear on its own line in textbooks. Before the DIME map is generated, the computer must first identify and extract the mathematical objects m, a, and F = ma from the sentence and then recover their declarations (labels) and semantics (LaTeX). The declaration for m is mass, acceleration for a, and force for F = ma, and each of these represent an individual node in the DIME map. However, the equation F = ma can be a little misleading for the computer, as the expression on the right-hand side of the equal sign may represent the single expression ma or the two expressions a and m. In addition, the declarations themselves may sometimes be misleading, as a single word (e.g. *force*) may have multiple meanings depending on the context (Rugh et al., 2018). Thus, semantics is used to understand the correct logical syntax of F = ma. Once the mathematical object and its declaration and semantics are extracted from the PDF document, the relationship rule can be used to connect them together (see Figure 4.4 for an example).

Figure 4.4





This process continues iteratively for every mathematical object that is extracted from the PDF document, causing the number of relationships between interconnected concepts to increase exponentially as more mathematical knowledge is introduced into the DIME map. To avoid a visually overwhelming and complex graph, additional rules and filters can be applied in order to select the nodes and edges that best reflect the current class objective.

An example DIME map and accompanying text (Figure 4.5) can give insight into what the DIME map system is, how DIME maps might appear to a student using it during class, and what students were using during this study. Each circle or node on the right is a mathematical object that shares a connection to other mathematical objects that they build into or build from. The map can be manually rearranged by students and teachers, and the latest versions of the system automatically adjust map appearances based on prior actions and feedback of students and teachers through machine learning (Beyette et al., 2019).

The map also serves as a new way to visualize and navigate the information included in a traditional textbook or PDF document. Similar to concept maps, DIME maps allow for vicarious learning experiences when students observe the system making connections between concepts within a textbook. However, DIME maps also provide mastery experiences in the form of interactive engagement. Students can actively engage in their learning using the key interactive features of DIME maps, such as navigation. For example, a student can navigate to the location where a mathematical object was first encountered and defined in the textbook by clicking on one of the nodes (mathematical objects). At the same time, the map will reduce cognitive load by emphasizing the selected node (in yellow: Moment of Inertia) and its closest relationships (in blue: nodes that are one link away from the selected node), as shown in Figure 4.5. In other words, a hypothetical student using the example DIME map and PDF textbook in Figure 4.5 clicked the yellow node $I = \sum mr^2$, which had the declaration Moment of Inertia. Once clicked, the DIME map faded out all other nodes that are not directly related to the clicked node and changed the color of the selected node, reducing cognitive load and allowing the student to focus on the selected node and its interrelated connections, which became highlighted in blue.

Figure 4.5

Example Image of a DIME Map Output (bottom) with the PDF Textbook (top)

Rotational Inertia and Moment of Inertia

Before we can consider the rotation of anything other than a point mass like the one in **Figure 10.11**, we must extend the idea of rotational inertia to all types of objects. To expand our concept of rotational inertia, we define the **moment of inertia** I of an object to be the sum of mr^2 for all the point masses of which it is composed. That is, $I = \sum mr^2$. Here I is analogous to m in translational motion. Because of the distance r, the moment of inertia for any object depends on the chosen axis. Actually, calculating I is beyond the scope of this text except for one simple case—that of a hoop, which has all its mass at the same distance from its axis. A hoop's moment of inertia around its axis is therefore MR^2 , where M is its total mass and R its radius. (We use M and R for an entire object to distinguish them from m and r for point masses.) In all other cases, we must consult **Figure 10.12** (note that the table is piece of artwork that has shapes as well as formulae) for formulas for I that have been derived from integration over the continuous body. Note that I has units of mass multiplied by distance squared (kg \cdot m²), as we might expect from its definition.



Note. In an actual DIME map, the map and text are presented side-by-side.

4.2.2. **DIME Map User Interactions**

Interactivity is a part of DIME maps from the moment they are generated by the system. Specifically, DIME maps contain several internal interactive features (user interactions), i.e., *searching, clicking* and *dragging, deletion*, and *hiding*. Note that clicking and dragging is coded as the same user interaction. Additional experimental features included "add node" and "add link," which allowed students to free draw a new node, insert it into the DIME map, and add their own connections to any other node. Students were also able to double-click a node to open a new window that searches Google for different definitions and information about the node's mathematical object. The technological and educational obstacles presented by these experimental features will be dealt with in future developments but are not examined in the current study. Finally, students could search, delete, and hide nodes in their DIME map via a panel displayed above the map (Figure 4.6).

Figure 4.6

Features Panel, Accessible Directly Above the DIME Map



Searching is related to students typing into the search bar above the DIME map. The searched term is then compared against every node (mathematical object) declaration and LaTeX language. For example, let's say a student wanted to find all nodes with the word *Torque*. They would simply type that word in the rectangle with the *Search term* placeholder (see Figure 4.6). The result would change the color of every node that contained the word torque in their declaration to green (see Figure 4.7).

Figure 4.7

Image of a DIME Map After a Student Typed "Torque" in the Search Bar



Students often used the search bar to navigate the DIME map when the teacher asked them a specific question on a particular physics concept. The ability to easily search allowed them to quickly identify the related node and "click" it to better understand the physics concept in question. *Clicking* on nodes allows students to travel to the first occurrence in the textbook where that node was defined, and the action focuses on that node's direct relationships (Figure 4.5). Dragging a node is also related to clicking, but the students must hold down the left click and drag the mouse to rearrange the node's position in the DIME map. This allows students to reconstruct the orientation of the DIME map into a more personalizable visual display. Deleting nodes removes them from the DIME map along with their links with other nodes that share a direct relationship; students can click on the delete button (see Figure 4.6), click any nodes that need to be removed, and then press the "d" or "delete" key on the keyboard to remove them from the DIME map. Lastly, hiding nodes fades out the targeted node and its links, reducing cognitive load on the DIME map. Students and teachers used each of these features to create new and unique DIME maps (see Figure 4.8). Collectively, these features represent the total user interactions for each student, allowing them to personalize their DIME map. We analyzed the relationship between students' total number of user interactions with DIME and their pretest-posttest mean growth in self-efficacy for learning physics.

Figure 4.8





Note. Compare to Figure 4.7. Hidden nodes appear faded or with low opacity.

4.2.3. Foundational Reflections on Students' Perceptions of DIME Maps

The qualitative findings from a previous study influenced methodological decisions for the current study. In that 2018 pilot study, we analyzed interviews from students who interacted with DIME maps (Rugh, Capraro, & Capraro, 2021). There were originally five emergent themes: *pre-assimilator of knowledge, improved accessibility, high interactivity, tool for empowering learners*, and *initial complexity*. In designing the methods for the current study, we focused on three of those themes— DIME maps as highly interactive, as a tool for empowering learners, and as presenting

initial complexity. Here, we further exemplify those themes by strategically integrating quotes with a thick description (see Denzin, 1989; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Ponterotto, 2006) of the setting, explicating our understanding of how a participant's intent informed the work around each theme.

4.2.3.1. DIME Maps Provide High Interactivity

Students commented on the highly interactive nature of DIME maps and how it helped them to learn. This interactivity provided by DIME maps allowed students to overcome cognitive hurdles that they might not have with a static concept map. Students described that despite being a little confused, moving the map around helped them to understand the material. A triumph after persisting through struggle, this student experienced a mastery learning experience. Students using DIME maps appreciated "being able to highlight things and see where they are on the page," indicating their valuing the clicking and navigating features of the DIME map. According to CATLM, interactive elements in this educational technology enable students to actively engage in their learning and take ownership of their learning process (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). From this emergent theme, we decided to look at individual students' interactions with their DIME maps.

4.2.3.2. DIME Maps are a Tool for Empowering Learners

Students saw the DIME maps as an intelligent learning tool that improved their ability to learn. One day, while the students were working, the teacher asked them to explain angular momentum and how it related to the topics they had explored the day before. No constraints were given regarding where they could go for information. Some groups turned to Google. Others recalled prior encounters with "momentum" and tried to make guesses as to how it would work in a spinning object. Some groups instead immediately opened their DIME maps, identified the concept in the map either visually or with a quick search, and used the map to jump to the page where the concept was identified or to explore the relationships between concepts. One student commented, "Hearing things doesn't allow me to process things better. So knowing that I would be able to have these resources is really helpful." Pausing to think for a moment, the student summarized their feelings about the DIME maps, "It's almost as if, I know this sounds bizarre, but there's another teacher I guess. Because there's the textbook, but there's also the graph that moves." The student saw DIME maps as a sort of alternative to the textbook or to the teacher. In their view, the DIME map was reminiscent of an intelligent tutor—a system designed to model the process of learning. When the students observed the connections presented in their DIME maps, a vicarious learning opportunity arose. Viewing the connections modeled for students how to make their own connections between concepts and helped students to understand how the content was all connected. We (the research team) began to view DIME maps as this intelligent tutor, capable of providing experiences where students could feel more confident in their ability to learn and connect new knowledge by observing the system do it first.

Students commented that the DIME map made it easier to understand all of the concepts in the chapter were related to each other, thus increasing their self-efficacy in their ability to understand and learn physics. This deep interdependence of subjects and conceptual knowledge lies at the heart of assimilation theory and demonstrates how

DIME maps provided students with a vicarious opportunity to observe and internalize the connections. One student simply stated that DIME maps were "just a good platform to look at to enhance your learning." This quote further indicated that interactions with DIME maps helped students feel more empowered to learn. Thus, a further exploration of how students' engagement with DIME maps affects improvements in learning and self-efficacy towards learning was merited.

4.2.3.3. Students Using DIME Maps Encountered Initial Complexity

After engaging with DIME maps, students' comments were not all positive, particular regarding the visual complexity of the DIME map. All of the mathematically based concepts in the textbook chapter were represented at once as nodes, and their relationships as arrows between each node. Bombarded by this information, many students experienced high initial cognitive loads. Some students gave their candid opinions that DIME maps might just be too confusing or that there were too many objects presented on the page. Of course, we took this information to heart and made notes to alter the presentation of DIME maps in future versions in a way that would lower cognitive loads. Still, we found a redeeming trait when initially confused students described how "But once we moved [the map] around, I figured it out and I understood."

Eureka! From that statement, we realized that it is important to see how students persevere past their initial apprehension and engage with the DIME maps. It is important to allow learners the opportunity to struggle productively (Barlow et al, 2018; Murdoch et al., 2020). Some students used DIME maps only a little, and some used them throughout the week; but students who viewed the DIME maps longer may have moved past the initial high cognitive load to see DIME maps for the educational tool that it was meant to be. After persisting through initial difficulty and complexity, viewing DIME maps served as a vicarious learning experience that helped students visualize the connections between concepts. From this theme, we decided to look at user interactions and their correlation with the outcomes of interest.

In addition to these quotes, we observed that a majority of students were actively engaged with their DIME maps and even tried to figure out how it worked or discover software bugs to help improve the design of future versions of the technology. The themes gathered from interviews with students provided guidance for the quantitative analysis of the effectiveness of DIME maps in improving physics self-efficacy and gave promise to future iterations of DIME maps, as educational tools are only as good as the attitudes of the students using them.

4.3. Method

This study was guided by the following research question: What is the relationship between students' interactions with DIME maps and students' self-efficacy towards physics?

For this exploratory study, we used a single group pretest-posttest design. This quasi-experimental design is explained as a better attempt to control for extraneous variables that often remain uncontrolled by a lack of experimental design (see Shadish et al., 2002). We used the qualitative findings from our prior work (Rugh, Capraro, & Capraro, 2021) as a substantive or formative foundation to enrich the current quantitative design (Madey, 1982). For this study, we used a one-group pretest-posttest design to

determine the effect of using DIME maps on students' self-efficacy in physics (the data are available from Barroso et al., 2019). Significant correlations indicated existence of potential relationships between interactions and self-efficacy growth.

4.3.1. Study Setting

This study took place during the summer of 2019 at an informal STEM summer camp. Students (n = 15) were engaged in a project-based learning course that took place over a period of five days. During the PBL course, the teacher introduced the students to DIME maps and gave them individual access to create their own personal DIME maps from the college level physics textbook—an openly licensed PDF textbook available online (Wolfe et al., 2015). Using laptops, tablets, and cell phones, students could explore physics content information through the PDF textbook and associated DIME map throughout the study. However, the amount of interaction they had was not set for them. Rather, students were allowed to interact with the DIME map in their process of learning as the lessons progressed.

The summer 2019 pedagogy was centered around a STEM project-based learning course (STEM PBL; see Bicer & Lee, 2019; Capraro et al., 2013) and required that the students learn and apply knowledge of fixed-axis rotational motion as they built their own fidget spinner. The intervention began with the students taking a pretest on the first day of the STEM PBL course and ended when they took a posttest on the last day of the course. During this five-day study (for an overview, see Figure 4.9 or Rugh, Beyette, et

al., 2021), students explored concepts using a DIME map and modified it to meet their individual needs throughout the course.

Figure 4.9

Study Day-by-Day Overview



4.3.2. Participants

There were originally 17 students who participated in the study. We excluded two students' responses from analysis because of pretest ceiling effects—they exhibited a perfect positive score on the self-efficacy survey. Perhaps larger scales should be considered for future studies in order to encourage students to select more moderate values that could change in measurable and meaningful ways. Students' grade levels ranged from 8 to 12 (Table 4.1), and their racial/ethnic identifications were as follows: 46.7% of the students were White, 20.0% were Hispanic (non-White), 20.0% were Asian, 6.7% were African American, and the remaining (6.7%) provided no specific race/ethnicity (Table 4.2).

Table 4.1

Grade Levels for the	he Students	in this	Study
----------------------	-------------	---------	-------

Grade	п	Percent
8	1	6.7
10	7	46.7
11	4	26.7
12	3	20.0
Total	15	100.0

Table 4.2

Student Race/Ethnicity

Race/Ethnicity	п	Percent
Asian	3	20.0
African American	1	6.7
Hispanic	3	20.0
White (Non-Hispanic)	7	46.7
Other	1	6.7
Total	15	100.0

4.3.3. Intervention

Before the class began, the teacher uploaded the rotational motion chapter of a common university physics textbook into the DIME map system and obtained a DIME map for their students to use. Although the DIME map system can automatically generate a map, the teacher worked with a computer science team to select 19 mathematical physics concepts to focus on in the generated DIME map. Each student had access to their own DIME map via laptop, tablet, or cell phone. The students could use their DIME map at their discretion while exploring the physics involved in rotational motion.

4.3.4. Instrument

To measure students' self-efficacy in physics learning, we used a self-efficacy survey adapted from Klobas et al. (2007). The original survey was developed based on a self-efficacy scale used by Wood and Locke (1987) and research on self-efficacy scales such as "Bandura's guidelines for scale construction" (Klobas et al., 2007, p. 4; see also Bandura, 2006; Maurer & Pierce, 1998; Pajares et al., 2001). In the survey for the current study, students were asked to answer six questions on a scale from 0 to 10 about how well they can visualize, understand, learn, and remember key concepts in their physics classrooms (0 = extremely low confidence and 10 = extremely high confidence). Question 3 served as an anchor for question 4, which was intended to better discriminate the construct. A similar relationship existed between question 5 and question 6. The self-efficacy survey consisted of the following questions:

- 1. I am able to visualize ways in which physics concepts are related to each other.
- 2. I am able to learn difficult physics concepts.
- 3. Soon after science class is over, I am able to remember *most* of the key concepts.
- 4. Soon after science class is over, I am able to remember *all* of the key concepts.
- 5. I can understand *most* of the key concepts covered in my science classes
- 6. I can understand *all* of the key concepts covered in my science classes.

The original survey had high internal reliability ($\alpha = 0.91$; Klobas et al., 2007). The reliabilities for the data in hand in this study were similarly high for pretest ($\alpha = 0.90$) and posttest ($\alpha = 0.93$) scores. For each of the questions on the survey, we tested the correlation between mean difference (growth) and the number of user interactions with the DIME map.

4.4. Results

In this study, we examined the relationship between user interactions with the DIME maps and those users' growth in self-efficacy. Pairwise correlation between DIME map user interactions and mean growth are reported.

4.4.1. User Interaction Data

Each of the user interactions were treated equally (1:1) in this study and were tested for correlations with the growth in self-efficacy questions from the pretest-posttest survey. After the previous study (Beyette et al., 2019), we upgraded the DIME Map system with visual enhancements, system optimizations, and improvements to the DIME map user interactions. Some students preferred specific DIME map user interactions over others, such as searching or clicking, while others used a mix of every user interaction. We examined each students' total user interactions with their DIME map (Figure 4.10) as well as a breakdown of each individual student's interactions (i.e., search, click/drag, delete, and hide; Table 4.3). "Search" is the total number of search interactions per student, counting every keystroke. "Click/Drag" is the total number of nodes deleted per student. Finally, "Hide" is the total number of nodes hidden per student.

Figure 4.10



Total User Interactions per Student

Table 4.3

Breakdown of User Interactions with DIME Map per Student

Student ID	Search	Click/Drag	Delete	Hide
1	92	50	0	8
2	0	86	18	0
3	81	138	14	0
4	87	24	0	0
5	16	23	0	0
6	0	25	0	4
7	0	4	0	0
8	195	64	10	0
9	29	136	10	14
10	49	29	10	0
11	0	176	10	0
12	7	9	0	0
13	80	78	2	0
14	16	9	0	0
15	0	0	0	0

The most used interaction was clicking/dragging, followed by searching, deletion, and hiding (see Table 4.3). The clicking and dragging feature has two uses: to navigate to the place the concept was first defined or to rearrange the DIME map by dragging the clicked node to a new destination. Numbers related to clicking and dragging may be inflated due to students playing around with the DIME map instead of focusing on a specific learning objective. For example, a student using the search feature is more likely to be searching with specific words related to their current learning objective rather than aimlessly manipulating the DIME map. More studies are needed in order to understand the learning behaviors of each student and their relation to each DIME map user interaction.

4.4.2. Self-efficacy Mean Growth and Pairwise Correlations

To answer our research question, we hypothesized that the total number of user interactions with the DIME map would have a statistically significant positive correlation with self-efficacy as measured by the self-efficacy scale. To test the hypothesis, correlation coefficients and statistical significance were found using StataIC 16. We calculated total user interactions and mean *Growth*, or change-from-baseline score, between pretest and posttest results (see Table 4.4). We then investigated statistically significant (p < .05) inter-item correlations for the survey and correlations between individual questions and the total user interactions with the DIME map (see Table 4.5). We summed Q1, Q2, Q4, and Q6 to generate *Self-efficacy* (*SE*) *Growth Total*

Table 4.4

	Mean	Standard Deviation
Q1 Growth	1.000	2.138
Q2 Growth	0.800	2.007
Q3 Growth	0.133	2.066
Q4 Growth	0.200	2.145
Q5 Growth	-0.867	1.356
Q6 Growth	-0.600	2.898
SE Growth Total*	1.400	5.755
Total User Interactions	106.867	87.790

Mean and Standard Deviation for the Students' Pretest-Posttest Results

Note. We summed growth on Q1, Q2, Q4, and Q6 to generate SE Growth Total

Table 4.5

Correlations with Total User Interactions

	Total UI
Total UI	1.0000
Q1 Growth	0.3722
Q2 Growth	0.3728
Q3 Growth	*0.5791
Q4 Growth	*0.5286
Q5 Growth	*0.6729
Q6 Growth	0.2725
SE Growth Total	*0.6026

Note. Asterisk (*) indicates statistically significant correlation coefficient at (p < 0.05).

Students' total number of user interactions with DIME maps was positively correlated with growth on questions 3, 4, and 5 (p < 0.05). Students' self-efficacy in their ability to remember *most* (question 3) or *all* (question 4) of the key concepts had statistically significant (p < .05) positive correlations with their total number of interactions with DIME maps. Students' self-efficacy in their ability to understand *most* 127 (question 5) of the key concepts after attending science class was also positively correlated with their total user interactions. Therefore, we generally can claim that students who interacted more with the DIME map also gained more in self-efficacy, at least with respect to those three questions. However, due to the limitations of our study, further investigations into the use of DIME maps is merited.

4.5. Summary

DIME maps provided a modern twist to the static graphic organizer. Students found it helpful navigating the textbook and for helping to reduce the cognitive load for learning the physics concepts being presented. Self-efficacy was also improved through the use of DIME maps.

4.5.1. Limitations

There are a few limitations and questions concerning this study that can help guide future studies and development of DIME maps. First, the group was an intact voluntary informal STEM camp; therefore, there may have been significant selfselection bias. In most cases, the child selected to participate in the camp. In some cases, the parent or parents alone may have selected for the child to attend the camp. This presents a conundrum: if the child selected, then he or she was more likely to make the best of the learning experience; however, if a parent selected, an entirely different possible scenario could have played out. In this case, the child could have become rebellious and done little work to gain from the experience. This may not be common, however, as research seems to indicate that parents' support of and interest in their child's academic experiences have a positive influence on both achievement and
commitment (Aschbacher et al., 2010). It would be helpful for a future study to recruit participants from a much larger group that might be more representative of the general population.

Another limitation may lie within the wording of the first item of the survey given to participants. The first item on the survey states, "I am able to visualize ways in which physics concepts are related to each other." Although this question may appear to test for self-efficacy in learning, it actually refers to self-efficacy in the ability to visualize relationships between concepts. DIME maps transform the mathematical objects and declarations in linear PDF textbooks into interactive concepts maps, potentially removing extra cognitive load by making the relationships explicit and multidimensional. Theoretically, for their learning to be meaningful, the students have to make connections between new learning and their own knowledge structures. DIME maps allow students to understand how everything is interconnected but may not help students visualize how physics concepts are related. However, it would not be unreasonable to believe that students may be able to better visualize connections as they see more and more concept maps. Afterall, students who spend longer with concept maps experience larger benefits than students learning through traditional methods (Schroeder et al., 2018). When students encounter traditional textbooks after engaging with DIME maps, their minds may automatically begin arranging the knowledge with relationships and connections reminiscent of DIME maps. Therefore, future works should examine the effects of longer meaningful interactions with DIME maps.

4.5.2. Future Works

Based on the results of this study, future iterations of DIME maps will be designed to further assist online learning for students and teachers. Teachers will be able to directly manipulate the pages and concepts used to build DIME maps for their students, allowing them to mirror the content in their classroom, such as a lecture, exam, review, or homework assignment. Secondly, teachers will also be able to analyze the individual user interactions, allowing them to identify possible learning struggles or interests in the classroom. Furthermore, having students interact with and create concept maps can be used as a meaningful assessment of students' conceptual knowledge (Hartmeyer et al., 2018; Walker & King, 2003; Watson et al., 2016). DIME maps have the potential to provide a powerful assessment of knowledge and learning by automatically assessing the difference between two DIME maps and analyzing how students progressed with their DIME maps over time. Another feature that makes DIME maps a potentially powerful online learning tool is that they allow students to automatically generate searches using popular search engines such as Google; a feature which has been studied as a valuable addition to modern concept maps (Leake et al., 2004). In addition, students will be able to collaborate with each other by sharing, liking (voting), and collaborating on DIME maps, enhancing both personalized learning and collaborative learning—an outcome expected from prior research on concept maps (Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Schroeder et al., 2018). Overall, the DIME map will become a powerful learning partner for each student as they design and interact with more DIME maps in current and future courses, both online and in person.

Although the findings from this study were based on a single week-long intervention, longer interactions with DIME maps could prove to be beneficial. Through a comprehensive meta-analysis, learning while using concept maps for one- to fourweek interventions has been shown to be more effective than for interventions lasting less than a week (Schroeder et al., 2018). This suggests that the benefit of DIME maps found in this study might be even greater if students had more time to learn how to use and interpret DIME maps and explore additional content using them. Additionally, when students understand how to make concept maps, they are more successful at using concept maps to improve their learning (Novak, 1990). Future studies should investigate the effects of using DIME maps for longer periods of time and begin with an introduction to making concept maps.

4.5.3. Student Accessibility to Computers

Accessibility to laptop or desktop computers continues to increase at home and in public schools for students in the United States, allowing for the integration of new technology in classrooms. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES; 2018), overall use of computers in the year of 2015 for children ages 3 to 18 was 94%, and 96% of schools in 2016 met the Federal Communication Commission's bandwidth requirements (National Science Board, 2018). In addition, since the announcement of the United States Federal Government Initiative ConnectED, the percentage of schools with instructional computers increased to 100 percent and the number of laptop computers on carts and in classrooms ranged from 58%–69% for all public schools (NCES, 2008, Table 1 & Table 2). This laid the groundwork for the

integration of computers in classrooms for educational software. This increase in computer availability and internet access means that DIME maps can function as a widely available and accessible learning tool for classrooms across the United States.

4.5.4. Conclusion

Creating new pedagogical strategies to improve self-efficacy and understanding of important concepts in physics-based classrooms continues to be a complex and difficult task. However, with the help of DIME maps, traditional resources such as textbook and lecture notes are automatically transformed into dynamic concept maps, providing new representations of knowledge that improve self-efficacy and understanding of important physics concepts. With DIME maps, teachers and students can interact with dynamic concept maps whose transformation of knowledge adapts to their user interactions and feedback. This allows DIME maps to be malleable to any new or current teaching system and methodologies in subjects involving mathematics, as DIME maps extract and transform the raw mathematical language found in traditional textbooks or lecture notes into a non-linear dynamic and adaptive concept map. Results show that users who interacted with the DIME map saw an increase in self-efficacy regarding their abilities to understand and remember most of the key physics concepts in a science class. This key finding aligns with research and theories on interactive learning environments that suggest meaningful learning occurs when students spend conscious effort to select, organize, and integrate new information with prior knowledge structures (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). Future explorations and developments with DIME maps may reveal further insights into interactive educational learning environments.

4.6. References

- Akinsola, M. K., & Olowojaiye, F. B. (2008). Teacher instructional methods and student attitudes towards mathematics. *International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education*, 3(1), 60–73. <u>https://iejme.com/download/teacher-instructional-</u> methods-and-student-attitudes-towards-mathematics.pdf
- Aschbacher, P. R., Li, E., & Roth, E. J. (2010). Is science me? High school students' identities, participation and aspirations in science, engineering, and medicine.
 Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 47(5), 564–582.

Ausubel, D. (1963). The psychology of meaningful verbal learning. Grune & Stratton.

- Ausubel, D. P. (1968). *Educational psychology: A cognitive view*. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Ausubel, D., Novak, J., & Hanesian, H. (1978). Educational psychology: A cognitive view (2nd ed.). Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.
- Ausubel, D. P., & Robinson, F. G. (1969). School learning. An introduction to educational psychology. Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.
- Bandura, A. (1965). Vicarious processes: A case of no-trial learning. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 2, 1–55). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60102-1</u>
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V. S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human behavior* (Vol. 4, pp. 71–81). Academic Press.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Henry Holt & Co.

- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In F. Pajares & T. C. Urdan (Eds.), Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents (pp. 307–337). Information Age Publishing.
- Bandura, A., & Schunk, D. H. (1981). Cultivating competence, self-efficacy, and intrinsic interest through proximal self-motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 41(3), 586–598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.41.3.586</u>
- Barlow, A. T., Gerstenschlager, N. E., Strayer, J. F., Lischka, A. E., Stephens, D. C.,
 Hartland, K. S., & Willingham, J. C. (2018). Scaffolding for access to productive struggle. *Mathematics Teaching in the Middle School*, 23(4), 202–207.
 https://doi.org/10.5951/mathteacmiddscho.23.4.0202
- Barroso, L. R., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2019). AggieSTEM camp 2019 (Physics Quantitative) [Data set]. Aggie STEM. <u>http://www.aggiedl.com/signup</u>
- Beyette, D., Rugh, M. S., Lin, J., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Liu, J.-C., & Capraro, R. M.
 (2019). DIME: A dynamic interactive mathematical expression tool for STEM education. *Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--32664
- Bicer, A., & Lee, Y. (2019). Effect of STEM PBL embedded informal learning on student interest in STEM majors and careers. *Journal of Mathematics Education*, 12(1), 57–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.26711/007577152790038</u>
- Capraro, R. M., Capraro, M. M., & Morgan, J. R. (Eds.). (2013). STEM project-based learning: An integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) approach (2nd ed.). Sense Publishers.

- Capraro, R. M., & Slough, S. W. (2013). Why PBL? Why STEM? Why now? An introduction to STEM project-based learning: An integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) approach. In R. M. Capraro, M. M. Capraro, & J. M. Morgan (Eds.), *STEM project-based learning: An integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) approach (2nd ed., pp. 1–5).* Sense Publishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6209-143-6_1</u>
- Cavallo, A. M., Potter, W. H., & Rozman, M. (2004). Gender differences in learning constructs, shifts in learning constructs, and their relationship to course achievement in a structured inquiry, yearlong college physics course for life science majors. *School Science and Mathematics*, 104(6), 288–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1949-8594.2004.tb18000.x
- Changeiywo, J. M., Wambugu, P. W., & Wachanga, S. W. (2011). Investigations of students' motivations towards learning secondary school physics through mastery learning approach. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 9(6), 1333–1350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-010-9262-z</u>
- Chen, C. H., Huang, C. Y., & Chou, Y. Y. (2019). Effects of augmented reality-based multidimensional concept maps on students' learning achievement, motivation and acceptance. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 18(2), 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-017-0595-z
- Chi, M. T., De Leeuw, N., Chiu, M. H., & LaVancher, C. (1994). Eliciting selfexplanations improves understanding. *Cognitive Science*, *18*(3), 439–477.

Conlin, L. D., & Chin, D. B. (2016). Can tinkering prepare students to learn physics concepts? Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4866.0085

Denzin, N. K. (1989). Interpretive interactionism. Sage.

- Edgcomb, A., & Vahid, F. (2014). Effectiveness of online textbooks vs. interactive webnative content. Proceedings of the 2014 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition, 2014. <u>https://doi.org/10.18260/1-</u> 2--20351
- Edgcomb, A., Vahid, F., Lysecky, R., Knoesen, A., Amirtharajah, R., & Dorf, M. L.
 (2015). Student performance improvement using interactive textbooks: A threeuniversity cross-semester analysis. *Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.18260/p.24760
- Garrett, R., Legon, R., & Fredericksen, E. E., (2019). CHLOE 3 behind the numbers: The changing landscape of online education 2019. Quality Matters. <u>https://qualitymatters.org/qa-resources/resource-center/articles-</u> <u>resources/CHLOE-3-report-2019</u>
- Gholson, B., & Craig, S. D. (2006). Promoting constructive activities that support vicarious learning during computer-based instruction. *Educational Psychology Review*, 18(2), 119–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-006-9006-3</u>

- Grootenboer, P. (2003, July 13–18). *The affective views of primary school children*[Paper presentation]. 27th Conference of the International Group for the
 Psychology of Mathematics Education Conference Held Jointly with the 25th
 Conference of the North American Chapter of the International Group for the
 Psychology of Mathematics Education, Honolulu, HI, United States.
- Gungor, A., Eryılmaz, A., & Fakıoglu, T. (2007). The relationship of freshmen's physics achievement and their related affective characteristics. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 44(8), 1036–1056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20200</u>
- Hall, R. H., & O'Donnell, A. (1996). Cognitive and affective outcomes of learning from knowledge maps. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 21(1), 94–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1996.0008</u>
- Hartmeyer, R., Stevenson, M. P., & Bentsen, P. (2018). A systematic review of concept mapping-based formative assessment processes in primary and secondary science education. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, 25(6), 598–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2017.1377685
- Horton, P. B., McConney, A. A., Gallo, M., Woods, A. L., Senn, G. J., & Hamelin, D. (1993). An investigation of the effectiveness of concept mapping as an instructional tool. *Science Education*, 77(1), 95–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730770107
- Hwang, G. J., Wu, P. H., & Ke, H. R. (2011). An interactive concept map approach to supporting mobile learning activities for natural science courses. *Computers & Education*, 57(4), 2272–2280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.06.011</u>

- Ingram, N. (2015). Students' relationships with mathematics: Affect and identity. In M. Marshman, V. Geiger, & A. Bennison (Eds.), *Mathematics education in the margins: Proceedings of the 38th Annual Conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia* (pp. 301–308). Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia.
- Kerby, A. T. (2017). When do students' attitudes change? Investigating student attitudes at midterm. *Statistics Education Research Journal*, *16*(2), 476–486.
- Klobas, J. E., Renzi, S., & Nigrelli, M. L. (2007). A scale for the measurement of selfefficacy for learning (SEL) at university [Working paper]. Dondena Centre for Research on Social Dynamics and Public Policy.

http://dondena.unibocconi.it/wps/wcm/connect/Cdr/Centro_Dondena/Home/Wor king+Papers/Working_Paper_2_CdR_Dondena

- Kumarakuru, H., Heiman, D., & Maheswaran, B. (2017). A study on enhancing advanced physics laboratory teaching. *Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition*, 2017. https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--27518
- Lane, J., & Lane, A. (2001). Self-efficacy and academic performance. *Social Behavior* and Personality, 29(7), 687–693.
- Leake, D. B., Maguitman, A., Reichherzer, T., Cañas, A. J., Carvalho, M., Arguedas, M.,
 & Eskridge, T. (2004). Googling from a concept map: Towards automatic
 concept-map-based query formation. In A. J. Cañas, J. D. Novak, & F. M.
 González (Eds.), Concept maps: Theory, methodology, technology: Proceedings

of the First International Conference on Concept Mapping (Vol. 1, pp. 409–416). Universidad Pública de Navarra.

Lin, J., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Beyette, D., & Liu, J. C. (2019, September 23–26). Prediction of mathematical expression declarations based on spatial, semantic, and syntactic analysis [Paper presentation]. 19th ACM Symposium on Document Engineering, Berlin, Germany.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.

Lipnevich, A. A., MacCann, C., Krumm, S., Burrus, J., & Roberts, R. D. (2011). Mathematics attitudes and mathematics outcomes of US and Belarusian middle school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *103*(1), 105–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021949</u>

Madey, D. L. (1982). Some benefits of integrating qualitative and quantitative methods in program evaluation, with illustrations. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 4(2), 223–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102%2F01623737004002223</u>

Maurer, T. J., & Pierce, H. R. (1998). A comparison of Likert scale and traditional measures of self-efficacy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(2), 324–329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.2.324</u>

Mensah, J. K., Okyere, M., & Kuranchie, A. (2013). Student attitude towards mathematics and performance: Does the teacher attitude matter? *Journal of Education and Practice*, 4(3), 132–139. Moreno, R., & Mayer, R. (2007). Interactive multimodal learning environments. *Educational Psychology Review*, 19(3), 309–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-007-9047-2

- Murdoch, D., English, A. R., Hintz, A., & Tyson, K. (2020). Feeling heard: Inclusive education, transformative learning, and productive struggle. *Educational Theory*, 70(5), 653–679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/edth.12449</u>
- Mutohir, T. C., Lowrie, T., & Patahuddin, S. M. (2018). The development of a student survey on attitudes towards mathematics teaching-learning processes. *Journal on Mathematics Education*, 9, 1–14.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2008). *Education technology in U.S. public schools: Fall 2008* (Report No. 2010-034).

https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2010/2010034.pdf

National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *Student access to digital learning resources outside of the classroom* (Report No. 2017-098).

https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017098.pdf

- National Science Board. (2018). *Science and engineering indicators 2018* (Report No. 2018-1). <u>https://nsf.gov/statistics/2018/nsb20181/report</u>
- Nesbit, J. C., & Adesope, O. O. (2006). Learning with concept and knowledge maps: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(3), 413–448. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076003413

- Nissen, J. M., & Shemwell, J. T. (2016). Gender, experience, and self-efficacy in introductory physics. *Physical Review Physics Education Research*, 12(2), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevPhysEducRes.12.020105</u>
- Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and Vee diagrams: Two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. *Instructional Science*, 19(1), 29–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00377984</u>
- Novak, J. D. (2004). Reflections on a half-century of thinking in science education and research: Implications from a twelve-year longitudinal study of children's learning. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education*, 4(1), 23–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14926150409556595</u>
- Novak, J. D., & Cañas, A. J. (2008). The theory underlying concept maps and how to construct and use them [Technical report]. Florida Institute for Human and Machine Cognition.

http://cmap.ihmc.us/Publications/ResearchPapers/TheoryUnderlyingConceptMap s.pdf

Ostrom, T. M. (1969). The relationship between the affective, behavioral, and cognitive components of attitude. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *5*, 12–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1031(69)90003-1

Pajares, F., Hartley, J., & Valiante, G. (2001). Response format in writing self-efficacy assessment: Greater discrimination increases prediction. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 33(4), 214–221.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2001.12069012

- Ponterotto, J. G. (2006). Brief note on the origins, evolution, and meaning of the qualitative research concept thick description. *The Qualitative Report*, *11*(3), 538–549.
- Rosenberg, M. J., & Hovland, C. I. (1960). Cognitive, affective, and behavioral components of attitudes. In M. J. Rosenberg, C. I. Hovland, W. J. McGuire, R. P. Abelson, & J. W. Brehm (Eds.), *Attitude organization and change* (pp. 1–14). Yale University Press.
- Ross, R. A. (2018). Modern physics: A modern approach. Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition, 2018. https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--30818
- Rueckert, F. J. (2015). Engineering as an educational tool: Restructuring conceptual physics. Proceedings of the American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition, 2015. <u>https://doi.org/10.18260/p.23953</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). Using DIME maps and STEM project-based learning to teach physics. *Interactive Technology* and Smart Education. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-07-2020-0109</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Calabrese, J. E., Madson, M. A., Capraro, R. M., Barroso, L. R., Capraro, M. M., & Bicer, A. (2018). STEM language can be the stem of the problem. *Proceedings of the 49th annual Frontiers in Education Conference*, 2018, 1–7.
 https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE.2018.8659231

- Rugh, M. S., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). A first look at effectiveness: DIME maps—the evolution of concept maps [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Teaching, Learning & Culture, Texas A&M University.
- Rugh, M. S., Wang, X., Lin, J., Barroso, L. R., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2019, April 3–6). *Computer generated dynamic graphic organizer's effect on learning outcomes* [Paper presentation]. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics 2019 Annual Meeting and Exposition, San Diego, CA, United States.

Rybczynski, S. M., & Schussler, E. E. (2013). Effects of instructional model on student attitude in an introductory biology laboratory. *International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 7(2).

https://doi.org/10.20429/ijsot1.2013.070222

Sanchal, A., & Sharma, S. (2017). Students' attitudes towards learning mathematics: Impact of teaching in a sporting context. *Teachers and Curriculum*, *17*, 89–99.

Sawtelle, V., Brewe, E., Goertzen, R. M., & Kramer, L. H. (2012). Identifying events that impact self-efficacy in physics learning. *Physical Review Special Topics-Physics Education Research*, 8(2), Article 020111.

https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevSTPER.8.020111

Sawtelle, V., Brewe, E., & Kramer, L. H. (2012). Exploring the relationship between self-efficacy and retention in introductory physics. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 49(9), 1096–1121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21050</u>

- Schroeder, N. L., Nesbit, J. C., Anguiano, C. J., & Adesope, O. O. (2018). Studying and constructing concept maps: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30, 431–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9403-9</u>
- Seel, N. M. (2012). Assimilation theory of learning. In N. M. Seel (Ed.), Encyclopedia of the sciences of learning (pp. 324–326). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-</u> <u>4419-1428-6_358</u>
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). *Experimental and quasiexperimental designs for generalized causal inference*. Houghton Mifflin.
- Smith, M. K., Wood, W. B., Adams, W. K., Wieman, C., Knight, J. K., Guild, N., & Su, T. T. (2009). Why peer discussion improves student performance on in-class concept questions. *Science*, 323(5910), 122–124.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1165919

- Taasoobshirazi, G., & Sinatra, G. M. (2011). A structural equation model of conceptual change in physics. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 48(8), 901–918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20434</u>
- Walker, J. M., & King, P. H. (2003). Concept mapping as a form of student assessment and instruction in the domain of bioengineering. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 92(2), 167–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2168-9830.2003.tb00755.x</u>
- Wang, Z., Beyette, D., Lin, J., & Liu, J. (2019, September 20–25). Extraction of math expressions from PDF documents based on unsupervised modeling of fonts
 [Paper presentation]. 15th IAPR International Conference on Document Analysis and Recognition, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

- Watson, M. K., Pelkey, J., Noyes, C. R., & Rodgers, M. O. (2016). Assessing conceptual knowledge using three concept map scoring methods. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 105(1), 118–146.
- Wolfe, G., Gaspar, E., Stoke, J., Kretchman, J., Anderson, D., Czuba, N., Oberoi, S.,
 Pujji, L., Lyublinskaya, I., Ingram, D. (2015). *College physics for AP courses*.
 OpenStax. <u>https://openstax.org/books/college-physics-ap-courses/pages/preface</u>
- Wood, R. E., & Locke, E. A. (1987). The relation of self-efficacy and grade goals to academic performance. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 47(4), 1013–1024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164487474017</u>

5. BREAKING BARRIERS FOR STEM LEARNING: A META-ANALYSIS OF THREE YEARS OF FINDINGS ON DIME MAPS

5.1. Introduction

Textbooks present knowledge linearly, with one large section of expository text after another, which can cause readers to struggle with understanding new concepts. This linear representation of knowledge is contradictory to the internal representation of knowledge in our minds (Kalyuga, 2006; Tian et al., 2020). Our internal representations of knowledge are foundational to and a basic aspect of our ability to understand the world around us (Phillips et al., 2020) and are better represented as a web of interconnected ideas with a complex organization and structure (Hiebert & Carpenter, 1992; Hiebert & Lefevre, 1986; Saxe et al., 2013; Stelzer et al., 2009; Sweller, 1988;). Despite the conflict between internal representations of knowledge and what students are presented in textbooks, students are often required to memorize information, processes, and formulas (see Hamzi et al., 2021; Nicoara et al., 2020; Srivastava et al., 2020). This can lead to poor study practices, such as rote memorization, where students attempt to memorize formulas, concepts, and ideas as independent and distinct pieces of information. Unfortunately, rote memorization alone has been found to be ineffective for long-term retention (Byers & Erlwanger, 1985; Cai & Wang, 2010). Many students struggle with achieving meaningful learning when reading traditional textbooks and other author-centric linear representations of knowledge because the connections

between concepts, equations, expressions, and formulas are hidden (Tian et al., 2020). Therefore, researchers continue to improve and adjust textbooks (Andersen, 2020; Rohrer et al., 2020; Wan & Lee, 2021). Although textbooks are unlikely to disappear from the classroom setting, educational technologies can provide support to engage students in meaningful learning and retention through nonlinear representations of knowledge. We built this study on the foundation of two influential and overlapping educational theories to present and examine the effects of using an educational technology designed to assist in meaningful learning from textbooks.

The first component of the theoretical foundation for this study is *assimilation theory*, also known as Ausubel's (1968) Assimilation Theory of Meaningful Learning. Assimilation theory can provide valuable insights into how students learn and retain meaningful knowledge (Tian et al., 2020). In contrast to the linear representation of knowledge in many textbooks, assimilation theory posits that learning is best achieved by anchoring new knowledge into existing internal knowledge structures containing prior knowledge and the relationships among the prior knowledge. This is the theory that led Ausubel to famously state, "If I had to reduce all of educational psychology to just one principle, I would say this: The most important single factor influencing learning is what the learner already knows. Ascertain this and teach him accordingly" (Ausubel, 1968, epigraph). If students are enabled to and choose to integrate new concepts and prepositions with their existing knowledge, meaningful learning can occur (Novak, 1998). In other words, dynamic and adaptive non-linear transformations of knowledge

facilitate learning, as the human mind requires new and prior knowledge to be linked together under assimilation theory.

Complementing assimilation theory, the *cognitive-affective theory of learning with media* (CATLM) is the second component of the theoretical underpinnings for this work. This learning theory is based on seven assumptions about cognitive and affective processes within multimedia learning and presents guiding principles for design elements that would lead to positive student outcomes (Moreno & Mayer, 2007; Park et al., 2014. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning (CTML; Mayer, 2005) served as a foundation for the development of CATLM, which expanded on the assumptions and principles of CTML in order to encompass interactive, multimodal learning environments (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). As such, CATLM provides the perfect lens to view this study of an interactive multimodal educational technology. According to CATLM, learning in multimodal environments can be supported by five types of interactivity:

- *Dialoguing*—the learner can ask a question or provide input and receive feedback or output.
- *Controlling*—the learner can set the pace or order of learning.
- *Manipulating*—the learner can set parameters, zoom in or out, or move objects on the screen to aid in understanding.
- *Searching*—the learner can input a query and find new content within or beyond the environment being explored.

• *Navigating*—the learner can navigate to different content areas within the environment.

Viewed through the lens of CATML, learners utilize these types of interactivity through self-regulated learning to create meaningful internal knowledge representations. This process is tied to one of the key assumptions of CATLM—how students must select relevant verbal and non-verbal information from learning media and integrate them (or assimilate them) into prior knowledge structures (Moreno & Mayer, 2007)—and directly relates to assimilation theory and assumptions about how learning occurs. One of the key goals for interactive educational technologies, under CATLM, is to help learners make connections to prior knowledge. In this way, CATLM explains how the educational technology in the current study has potential value for students because the technology engages students in all five types of interactivity and requires them to select information to be assimilated into their own existing knowledge structures.

Recently, technologically enhanced animated or interactive concept maps have been introduced to further help improve learning (Akpinar & Ergin, 2008; Atas, 2019; Schroeder et al., 2018). However, recent findings have led researchers to suggest that more research is needed to further understand where such augmented concept maps may be employed for positive benefits to students (Schroeder et al., 2018). For this study, we meta-analytically examined the past three years of data regarding use of the automatically generated interactive concept maps known as Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) maps according to the following research question: What effect has using DIME maps had on cognitive and affective learning outcomes for students?

5.2. Literature Review

A large corpus of research was reviewed to develop DIME maps and the perspective with which we view our results. First, DIME maps were developed to be visually similar to concept maps; therefore, we present prior research on concept maps as highly relevant and potentially applicable to DIME maps. Next, we describe exactly what DIME maps are and how they are quickly and automatically created from Portable Document Format (PDF) textbook chapters that a teacher or student uploads. Third, we describe the interactive features of DIME maps and how they align with prior literature on CATLM and types of interactivity. Finally, we tie together the learning theories and prior literature to support the development and testing of DIME maps.

5.2.1. Concept Mapping and Cognitive and Affective Outcomes

Concept maps are one way in which students can engage with dynamic and adaptive learning and non-linear representations of knowledge. Through meta-analytic methods, using concept maps has been shown to be significantly more effective at improving cognitive and affective learning outcomes for students than alternative treatments, such as discussions, lectures, studied or constructed lists, outlines, and text (Schroeder et al., 2018). Similar positive effects have been found for several decades through systematic reviews and collections of research on concept mapping (Adesope & Nesbit, 2010; Hartmeyer et al., 2018; Horton et al., 1993; Mihai et al., 2017; Nesbit & Adesope, 2006; Novak, 1990; Yue et al., 2017).

When students rely only on reviewing strategies as a form of memorization, information is typically stored as disparate pieces of knowledge in long-term memory, making it difficult to draw connections between ideas and develop conceptual understanding (Bransford et al., 1999). In contrast, graphic organizers, such as concept maps, enable students to visualize connections between prior knowledge and new learning (Hill, 2005; Lopez et al., 2013; Novak, 1998). Concept mapping has been shown to have positive effects on long-term memorization (Nicoara et al., 2020). By demonstrating the connections between concepts, concept maps reduce the cognitive load required to process new knowledge (Hill, 2005; Novak, 1998; Stull & Mayer, 2007). Therefore, using concept maps has the potential to improve cognitive gains in students.

The affective construct we examine in this study is self-efficacy in physics. The findings about the effects of concept mapping on students' academic self-efficacy is not as conclusive as for cognitive outcomes. Several researchers found that concept mapping improves academic self-efficacy (Adiyiah et al., 2020; Chularut & DeBacker, 2004; Roshanger et al., 2020). However, there is inconsistency among the comparison groups of studies on concept mapping, with one study finding positive impacts of concept mapping on self-efficacy when compared to an independent study control group (Chularut & DeBacker, 2004), one study indicating that concept mapping groups did not

perform significantly better than their comparison groups who received similar highquality instruction strategies (Roshanger et al., 2020), and one study not making any comparisons to a control group (Chularut & DeBacker, 2004). It is amidst this inconclusiveness that we hope to test whether DIME maps also have a positive impact on affective growth as measured by self-efficacy survey questions.

Unfortunately, concept maps require a significant amount of time to prepare, especially if there are many concepts to connect (Brownson et al., 2012; Roshanger et al., 2020; Vaughn et al., 2017). Interactive concept maps take even more effort to create. Addressing these challenges, we created the DIME Map system to automatically parse PDF text and produce a fully functioning interactive map (a.k.a. a DIME map) of the mathematically based concepts contained in that PDF text.

5.2.2. Dynamic and Interactive Mathematical Expressions (DIME) maps

At first glance, DIME maps appear similar to concept maps that preemptively connect the mathematical knowledge contained in a PDF document. However, a few unique differences set DIME maps, a dynamic digital graphic organizer, apart: they are automatically generated, they allow the user to focus the map on their own personal and individual learning needs, and they can be used to physically navigate the PDF document by clicking on nodes. As with concept maps, DIME maps have the potential to reduce cognitive load (if carefully implemented), to provide multiple representations of knowledge, and to help students visualize connections between prior knowledge and new knowledge. The DIME Map system is a software that creates DIME maps (such as in Figure 5.1) by analyzing a document (such as in Figure 5.2), extracting mathematical knowledge, connecting related concepts, and representing that knowledge through an interactive and personally customizable manipulated depiction (Rugh et al., 2019; Beyette et al., 2019). The unique properties of DIME maps make them ideally situated to address the concerns about the time and effort needed by educators to create effective concept maps. The DIME Map system is a powerful learning tool due to the way it identifies important text within PDF documents (i.e., textbooks), specifically mathematical objects.

Figure 5.1

Section of a DIME Map Produced from a Physics PDF textbook



Figure 5.2

Section of PDF Textbook Used by the DIME Map System to Produce the DIME Map

Presented in Figure 5.1

Why does Earth keep on spinning? What started it spinning to begin with? And how does an ice skater manage to spin faster and faster simply by pulling her arms in? Why does she not have to exert a torque to spin faster? Questions like these have answers based in angular momentum, the rotational analog to linear momentum.

By now the pattern is clear—every rotational phenomenon has a direct translational analog. It seems quite reasonable, then, to define **angular momentum** L as

 $L = I\omega$.

(10.90)

This equation is an analog to the definition of linear momentum as p = mv. Units for linear momentum are kg · m/s while

We define *mathematical objects* as a collection of characters that may represent a mathematical variable, expression, equation, or formula whose *semantics* (i.e., object meanings, order of operations, and logical syntax) are used to generate the corresponding LaTeX form. The automatic recognition of mathematical objects has been researched since 1968 (Anderson, 1968), and it continues to be a difficult challenge in the content analysis community. An extensive review of the history of different methods used to extract and reconstruct mathematical objects in images and PDF documents can be found in the dissertation by Théodore Bluche (2010). Current state-of-the-art mathematical object and declaration extraction was developed through prior collaboration between Aggie STEM and the Real Time Distributed Systems computer science and engineering lab at Texas A&M University (see Wang et al., 2019). The DIME Map system synthesizes decades of research into the automated recognition of mathematical objects.

After identifying mathematical objects in the PDF text and their corresponding semantics, the DIME Map system then identifies declarations. *Declarations* represent word meanings and word relations for each mathematical object, such as a name, identifier, or definition. Collectively, the mathematical objects, semantics, and declarations that are automatically extracted from the PDF document make up the core features of the DIME map. Once extracted, the mathematical objects and their associated declarations are arranged in an organized manner with links connecting related mathematical objects. The result is a dynamic and interactive digital map or web

showing the interrelationships between the mathematical content of a given PDF document.

Mathematical objects are prevalent in physics textbooks and contain different attributes than expository text. For example, mathematical objects differ from natural language in that they are often presented in different font sizes and include Unicode, bounding boxes, and glyph names. The DIME Map system extracts these raw attributes from the PDF document using Apache PDFBox software (2019). Afterwards, each symbol (individual characters) is classified as either a mathematical object or expository text using a likelihood ratio test model based on the font size, font type, and glyph name parsed by PDFBox. Each symbol is merged with its neighboring symbols if they are within a specific gap threshold, creating a token (set of symbols) that could represent an inline or display-line mathematical object. Heuristic rules that utilize mathematical syntax and universal symbols, such as the equality operator, are used to merge expressions and formulas that otherwise might be outside the gap threshold due to spacing or formatting issues. The resulting tokens are classified as mathematical objects (Wang et al., 2019) and represent a major component in the core features used to build the DIME Map system's feature network (Beyette et al., 2019). The next step conducted by the DIME Map system is then to represent these mathematical objects in a meaningful way for students.

Knowledge transformation is achieved through natural language processing machine learning techniques, including calibration, anchoring, mapping across, Bayesian Network classifiers, and maximum entropy classifiers. Each token that is identified as a mathematical object and its associated declaration, which is determined from natural language used in the PDF textbook, is recovered through a majority vote, or ensemble classifier, achieved through naive Bayesian classifiers using these three features: distance, word stem, and part-of-speech tagging (Lin et al., 2019). Each feature is used to create a likelihood assertion that a mathematical object is associated with a particular declaration based on the assumption that it satisfies a conditional independence probability distribution. Laplace smoothing is used to estimate the probability of each feature based on negative (0) or positive (1) assertions of mathematical object declarations, which resolves the issue of an unknown feature causing a zero-probability estimation. Lastly, an ensemble classifier is used for determining if a mathematical object contains a labeled declaration, as the spatial, semantic, and syntactic properties are assumed to be independent features that complement one another. Labeled declarations make up the last component of the DIME Map system's core features and are used to build a DIME map, providing interactive features to users.

5.2.3. User Interactions in DIME Maps and Interactivity Types

The DIME Map system's core features represent information that is automatically recovered from the textbook, which is used to build a DIME map ready for use by students. Additional interaction features are used to allow the map to become dynamic and adapt to each individual user's learning and interaction behaviors. User interaction features represent how students can interact with the DIME map and PDF textbook through *clicking* (to focus), *clicking* (to navigate), *modifying and view controls*, *searching and double-clicking*. Finally, when DIME maps are presented to students, there are options to view different "levels" or complexities of maps (see Figure 5.3, Figure 5.4). The base level map shows only the simplest terms (e.g., "mass," "distance," and "time") as well as the concepts that build from those foundational terms (e.g., "velocity"). The second level map shows concepts that build directly from the composite concepts in the first level (e.g., "acceleration" or "kinetic energy").

An example of a portion of a DIME map can be seen in Figure 5.1. The yellow circle, $L = I \omega$, represents the mathematical objects the user has interacted with by left clicking on the circle labeled "Angular Momentum." To reduce cognitive load, the DIME map focuses on the mathematical objects that directly build into or out of the focused yellow circle by marking them with blue circles. Because the map is essentially answering the questions, "What concepts build into this concept?" and "What concepts are built upon this concept?," *clicking* represents the student interacting with the system under the *dialoguing* type of interactivity (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). Clicking on a node also navigates the adjacent PDF textbook to the location where that concept was first introduced; this additionally corresponds with the *navigating* type of interactivity. Finally, the clicking feature and the ability of users to choose what level of map they want to view corresponds with the *controlling* type of interactivity, where learners can control the pace or order of learning.

Figure 5.3

An Example of a Level 1 DIME Map Produced from a Textbook Chapter



Figure 5.4





The second interaction feature of DIME maps, *modifying*, refers to how users can manually modify their DIME map through dragging, deleting, adding, or hiding mathematical objects, thereby creating their own unique interpretation of the material. Users can use the *view controls* to zoom in or out on the map to display more or less detail or focus on specific content. These modifying features and view controls in DIME maps correspond with the *manipulating* type of interactivity (Moreno & Mayer, 2007).

The *searching* type of interactivity can be found in the third and fourth interaction features. Users can type plain text or variable names in the search bar (e.g., "angular momentum" or "theta"). Any node that contains a reference to those words or

phrases will highlight on the map. This form of searching will look within the DIME map, but users can explore concepts outside of the DIME map as well. To do this, the user can *double-click* on a concept. Doing so will open a new browser window and search for that concept on Google. In this way, the map allows students to pursue additional content information not contained in the textbook or map itself.

With these capabilities, the DIME map serves as a powerful interactive tool for student learning. DIME maps provide a dynamic graphical representation of interrelated mathematical objects that allow the user to navigate the textbook and interact with the structure of knowledge in ways they never have before.

5.2.4. Improving Cognitive and Affective Outcomes Using DIME Maps

Because DIME maps are visually similar to concept maps and are highly interactive, they have the potential to improve cognitive and affective outcomes for students. Concept maps and DIME maps look similar and at a basic level present graphical representations of the connections between concepts. Both are built on a foundation of assimilation theory where they aim to help students make meaningful connections between prior knowledge and concepts currently being learned. Concept maps have proven to be effective at improving both cognitive and affective outcomes (Schroeder et al., 2018), and so we have reason to hypothesize that DIME maps may as well. Additionally, unlike traditional concept maps, DIME maps are highly interactive, containing all five types of interactivity described in CATLM (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). DIME maps have the potential to present complex conceptual information in a visually appealing way using features that can motivate learners to engage in meaningful assimilation of new knowledge (Mayer, 2014), thereby improving cognitive outcomes. Using interactive concept maps have also been associated with higher cognitive and affective gains compared to traditional methods of teaching and learning (Schroeder et al., 2018). Thus, we propose that the interactive nature of DIME maps (according to CATLM) and the graphic organization and representation of knowledge presented in DIME maps (according to assimilation theory) may contribute to improving students' cognitive and affective outcomes.

5.3. Method

To answer the research question, we conducted a meta-analysis on existing data regarding DIME maps and students' outcomes in terms of affective and cognitive measures. Just to ensure that we had all of the potentially applicable data regarding DIME maps, on September 8, 2021, we searched Web of Science, ERIC, Academic Search Ultimate, and APA PsychInfo for the phrases "DIME map*" or "mathematical expression* map." As expected with such a new technology, only a few (n = 5) results were returned. Eliminating duplicates brought the number down to three (i.e., Beyette et al., 2019; Rugh et al., 2019; Rugh et al., 2020). All three results were written by our team and discussed early implementations of DIME maps, but only one of the three explicitly provided quantitative data. Therefore, we retrieved the original data sets (n = 3) from three investigations into the effects of using DIME maps. As far as we know, at

the time of this report no other data had been collected regarding the usage of DIME maps and the outcome variables of interest.

Two graduate students and two faculty members independently reviewed the data from these three reports to determine whether they could be included in a meta-analysis. They ensured there was adequate data to identify group means and standard deviations, effect sizes, and standard error of those effect sizes. The data were confirmed with their original sources. Results of interest were data relating to students' self-efficacy (affective) growth and knowledge (cognitive) growth. All three reports had data pertaining to these two outcome constructs. Other variables sought included participant demographic data, funding sources, and participants' prior knowledge in mathematics and science.

5.3.1. Outcomes of Interest

Students' cognitive outcomes were measured by a variety of instruments among the studies, including common quiz or test questions, asking the students to define concepts, and testing for recognition and recall of conceptual and procedural knowledge in physics. Within the affective domain, we decided to focus on self-efficacy in physics, as it was the most prevalent affective component tested for in all three studies and identified in the literature (Adiyiah et al., 2020; Chularut & DeBacker, 2004; Roshanger et al., 2020). The cognitive and affective growth were examined separately in two metaanalyses of the data.

5.3.2. Measurement Devices

The authors of the 2018 study created their own survey to measure affective and cognitive outcomes (see Appendix A, B, D, E, F and G). One affective question (2018a4) related to the students' enjoyment of physics rather than their perceived ability and was therefore removed prior to analysis. The items in the 2019 study designed to measure self-efficacy were adapted from Klobas et al. (2007) (see Appendix D). Two items (2019a3 and 2019a5) were used as anchors to improve the discriminating power of the following questions (see Klobas et al., 2007; Wood & Locke, 1987); those two items were not intended to be included in any analysis and were subsequently removed. The affective items in the 2020 study (see Appendix F) were adapted from Mahoney's (2010) survey, which originally was developed as an instrument for measuring students' attitudes toward STEM in high school STEM-based programs. Overall reliabilities for each construct within each study were acceptable considering the relatively well-defined construct of self-efficacy and the broad and complex nature of knowledge and understanding in physics (see Table 5.1).

Table 5.1

	Cronbach's Alpha	
	Affective Questions	Cognitive Questions
2018	0.8348	0.4286
2019	0.8818	0.7371
2020	0.9176	0.5101

Reliabilities of Posttest Surveys: One Cognitive and One Affective Set from Each Year
5.3.3. Participants

The final sample analyzed consisted of 75 students for affective outcomes and 72 students for cognitive outcomes. Their demographic information and breakdown by study can be found in Tables 5.2 and 5.3. The number of students in the final sample was less than the original number of students in the three studies (N = 94). There were originally 31 students in the 2018 study, 34 students in the 2019 study, and 29 students in the 2020 study. Those students were randomly assigned to either the treatment or the control groups. In 2019, however, three students were unable to get DIME maps working adequately on their devices, had four or fewer total user interactions with the DIME map system when the average number of interactions with the system by the students was 106, and were subsequently removed from this analysis. Two additional students were removed from the analysis because they left the posttest blank. Finally, one student's posttest was unreadable and could not be graded and was removed from the analysis as well.

The 2020 study also posed issues. Following the outbreak of COVID-19, the summer camp in which the 2020 study data was collected was held virtually via Zoom. The students were sent pretests before the first day of class and posttests after the last day of class. Only 16 students filled out the affective pretest and posttest, and only 13 students filled out the cognitive pretest and posttest—equivalent to response rates of 55% and 45%, respectively. For comparison, the 2018 and 2019 studies both had a 100% response rate. In the 2020 study data, one student in the control group had their affective

scores removed from the analysis to avoid the ceiling effect because they answered every question at the maximum value on the pretest. One student in the treatment group had their affective scores removed because they gave opposite conflicting answers on a recoded item, answering that they strongly disagreed with statements 1, 2, and 3 in the 2020 Affective Survey (see Appendix F). Because of the smaller sample size of (and higher variation within) the 2020 setting, a lower weight was given to that study in the analysis.

Table 5.2

Group	п	Female	Male	Asian	Black or African American	Hispanic or Latino	White (non- Hispanic)	Other
2018 Total	31	10	21	0	0	9	22	0
Treatment	16	5	11	0	0	5	9	0
Control	15	5	10	0	0	4	11	0
2019 Total Treatment Control 2020 Total*	28 13 15 16 / 13	2 0 2 7 / 5	26 13 13 9 / 8	2 2 0 4 / 2	2 0 2 2/1	5 3 2 4 / 6	17 8 9 6 / 4	2 2 0 0 / 0
Treatment*	8 / 6	1 / 1	7 / 5	3 / 1	0 / 0	3 / 4	2 / 1	0 / 0
Control*	8 / 7	6 / 4	2/3	1 / 1	2 / 1	1 / 2	4 / 3	0 / 0
Total* Treatment* Control*	75 / 72 37 / 35 38 / 37	19 / 17 6 / 6 13 / 11	56 / 55 31 / 29 25 / 26	6 / 4 5 / 3 1 / 1	4 / 3 0 / 0 4 / 3	18 / 24 11 / 12 7 /8	45 / 43 19 / 18 24 / 23	2 2 0

Final Sample Sizes and Participant Demographics

* Note: When two numbers are represented in a cell, the first represents the number of students analyzed for affective growth and the second represents the number of students analyzed for cognitive growth.

Table 5.3

Group	п	7	8	9	10	11	12
2018 Total	31	0	0	10	7	11	3
2019 Total	28	1	1	3	12	4	7
2020 Total*	16 / 13	4 / 2	2 / 2	1 / 0	0 / 1	4 / 4	2/3
Total*	75 / 72	5/3	3 / 3	14 / 13	19 / 20	19 / 19	12 / 13

Grade Levels of Students in Each Study

* Note: When two numbers are represented in a cell, the first represents the number of students analyzed for affective growth and the second represents the number of students analyzed for cognitive growth.

5.3.4. Missing Data

Across the three data sets, there were five values missing out of a total of 782. There were no values missing from the 279 total of the 2018 data set, and two values were missing from the 392 total of the 2019 data set. In the 2018 and 2019 studies, the authors gave their students surveys during class time. In the 2020 study, COVID-19 related issues led to the classes being shorter and required the surveys to be taken before the first day of class and after the last day of class. Three values were missing from the 178 total of the 2020 data set. There was no significant correlation between the values missing and the treatment or outcome variables, indicating that the values were missing at random. The five missing data points were imputed using simple linear regressions to predict their values based on the remaining variables in the construct (see Buck, 1960; Jamshidian & Mata, 2007). This method should not have much impact on the outcome because the values were missing at random (Jamshidian & Mata, 2007).

5.3.5. Effect Size

We chose the bias corrected effect size measure Hedges' g to examine the difference in growth between students who used DIME maps and students who did not use DIME maps. Hedges' g with the bias correction factor is ideal in this situation with a low number of studies as it leads to results with a lower chance to overestimate a positive effect size than Cohen's d or Glass' Δ (Hedges, 1981). Because we had access to the raw scores, we were able to calculate the mean change-from-baseline as well as the standard deviation of that change. Conducting a meta-analysis on the change-from-baseline rather than post-intervention scores removes some amount of between-person variability from the analysis (Higgins et al., 2021). Therefore, the effect sizes reported represent the size of the effect associated with the treatment (using the DIME maps), the difference in change-from-baseline of the treatment group and change-from-baseline of the control group.

5.3.6. Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman Random Effects Model

Meta-analyses with few studies are common but require special care. Over a review of 22,453 meta-analyses, Davey et al. (2011) found the median number of included studies to be three, with nearly 75% of the studies containing five or fewer studies. In some cases, researchers may have produced three studies on the same intervention, as in our own research, and sought to discuss overall findings. Traditional

methods of random effects meta-analysis, when applied to a small number of studies with some heterogeneity, can be suboptimal and lead to high levels of error and poor generalizability (Günhan et al., 2020; Hartung & Makambi, 2003; IntHout et al., 2014). Alternative methods are needed to enable researchers to think and research metaanalytically in such situations (Günhan et al., 2020; Hartung, 1999). We explored these alternative methods and methodological options.

For this study, we chose to employ the Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman (HKSJ) method. This method, often referred to as the Hartung-Knapp or equivalently the Sidik-Jonkman method, is designed to lead to lower false positive rates than traditional random effects (RE) methods under less than favorable conditions, such as in the case of very few available studies (Hartung, 1999; Hartung & Makambi, 2003; IntHout et al., 2014; Röver et al., 2015). The HKSJ method was a good way to reduce the risk of committing a Type I error.

The statistical package we used was Stata 16.1. This software allowed us to choose to calculate Hedges' *g* using the "exact computation for the bias-correction factor." It also enabled us to easily run a random-effects meta-analysis model using the HKSJ method, denoted the Sidik-Jonkman method in the options for Stata.

5.3.7. Study Characteristics

There were no published data sets that provided the data for this study. The 2018 and 2019 studies took place in a STEM summer camp held on a university campus. The

2019 study treatment group consisted of only male students. The 2020 study took place in an online STEM summer camp due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

5.4. Results

Two separate meta-analyses were run, one on the cognitive outcomes and another on the affective outcomes. Both outcomes are reported along with their accompanying forest plots. Conclusions and connections to prior literature are presented.

5.4.1. Cognitive Outcomes

The results showed that students using DIME maps gained significantly more on cognitive measures than students who did not use DIME maps (Hedges' g = 0.77, 95%CI = [0.15,1.39], p < .05). From this, we claim that use of DIME maps improved students' cognitive gains. See Figure 5.5 for a forest plot of the effect sizes from each study and the resulting overall estimate from the RE meta-analysis. In their meta-analysis of 24 studies involving interactive concept maps, Schroeder et al. (2018) found a similar overall effect size (Hedges' g = 0.60, 95%CI = [0.33,0.87]). This indicates that DIME maps performed similarly to interactive concept maps previously created. However, DIME maps have the advantage of being automatically generated by the DIME Map system, requiring less time and effort to create than a typical interactive concept map.

Figure 5.5

Effect Size Weight Study with 95% CI (%) 1.27 [0.51, 2.02] 36.87 2018 Study 0.63 [-0.11, 1.37] 37.71 2019 Study 2020 Study 0.26 [-0.76, 1.28] 25.43 0.77 [0.15, 1.39] Overall Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.12$, $I^2 = 40.82\%$, $H^2 = 1.69$ Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(2) = 2.76, p = 0.25 Test of θ = 0: z = 2.43, p = 0.01 -1 Ó 2 1

Forest Plot of the Cognitive Effect Sizes

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

5.4.2. Affective Outcomes

The results showed that students using DIME maps performed similarly on the affective measures as students who did not use DIME maps (Hedges' g = 0.32, 95%CI = [-0.49,1.13], p > .05; see Figure 5.6). When compared to the meta-analysis performed by Schroeder et al. (2018), this finding seems consistent, as the confidence intervals overlap. Although the overall effect size was small and positive, the results indicate that we cannot claim that students using DIME maps performed better than students who did not use the DIME maps on affective measures. These results are concerning but understandable, because concept maps have been shown to improve self-efficacy among experimental groups similarly to comparison groups that receive other effective treatment strategies (Chularut & DeBacker, 2004; Roshanger et al., 2020). We

recommend that further studies investigate the affective effects of using DIME maps and with what conditions or populations using DIME maps might be most beneficial.

The lack of a significant effect on the affective measures could be explained through CATLM. Some students in each of the three studies expressed that they found the DIME maps initially complicated, representing too much complex and unfamiliar information at once. This finding aligns with the CATLM idea that such material can require an overwhelming amount of extraneous processing (Mayer, 2014; Moreno & Mayer, 2007). This educational theory concludes that in these instances, it is the goal of instructional design, and in this case the DIME maps, to assist in keeping essential processing at a manageable level. Further development of the levels of maps and what to initially present to a learner, possibly after testing their prior knowledge with a quick survey, could alleviate students' initial confusion.

Another reason that the self-efficacy gains were not greater might be because students encountered higher level physics concepts that they only could navigate with the DIME map; when asked about their ability to approach such concepts, they may have answered assuming they would not have access to the map. Unlike the self-efficacy questions in the 2018 and 2019 studies (Appendix A and Appendix D, respectively), the self-efficacy questions in the 2020 study asked students to imagine having "the right tools" when considering their self-efficacy in physics (see Appendix F). This change of wording and reflection may have led to the students feeling more enabled with DIME maps in terms of approaching learning complex physics concepts.

Figure 5.6

Effect Size Weight Study with 95% CI (%) 2018 Study 36.55 0.16 [-0.52, 0.85] 2019 Study -0.22 [-0.95, 0.50] 35.55 2020 Study 1.22 [0.20, 2.23] 27.89 0.32 [-0.49, 1.13] Overall Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.35$, $I^2 = 68.10\%$, $H^2 = 3.13$ Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(2) = 5.15, p = 0.08 Test of θ = 0: z = 0.77, p = 0.44 -1 0 1 2

Forest Plot of the Affective Effect Sizes

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

5.5. Discussion

The outcomes experienced by our students using DIME maps aligned with prior research on CATLM and concept maps. Although the present study is consistent with the underlying theories and prior research, we do not attempt to pinpoint the exact mechanisms and features that led to those results. Rather, we examined DIME maps as an interactive educational technology designed to elicit meaningful learning through assimilation of new knowledge into prior knowledge structures. Further evidence is needed to examine the effects of altering individual design principles within DIME maps on learning outcomes. For example, changes to the way the system first presents DIME maps to users may prove to lessen the excess cognitive load and improve the attitude and engagement of confused students. Still, the findings are promising in that using DIME maps had a positive impact on students' cognitive outcomes, even when compared to other students engaged in project-based and collaborative learning. This potentially demonstrates the added benefit that DIME maps can have, such as the fact that teachers can use the online system to automatically produce DIME maps for any PDF textbook chapter. Additionally, students may find benefits using DIME maps to help understand the interrelationships between concepts. Through ongoing upgrades to the system, we are investigating ways to present different maps to different students based on their prior knowledge. Automatically generated, interactive, and soon to provide differentiated learning for individual students, DIME maps represent an evolution of concept maps.

There were several limitations to this study, including the impact of COVID-19, small sample sizes, a small number of included studies, and potential conflict of interest. COVID-19 had a disruptive effect on the data collection for the 2020 summer camp (which was held through Zoom), as the amount of time students spent in class was reduced. To compensate and allow for full instruction and engagement time, we sent the pretest before the first day and the posttest after the last day of class. The response rate for the 2020 study suffered greatly—approximately 45% compared to the previous response rates of 100% for both the 2018 and 2019 studies. Another limitation is that because of the small overall sample size (n = 75 responses for affective outcomes, n = 72 responses for cognitive outcomes) and the small number of included studies (n = 3), we chose to use the HKSJ method in our RE meta-analysis, which helped to avoid overestimating the effect. Finally, it is nearly impossible to minimize bias in this study because we are the sole developers and testers of DIME maps. To address this, we

attempted to make this work transparent and replicable with all methodological decisions made a priori or before the analysis of data. It is also important to note that due to the small and relatively homogeneous overall sample, it was impossible to conduct any moderator analyses or examine the effects of using DIME maps under various conditions or with specific populations. We recommend that the next step is to explore improvements and variations on the DIME Map system according to feedback received over the past three years and to design studies to investigate whether the same effects hold for varied populations and implementations.

5.6. References

- Adesope, O. O., & Nesbit, J. C. (2010). A systematic review of research on collaborative learning with concept maps. In P. Lupion Torres, & R. de Cássia Veiga Marriott (Eds.), *Handbook of research on collaborative learning using concept mapping* (pp. 238–255). IGI Global. <u>http://doi:10.4018/978-1-59904-992-2.ch012</u>
- Adiyiah, M., Mutangana, D., & Ameyaw, Y. (2020). Concept mapping impact on selfefficacy for enhancing students' motivation and performance in biology. *African Journal of Educational Studies in Mathematics and Sciences*, *16*(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.4314/ajesms.v16i1.6
- Akpinar, E., & Ergin, O. (2008). Fostering primary school students' understanding of cells and other related concepts with interactive computer animation instruction accompanied by teacher and student-prepared concept maps. *Asia-Pacific Forum* on Science Learning and Teaching, 9, 1–13

- Andersen, K. N. (2020). Assessing task-orientation potential in primary science textbooks: Toward a new approach. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 57(4), 481–509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21599</u>
- Anderson, R. H. (1968). *Syntax-directed recognition of hand-printed two-dimensional mathematics* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Harvard University.

Apache PDFBox (Version 2.0.17) [Computer software]. (2019).

https://pdfbox.apache.org/download.cgi

- Atas, S. (2019). Effect of formative feedback via interactive concept maps on informal inferential reasoning and conceptual understanding of ANOVA [Doctoral dissertation, Université d'Ottawa/University of Ottawa]. University of Ottowa Research Repository. <u>http://doi.org/10.20381/ruor-23185</u>
- Ausubel, D. P. (1968). *Educational psychology: A cognitive view*. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Beyette, D., Rugh, M. S., Lin, J., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Liu, J. C., & Capraro, R. M.
 (2019). DIME: A dynamic interactive mathematical expression tool for STEM education. 2019 American Society of Engineering Education Annual Conference & Exposition, 2019, (1–14). <u>https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--32664</u>
- Bluche, T. (2010). *Mathematical formula recognition using machine learning techniques* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Oxford.

- Buck, S. F. (1960). A method of estimation of missing values in multivariate data suitable for use with an electronic computer. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 22(2), 302–306.
- Bransford, J., Brown, A., & Cocking, R. (1999). *How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school.* National Academies Press.
- Brownson, R. C., Brennan, L. K., Evenson, K. R., & Leviton, L. C. (2012). Lessons from a mixed-methods approach to evaluating active living by design. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(5), S271–S280.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.07.002

- Byers, V., & Erlwanger, S. (1985). Memory in mathematical understanding. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 16(3), 259–281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00776733</u>
- Cai, J., & Wang, T. (2010). Conceptions of effective mathematics teaching within a cultural context: Perspectives of teachers from China and the United States. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 13(3), 265–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-009-9132-1
- Chularut, P., & DeBacker, T. K. (2004). The influence of concept mapping on achievement, self-regulation, and self-efficacy in students of English as a second language. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 29(3), 248–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2003.09.001</u>
- Davey, J., Turner, R. M., Clarke, M. J., & Higgins, J. P. (2011). Characteristics of metaanalyses and their component studies in the Cochrane Database of Systematic

Reviews: A cross-sectional, descriptive analysis. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *11*(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-160</u>

- Günhan, B. K., Röver, C., & Friede, T. (2020). Random-effects meta-analysis of few studies involving rare events. *Research Synthesis Methods*, 11(1), 74–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jrsm.1370</u>
- Hamzi, A., Echantoufi, N., Khouna, J., & Ajana, L. (2021). Effects of using digital tools on the process of memorization. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 16(4), 278–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v16i04.18285</u>
- Hartmeyer, R., Stevenson, M. P., & Bentsen, P. (2018). A systematic review of concept mapping-based formative assessment processes in primary and secondary science education. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 25*(6), 598–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2017.1377685
- Hartung, J. (1999). An alternative method for meta-analysis. *Biometrical Journal:* Journal of Mathematical Methods in Biosciences, 41(8), 901–916.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4036(199912)41:8%3C901::AID-BIMJ901%3E3.0.CO;2-W</u>
- Hartung, J., & Makambi, K. H. (2003). Reducing the number of unjustified significant results in meta-analysis. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and Computation*, 32(4), 1179–1190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1081/SAC-120023884</u>

- Hedges, L. V. (1981). Distribution theory for Glass's estimator of effect size and related estimators. *Journal of Educational Statistics*, 6(2), 107–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102%2F10769986006002107</u>
- Hiebert, J., & Carpenter, T. P. (1992). Learning and teaching with understanding. In D.
 A. Grouws (Ed.), *Handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning: A project of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics* (pp. 65–97). The
 National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Hiebert, J., & Lefevre, P. (1986). Conceptual and procedural knowledge in mathematics:
 An introductory analysis. In J. Hiebert (Ed.), *Conceptual and procedural knowledge: The case of mathematics* (pp. 1–27). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., & Welch,
 V. A. (Eds.). (2021). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions
 (Version 6.2). Cochrane. <u>https://training.cochrane.org/handbook</u>
- Hill, L. H. (2005). Concept mapping to encourage meaningful student learning. Adult Learning, 16(3–4), 7–13.
- Horton, P. B., McConney, A. A., Gallo, M., Woods, A. L., Senn, G. J., & Hamelin, D. (1993). An investigation of the effectiveness of concept mapping as an instructional tool. *Science Education*, 77(1), 95–111.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730770107

IntHout, J., Ioannidis, J. P., & Borm, G. F. (2014). The Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman method for random effects meta-analysis is straightforward and considerably outperforms the standard DerSimonian-Laird method. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 14(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-25</u>

Jamshidian, M., & Mata, M. (2007). Advances in analysis of mean and covariance structure when data are incomplete. In S.-Y. Lee (Ed.), *Handbook of latent variable and related models* (pp. 21–44). North-Holland. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044452044-9/50005-7</u>

- Kalyuga, S. (2006). *Instructing and testing advanced learners: A cognitive load approach*. Nova Science Publishers.
- Klobas, J. E., Renzi, S., & Nigrelli, M. L. (2007). A scale for the measurement of selfefficacy for learning (SEL) at university [Working paper]. Dondena Centre for Research on Social Dynamics.

http://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/id/eprint/23551

- Lin, J., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Beyette, D., & Liu, J.-C. (2019). Prediction of mathematical expression declarations based on spatial, semantic, and syntactic analysis. *Proceedings of the 19th ACM Symposium on Document Engineering* (DocEng'19), 2018(19), 1–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3342558.3345399</u>
- Lopez, E. J., Nandagopal, K., Shavelson, R. J., Szu, E., & Penn, J. (2013). Self-regulated learning study strategies and academic performance in undergraduate organic

chemistry: An investigation examining ethnically diverse students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *50*, 660–676.

- Mahoney, M. P. (2010). Students' attitudes toward STEM: Development of an instrument for high school STEM-based programs. *Journal of Technology Studies*, 36(1), 24–34.
- Mayer, R. E. (Ed.). (2005). *The Cambridge handbook of multimedia learning*. Cambridge University Press.
- Mayer, R. E. (2014). Incorporating motivation into multimedia learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 29, 171–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.04.003</u>
- Mihai, N. S., Aurora, S. B., Maria, M. C., & Florin, B. A. (2017). Meta-analysis on the study with concept maps on the medical field. *Transylvanian Journal of Psychology*, 18(2), 133–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.24193/epsz.2017.2.4</u>
- Moreno, R., & Mayer, R. (2007). Interactive multimodal learning environments. Educational Psychology Review, 19(3), 309–326.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-007-9047-2

- Nesbit, J. C., & Adesope, O. O. (2006). Learning with concept and knowledge maps: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(3), 413–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076003413</u>
- Nicoara, S. M., Szamoskozi, S. E., Mitrea, D. A., & Leucuta, D. C. (2020). Concept mapping, an effective tool for long-term memorization of anatomy—A quasiexperimental research carried out among 1st year general medicine students.

European Journal of Investigation in Health, Psychology and Education, 10(1), 530–543. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ejihpe10010038</u>

- Novak, J. D. (1990). Concept maps and Vee diagrams: Two metacognitive tools to facilitate meaningful learning. *Instructional Science*, *19*(1), 29–52. https://doi.10.1007/BF00377984
- Novak, J. D. (1998). Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations. Erlbaum.
- Park, B., Plass, J. L., & Brünken, R. (2014). Cognitive and affective processes in multimedia learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 29, 125–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.05.005</u>
- Phillips, J., Buckwalter, W., Cushman, F., Friedman, O., Martin, A., Turri, J., Santos, L.,
 & Knobe, J. (2020). Knowledge before belief. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–
 37. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X20000618
- Rohrer, D., Dedrick, R. F., & Hartwig, M. K. (2020). The scarcity of interleaved practice in mathematics textbooks. *Educational Psychology Review*, 32(3), 873–883. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09516-2</u>
- Roshangar, F., Azar, E. F., Sarbakhsh, P., & Azarmi, R. (2020). The effect of case-based learning with or without conceptual mapping method on critical thinking and academic self-efficacy of nursing students. *Journal of Biochemical Technology*, *11*(1), 37–44.

- Röver, C., Knapp, G., & Friede, T. (2015). Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman approach and its modification for random-effects meta-analysis with few studies. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *15*(1), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-015-0091-1</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2020). Using computergenerated concept maps in the engineering design process to improve physics learning. 2020 ASEE Virtual Annual Conference Content Access, 2020, 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--35457</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). Using DIME maps and STEM project-based learning to teach physics. *Interactive Technology* and Smart Education. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-07-2020-0109</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Wang, X., Lin, J., Barroso, L., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2019, April 3–6). *Computer generated dynamic graphic organizer's effect on learning outcomes* [Paper presentation]. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Research Conference, San Diego, CA, United States.
- Saxe, A. M., McClellans, J. L., & Ganguli, S. (2013). Learning hierarchical categories in deep neural networks. *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society*, 35, 1271–1276.

- Schroeder, N. L., Nesbit, J. C., Anguiano, C. J., & Adesope, O. O. (2018). Studying and constructing concept maps: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30, 431–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9403-9</u>
- Srivastava, S., Lamba, S., & Prabhakar, T. V. (2020). Improving learning by imitation in online courses using memorization, learning by doing and lecture architecture for naive programmers. In M. Chang, D. G. Sampson, R. Huang, N.-S. C., Kinshuk, & M. Pedaste (Eds.), *IEEE 20th international conference on advanced learning technologies* (pp. 198–200). IEEE.
- Stelzer, T., Gladding, G., Mestre, J. P., & Brookes, D. T. (2009). Comparing the efficacy of multimedia modules with traditional textbooks for learning introductory physics content. *American Journal of Physics*, 77(2), 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1119/1.3028204
- Stull, A. T., & Mayer, R. E. (2007). Learning by doing versus learning by viewing: Three experimental comparisons of learner-generated versus author-provided graphic organizers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(4), 808–820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.4.808</u>
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. *Cognitive Science*, *12*, 257–285.
- Tian, Z., Zhang, K., Zhang, T., Dai, X., & Lin, J. (2020). Application of Ausubel cognitive assimilation theory in teaching/learning medical biochemistry and

molecular biology. *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education*, 48(3), 202–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bmb.21327</u>

Vaughn, L. M., Jones, J. R., Booth, E., & Burke, J. G. (2017). Concept mapping methodology and community-engaged research: A perfect pairing. *Evaluation* and Program Planning, 60, 229–237.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.08.013

Wan, D., & Lee, Y. J. (2021). Coherence of topics from middle-school integrated science textbooks from Taiwan and Korea. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-021-10187-w</u>

Wang, Z., Beyette, D., Lin, J., & Liu, J.-C. (2019). Extraction of math expressions from PDF documents based on unsupervised modeling of fonts. *The 15th IAPR International Conference on Document Analysis and Recognition (ICDAR)*, 2019, 759–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ICDAR.2017.129</u>

- Wood, R. E., & Locke, E. A. (1987). The relation of self-efficacy and grade goals to academic performance. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 47(4), 1013–1024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164487474017</u>
- Yue, M., Zhang, M., Zhang, C., & Jin, C. (2017). The effectiveness of concept mapping on development of critical thinking in nursing education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, 52, 87–94.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.02.018

6. CONCLUSIONS

6.1. Intellectual Merit

Because dynamic and interactive mathematical expressions (DIME) maps are essentially interactive and automatically generated concept maps, we hypothesized that DIME maps would have similar effects on students' learning outcomes. Students used DIME maps to navigate their portable document format (PDF) textbooks and engage in self-guided research; this was especially true for the research phase, the ideate phase, the analyze ideas phase, and the communicate and reflect phase of the engineering design process (Chapter 2; see also Morgan et al., 2013). Students expressed that DIME maps enabled them to see how all the concepts that they were learning were interconnected. This finding was consistent with research on concept maps, in which understanding the interconnections between concepts has been found to be essential for meaningful learning (Cliburn, 1990; Novak, 1998; Novak & Musonda, 1991). Concept mapping and even the use of interactive concept maps have been shown to improve students' cognitive outcomes (Schroeder et al., 2018). We have provided evidence that using DIME maps has led to positive effects on students' cognitive outcomes (Chapters 3 and 5). However, while an initial potential relationship was explored between using DIME maps and self-efficacy, we were unable to establish a generalizable statistically significant effect (Chapters 3, 4, and 5). We suggest that this may be due to the initial visual complexity of DIME maps, as commented by several students (Chapters 3 and 4).

Still, we established that students who interacted more with DIME maps gained more in self-efficacy (Chapter 4). It is important that future works explore the potential situations and populations for which using DIME maps might have the greatest effect for self-efficacy.

After exploring an initial example and discussion about using DIME maps in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) project-based learning (PBL; see Chapter 2), we rigorously explored the relationship between using DIME maps and two particular learning outcomes (Chapter 3). Through a randomized experimental study and MANOVA, we found a multivariate relationship existed that implied that DIME maps had a positive effect on a students' self-efficacy in physics and understanding of connections between content knowledge. All of these outcomes aligned with prior literature; DIME maps are similar to concept maps, and concept maps have been shown to have a positive impact on both cognitive and affective outcomes (Schroeder et al., 2018). On examining the effect size on the individual learning measures, we concluded that using DIME maps was associated with a positive effect on cognitive outcomes, using DIME maps had no statistically significant effect on affective outcomes, and that there was no statistically significant interaction between gender and use of DIME maps for the outcomes of interest. Qualitative findings indicated students valued DIME maps as a tool to improve meaningful learning through interactive elements and visual representations of the relationships between concepts. Some students claimed that DIME maps were initially complex.

We sought to determine whether students persisted through initial complexity and whether overall user interactions with DIME maps was positively correlated with self-efficacy gains (Chapter 4). We found that user interactions were significantly correlated with several of the questions on the survey. We presented our findings as a first step in an analysis of user interactions as called for with dynamic and interactive learning tools (Jenkinson, 2009). Analysis of user interactions has been shown to be a valuable indicator of participation and engagement with interactive textbooks (Liberatore et al., 2020). Because of the correlation between user interactions and gains, we also recommended requiring or at least monitoring students' user interactions with new educational technologies.

In the fifth chapter of this dissertation, we meta-analytically compared the data from all three years of the implementation of DIME maps and preliminarily concluded that students who used DIME maps gained significantly more on cognitive measures than students who did not. This finding further confirms what was found in Chapter 3 and in meta-analyses of concept mapping studies, where using similar tools was associated with similar cognitive gains compared to traditional teaching and learning methods (Schroeder et al., 2018). Students who used DIME maps experienced gains in self-efficacy in physics similar to the gains experienced by the comparison groups who were all taught with PBL. Previous studies have found significantly greater gains in selfefficacy for students using concept than students using traditional strategies such as lectures or textbook reading (Adiyiah et al., 2020; Schroeder et al., 2018), however no difference has been detected between using concept maps and receiving other effective educational teaching strategies (Chularut & DeBacker, 2004; Roshanger et al., 2020). In our studies, the students in the control groups were still learning via PBL. This could explain why students in the control groups had similar gains in self efficacy, because PBL has been shown to have a positive influence on self-efficacy (Shin, 2018). Still the large confidence interval and generally positive results indicate room for further investigation into the effect of DIME maps on self-efficacy.

The positive impact of DIME maps on cognitive outcomes has important implications for the underlying theories of the cognitive-affective theory of learning with media (CATLM) and assimilation theory. In this dissertation, we have confirmed and provided additional insight into the underlying theories of learning. While we observed students occasionally encountering confusion and high extraneous cognitive load upon first viewing DIME maps, this was not unexpected. Researchers have found similar results for concept maps and have warned to be wary of map structure (Amadieu et al., 2010) and of the scale and complexity of the map (Blankenship & Dansereau, 2000). The coherence and redundancy principle of CATLM builds on the assumption that students have limited visual working memory with which to process and store new learning (Moreno & Mayer, 2007). Therefore, it is important for future implementations of DIME maps to be preceded by training or to gently transition students from simple maps to more complex maps.

6.2. Broader Impacts

There is value in this work to society and for specific populations of students and teachers. In this dissertation, I have shown a clear link between DIME maps and concept maps in their visual representation and theoretical underpinnings. The DIME Map system can democratize learning for students who could benefit from learning accommodations. Use of concept maps has been tied to increased benefits for English as a second language (ESL) students when compared to students whose native language is English (Chularut & DeBacker, 2004). One explanation for this could be that acquiring academic vocabulary poses additional barriers for ESL students. Concept maps help ESL students focus on major concepts and the relationships between those concepts instead of the extraneous difficulty of navigating the English language while learning new concepts. I have previously explored how STEM language can be considered another language requiring careful consideration by teachers and students (Kwok et al., 2020; Rugh et al., 2018; Rugh, Chang, et al., 2021). By presenting the mathematical formulas and STEM language vocabulary, DIME maps are similar to bilingual knowledge maps, but with STEM language and the language of mathematical formulas, and using bilingual knowledge maps has been shown to improve vocabulary acquisition for second language learners (Bahr & Dansereau, 2001). Because of the visual representation of concepts and relationships, students can use DIME maps to approach learning content knowledge that was previously inaccessible because of language barriers. Students expressed how DIME maps made the connections between concepts clear and

understandable (Chapter 3). Students also appreciated how they could maneuver the DIME maps to create a representation of knowledge that fit their individual understanding and abilities. Personalizable and dynamic, DIME maps can potentially be an automated and individualized educational technology for differentiated learning. It is my hope that we will soon be able to have DIME maps evaluate and build student-specific maps based on a brief prior knowledge survey.

In Chapter 3, we found some evidence that using DIME maps could have a gapclosing effect on learning outcomes for female students. In the control group, female students were outperformed by male students in terms of gains in both cognitive and affective learning outcomes. The opposite occurred in the experimental group—female students who used the DIME maps outperformed male students who used the DIME maps in terms of gains in both cognitive and affective learning outcomes. However, the 2019 and 2020 studies did not have a sufficient number of female students to investigate this further. Therefore, further research is warranted to investigate whether using DIME maps would have a greater impact on students who are not well-served by traditional instruction and textbook learning.

Teachers can use the DIME Map system to turn many textbooks (that are in PDF format and contain concepts associated with mathematical variables, expressions, and formulas) quickly and effectively into interactive textbooks. This feature makes DIME maps especially important for under-resourced schools, where teacher burnout and fatigue are especially prevalent (Bottiani et al., 2019). New DIME maps can be

automatically generated by teachers and students uploading a PDF textbook chapter into the DIME Map system. After several minutes, a new DIME map is permanently created and can be accessed by multiple students with the click of a button. Each student interacts with their own iteration of the DIME map, making their DIME map personalizable and dynamic based on their interactions. Future developments in the system will explore the automatic generation of concept maps from non-mathematical texts.

In this dissertation, I presented four articles in which my research group and I proposed, developed, and evaluated early versions and implementations of DIME maps. I hope this work can serve as a foundation for future explorations into artificial-intelligence-generated dynamic and interactive concept maps.

6.3. References

Adiyiah, M., Mutangana, D., & Ameyaw, Y. (2020). Concept mapping impact on selfefficacy for enhancing students' motivation and performance in biology. *African Journal of Educational Studies in Mathematics and Sciences*, *16*(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.4314/ajesms.v16i1.6

Amadieu, F., Tricot, A., & Mariné, C. (2010). Interaction between prior knowledge and concept-map structure on hypertext comprehension, coherence of reading orders and disorientation. *Interacting with Computers*, 22(2), 88–97.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intcom.2009.07.001

- Bahr, G. S., & Dansereau, D. F. (2001). Bilingual knowledge maps (BiK-Maps) in second-language vocabulary learning. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 70(1), 5–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220970109599496</u>
- Blankenship, J., & Dansereau, D. F. (2000). The effect of animated node-link displays on information recall. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 68(4), 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220970009600640
- Bottiani, J. H., Duran, C. A., Pas, E. T., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019). Teacher stress and burnout in urban middle schools: Associations with job demands, resources, and effective classroom practices. *Journal of School Psychology*, 77, 36–51.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.10.002

Chularut, P., & DeBacker, T. K. (2004). The influence of concept mapping on achievement, self-regulation, and self-efficacy in students of English as a second language. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 29(3), 248–263.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2003.09.001

- Cliburn., J. W., Jr. (1990). Concept maps to promote meaningful learning. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, *19*(4), 212–217.
- Jenkinson, J. (2009). Measuring the effectiveness of educational technology: What are we attempting to measure? *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 7(3), 273–280. <u>https://www.academic-publishing.org/index.php/ejel/article/view/1576</u>
- Kwok, M., Vela, K. N., Rugh, M. S., Lincoln, Y. S., Capraro, R. M., & Capraro, M. M.(2020). STEM words and their multiple meanings: The intricacies of asking a

clarifying question. Communication Education, 69(2), 176–198.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2020.1723803

- Liberatore, M. W., Chapman, K. E., & Roach, K. M. (2020). Significant reading participation across multiple cohorts before and after the due date when using an interactive textbook. *Computer Applications in Engineering Education*, 28, 444– 453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cae.22210</u>
- Moreno, R., & Mayer, R. (2007). Interactive multimodal learning environments. *Educational Psychology Review*, 19(3), 309–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-007-9047-2</u>
- Morgan, J. R., Moon, A. M., & Barroso, L. R. (2013). Engineering better projects. In R.
 M. Capraro, M. M Capraro, & J. Morgan (Eds.), *STEM project-based learning: An integrated science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) approach*. Sense.
- Novak, J. D. (1998). Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations. Erlbaum.
- Novak, J. D., & Musonda, D. (1991). A twelve-year longitudinal study of science concept learning. *American Educational Research Journal*, 28, 117–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102%2F00028312028001117</u>
- Roshangar, F., Azar, E. F., Sarbakhsh, P., & Azarmi, R. (2020). The effect of case-based learning with or without conceptual mapping method on critical thinking and

academic self-efficacy of nursing students. *Journal of Biochemical Technology*, *11*(1), 37–44.

- Rugh, M. S., Beyette, D. J., Capraro, M. M., & Capraro, R. M. (2021). Using DIME maps and STEM project-based learning to teach physics. *Interactive Technology* and Smart Education. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-07-2020-0109</u>
- Rugh, M. S., Calabrese, J. E., Madson, M. A., Capraro, R. M., Barroso, L. R., Capraro, M. M., & Bicer, A. (2018). STEM language can be the stem of the problem. *Proceedings of the 49th annual Frontiers in Education Conference*, 2018, 1–7.
 https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE.2018.8659231
- Rugh, M. S., Chang, J. L., Capraro, R. M., & Capraro, M. M. (2021). Speaking
 STEMglish. In R. M. Capraro, M. M. Capraro, J. Young, & L. R. Barroso (Eds.), *STEM project-based learning: Integrated engineering for a new era* (pp. 253–270). Aggie STEM.
- Schroeder, N. L., Nesbit, J. C., Anguiano, C. J., & Adesope, O. O. (2018). Studying and constructing concept maps: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30, 431–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9403-9</u>
- Shin, M. H. (2018). Effects of project-based learning on students' motivation and selfefficacy. *English Teaching*, 73(1), 95–114. https://doi.org/10.15858/engtea.73.1.201803.95

APPENDIX A

2018 AFFECTIVE SURVEY

Please	circle one number for each statemer	nt that corr	esponds with	how you feel	about that st	atement.
		disagree	disagree	nor disagree	agree	agree
1.	I feel that complex physics concepts are approachable.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	I am comfortable exploring new topics in physics.	1	2	3	4	5
3.	I understand ways in which physics concepts are related to each other.	1	2	3	4	5
4.	I am able to learn difficult physics concepts.	1	2	3	4	5

APPENDIX B

2018 COGNITIVE SURVEY

- 1) Moment of inertia is used to calculate:
 - a. Angular velocity
 - b. Angular momentum
 - c. Rotational kinematic energy
 - d. Angular displacement
- 2) Energy in a fixed axis rotation system relies on:
 - a. Moment of inertia
 - b. Angular velocity
 - c. Angular displacement
 - d. Time
- 3) A 10kg point mass travels around a circle of radius 5m at an angular velocity of 3 radians per second. What is its angular momentum?
- 4) Increasing radius and keeping mass constant causes the moment of inertia to:
 - a. Decrease
 - b. Remain the same
 - c. Increase
- If an object's angular velocity stays constant, then its rotational kinetic energy remains constant. True / False

APPENDIX C

2018 INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

- 1. What was your first impression of this map?
- 2. Did the map help you to approach things differently? To learn differently?
- 3. Was there any one feature that you found more helpful?
- 4. Did you see the system improving your understanding of math or science material?
- 5. Did you use the system throughout the week to browse the material?
- 6. How useful was this system compared to traditional textbooks and reading?
- 7. Did you notice the colors on the map? Did they mean anything?
- 8. What kind of additional controls would you add to the graph to help understand the text better?
- 9. Would you use the tool to create your own graph and share it with other students?
- 10. If the graph could learn from the changes, how you use the system, would you like it to build a profile for you, that way the next time you open it the default graph is more meaningful just for you?
- 11. Would you consider competing with other students to see who could make the best graph?
- 12. Would you want to use this tool to learn mathematics or science in your next school year?

APPENDIX D

2019 AFFECTIVE SURVEY

Think about your current activities as a student. Read each of the following statements **carefully**, then circle the number that best represents your response, where:

0 indicates: I am **definitely not able** to do this, 10 indicates: I **can definitely** do this *Circle the ap*

	this. 10 indicates: I can definitely do this	Circle the appropriate number:
1	I am able to visualize ways in which physics concepts are related to each other	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
2	I am able to learn difficult physics concepts	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
3	Soon after science class is over, I am able to remember <i>most</i> of the key concepts	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
4	Soon after science class is over, I am able to remember <i>all</i> of the key concepts	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
5	I can understand <i>most</i> of the key concepts covered in my science classes	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
6	I can understand <i>all</i> of the key concept covered in my science classes	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

* Note that questions 3 and 5 were not included in the meta-analysis but intended to

improve the discriminative power of questions 4 and 6 respectively.

APPENDIX E

2019 COGNITIVE SURVEY

Here is a randomized list of the concepts that we will cover in this class. Please write a brief description of what you think these concepts are. Also write down symbols, units, or formulas that you believe may be related to these concepts:

Centrifugal Force -

- Angular Displacement -
- Angular Momentum -

Angular Velocity –

Rotational Inertia –

Angular Acceleration –

Degrees -

Centripetal Force –

Radians -

Rotational Kinetic Energy -
APPENDIX F

2020 AFFECTIVE SURVEY

There are no right or wrong answers. Please answer each question as naturally and honestly as you can. Answer the following statements by placing the marker wherever on the line between the two end points (strongly disagree and strongly agree) that matches your feelings about the item.

Leave the slider at -1 (all the way left) to indicate that you are unwilling to answer or are unable due to unfamiliarity with physics as a subject. Rate from 0 (Strongly Disagree) to 100 (Strongly Agree)

- 1) With the right tools, I can handle advanced content in physics
- 2) With the right tools, I am good at projects involving physics
- 3) Even with the right tools, physics is difficult for me

APPENDIX G

2020 COGNITIVE SURVEY

Skip any concepts that you are unfamiliar with. Write a brief description of what you think these concepts are.

Centrifugal Force	
Angular Momentum	
Moment of Inertia	
Radius	
Rotational Kinetic Energy	
$I = \sum mr^2$	
$\omega = \frac{\Delta\theta}{\Delta t}$	
$\frac{\Delta L}{\Delta t} = 0$	